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Audit and Governance Committee 
 

 

Agenda 

  

1. Apologies    

  

 To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Committee Members. 

  

2. Declarations of Interest    

  

 Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 

Agenda. 

  

3. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 10) 

  

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 2025. 

  

4. Chair's Urgent Business    

  

 To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 

  

5. Capitalisation Direction Update:   (Verbal Report) 

 

6. Internal Audit Strategy and Charter 2025/26:   (Pages 11 - 34) 

 

7. Internal Audit Plan 2025/26:   (Pages 35 - 50) 

 

8. Treasury Management Practices Principles and Schedules 

2025/26:   

(Pages 51 - 114) 

 

9. Review of efficiency and effectiveness of Constitutional 

Updates:   

(Verbal Report) 

 

10. Civic Protocol:   (Pages 115 - 194) 

 

11. Tracking Decisions:   (Pages 195 - 198) 

 

12. Work Programme:   (Pages 199 - 202) 
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Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Tuesday 18 February 2025 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Councillor Allen, in the Chair. 

Councillor Finn, Vice Chair. 

Councillors Freeman (substitute for Councillor Stevens), P.Nicholson and Raynsford. 

 

Apologies for absence: Councillors Cuddihee and Stevens.  

 

Also in attendance: Liz Bryant (Head of Legal Services), Hannah Chandler-Whiting (Democratic 

Advisor), Wendy Eldridge (Lead Accountancy Manager), Glenda Favor-Ankersen (Head of 

Electoral Services), Carolyn Haynes (Lead Accountancy Manager), David Northey (Service 

Director for Finance), Jamie Sheldon (Senior Governance Advisor), Ollie Woodhams (Head of 

Finance (via MicrosoftTeams)), Louise Clapton (Audit Manager, Devon Audit Partnership) and 

Jackson Murray (Director, Grant Thornton).  

 

The meeting started at 2.00 pm and finished at 3.55 pm. 

 

Note: At a future meeting, the committee will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so they may 

be subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm whether these minutes have 

been amended. 

 

73. Declarations of Interest   

 

No declarations of interest were made. 

 
74. Minutes   

 

The Committee unanimously agreed the minutes of the meetings held on 12 November 2024 as 

an accurate record.  

 

Councillor Finn expressed that he was dissatisfied with updates made to the minutes of the 

meeting of the 11 December 2026, but following a discussion, the Committee agreed the minutes 

of the meeting held on 11 December 2024 as an accurate record. 

 

For (2) 

Councillors Freeman and Raynsford. 

 

Against (1) 

Councillor Finn. 

 

Abstain (3) 

Councillors Allen and P. Nicholson and Independent Member Annette Benny. 

 

The Committee unanimously agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 14 January 2025 with the 

amendment of Councillor P. Nicholson being added to the list of attendees.  
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75. Chair's Urgent Business   

 

There were no items of Chair’s urgent business.  

 

76. Capitalisation Direction Update  (Verbal Report) 

 

David Northey (Service Director for Finance) provided an update and highlighted: 

 

a) The capitalisation update had been chased but there was no update; 
 

b) Assurance had been given to proceed with setting the budget for 2025/26; 

 

c) Had been assured that a decision was imminent. 

 

In response to questions it was added: 

 

d) A statement on the current explanation had been included within the budget report for the 

City Council meeting on 24 February 2025, to reassure Councillors that the 2025/26 

budget could be set; 

 

e) The CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) review had been 

completed, but the final document not yet shared; 

 

f) The Independent Review into the transaction was at the discretion of the relevant Minister, 

who was expected to issue a decision by the end of March 2025. 

 

77. External Audit - Audit Findings Report 2023/24   

 

Jackson Murray (Director, Grant Thornton) introduced the report and highlighted the following: 

 

a) The 2021/22 and 2022/23 accounts had been subject to the backstop disclaimer in advance 

of the nationally set deadline; 

 

b) The deadline for the 2023/24 accounts was 28 February 2025, and a modified audit opinion 

was expected for that year. The 2024/25 and 2025/26 accounts were also anticipated to be 

affected in the same way, as set out in national guidance, as a result of the backstops; 

 

c) Detailed work for the 2023/24 audit took place in October 2024 and an audit opinion 

would be issued by the end of February 2025; 

 

d) Plymouth City Council (PCC) and Grant Thornton had been working together to 

complete the majority of the audit for 2023/24 within a matter of months and that 

momentum was something everyone was keen to continue to reach an unqualified opinion 

in the future; 

 

e) The Audit Certificate, that would formally close the audit could not be issued until the 

National Audit Office (NAO) completed their work on all government accounts. PCC 

accounts could only be objected to in a 30 day period, which had passed; 
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f) Any errors over £385,000 had to be formally documented and reported; 

 

g) The journal threshold for checks was £500,000, and no issues had been found in those 

audited; 

 

h) Transposition errors had been found in the asset register; 

 

i) A disclosure amendment had been required as the depreciation change had been posted in 

the incorrect financial year, but values were correct; 

 
j) Grant Thornton had identified some factual errors and changes of which £3.9 million had 

been updated in the final set of accounts, as well as some further estimation differences of 

£4 million where the data was not necessarily wrong, but the data was not conclusive 

enough, the latter had not been adjusted for because it was not factual; 

 

k) Within the pension fund auditor’s audit of the pension fund, some variances in asset values 

had been identified, largely due to timing differences, but the accounts had been closed on 

the best information available at the time; 

 

l) There were no significant findings from an audit done on major IT systems that impacted 

on the financial statements, though a theoretical risk around admin access rights in Capita 

One had been raised. 

 

In response to questions, supported by David Northey (Service Director for Finance) and Carolyn 

Haynes (Lead Accountancy Manager), it was further explained: 

 

m)  A hot review was a review of accounts technically that took place whilst an audit was 

underway; 

 

n) Lead accountants and lead accountancy managers could approval journals and access had 

been adjusted, so that a journal could not be processed without it being approved by an 

accountant; 

 

o) The key issues were all included within the report; 

 

p) A report had been sent to Grant Thornton from PCC to explain that no inappropriate 

changes had been made when seven user accounts had been granted admin access for 

Capita One; 

 

q) The detailed testing of assets was done on a sample basis and the outcome then projected; 

 

i. The extrapolated error in asset value was down to overvalue on some assets and 

undervalue on others, but it wouldn’t be adjusted because it was of low materiality; 

 

ii. The materiality level was £7.7 million; 

 

iii. None of the asset valuations had any impact on Council Tax, the general fund or 

the budget and were calculations for the Statement of Accounts; 
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r) Access to Civica systems had to be in place for Civica and Auditors, but it was access to 

view data only and this could be monitored; 

 

s) The team had been under pressure with several financial years of accounts still open, which 

had led to the late issue of full instructions to the valuer as well as trying to agree an asset 

programme; 

 

t) The Corporate Management Team received reports monthly on the transformation 

programme; 

 
u) There were proposed changes in governance for local government audit; 

 

v) CIPFA Audit Committee guidance set out a timetable for regaining assurance; 

 

w) The budget report to City Council on 24 February 2025 would include assurance from 

David Northey (As Section 151 Officer) that the Council’s reserves were at a satisfactory 

level; 

 

x) The materiality level was £7.7 million and therefore some adjustments were not made due 

to immateriality. 

 

(Councillor Finn left the meeting during this item) 

 

78. Approval of Statement of Accounts 2023/24   

 

Carolyn Haynes (Lead Accountancy Manager) introduced the report: 

 

a) The draft accounts for 2023/24 were published at the end of May 2024, in line with 

statutory deadline; 

 

b) Audit commenced in October 2024 and the team were finalising the adjustments that 

needed to occur before the backstop deadline at the end of February 2025; 

 

c) The 2023/24 Accounts had been presented to the Audit and Governance Committee in 

July 2024; 

 

d) The team had worked very hard to get to this position; 

 

e) Value for money comments on weaknesses identified in 2023/24 had been included in the 

report; 

 

f) An updated signed copy of the Annual Governance Statement was needed alongside the 

Statement of Accounts. 

 

The Committee agreed:  

 

1. To approve the Statement of Accounts for 2023/24 attached as Appendix A;  

 

2. To delegate authority to the Section 151 Officer in consultation with the Chair of Audit 

and Governance Committee to sign the Accounts and Letters of Representation on behalf 
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of the Council once the audit opinions are provided, and to approve any final amendments 

to the Statement of Accounts arising from the closing stages of audit work;  

 

3. To note the amendments to the 2023/24 accounts which are anticipated to be finalised 

before 28 February 2025; 

 

4. To approve the Letters of Representation attached as Appendix B prior to their 

submission to the Auditor; 

 

5. To approve the 2023/4 Annual Governance Statement (Appendix C), which will be signed 
by the Leader and the Chief Executive, confirming the governance arrangements that were 

in place during the year and which will be published alongside the Statement of Accounts;  

 

6. To consider the draft Audit Opinion Report for 2023/24.  

 

79. Update on External Audit Recommendations  (Verbal Report) 

 

David Northey (Service Director for Finance) gave a verbal update: 

 

a) There were no updates for this meeting as they had been covered in detail through the 

report from Grant Thornton, but it would remain as a standing item to give updates in the 

future. 

 

80. Updated Treasury Management Strategy 2025/26   

 

Wendy Eldridge (Lead Accountancy Manager) introduced the report and highlighted: 

 

a) The document had been updated since the November meeting of the Committee to 

include the latest treasury management strategy information, namely economic updates; 

 

b) The forecast for new borrowing in 2025/26 remained at 4.5%, since the January 2025 

Arlingclose update there had been a further reduction to Bank of England rate to 4.5% with 

their forecast projecting future 25 basis point reductions throughout the year and forecast 

rate of 3.75% at year-end; 

 

c) Against Treasury Management revenue budgets, interest rate risk remained high on new 

borrowing; 

 

i. Previous actions to mitigate risk had included fixing in borrowing long term and 

hedging temporary borrowing through the rate swap arrangement; 

 

d) The investment strategy continued to have a prudent approach for security first, liquidity 

and then yield; 

 

e) Another change was the release of a previous voluntary overpayment of £634,000 to 

support 2025/26 budget setting; 

 

f) The borrowing strategy was striking an appropriate low risk balance between securing 

lower interest cost and certainty of cost through fixing rates in to cover the period the 

Page 5



 

Audit and Governance Committee Tuesday 18 February 2025 

funds are required; 

 

g) Over 50% current borrowing had either been fixed at PWLB (Public Works Load Board) 

rates from 1.37% or was covered by the £75 million temporary rate swap at 0.56%; 

 

h) The Council continued to use short term MMF (Money Market Funds) to hold day to day 

surplus funds, pooled funds held with CCLA (Churches, Charities and Local Authorities 

Investment Management), Fidelity and Schomax and they continued to deliver a good 

return through dividends; 

 
i. Minimal balances were held in cash and immediate access accounts; 

 

i) Appendix C was a new addition to the report and set out the Treasury Management 

Budget for 2025/26 against the previous reported forecast. 

 

In response to questions it was further explained: 

 

a) The Committee could be reassured that there was a downward trend in borrowing 

overall; 

 

b) LOBO’s (Lender option borrow option) had been held for a long time, many were 70 year 

arrangements; 

 

i. The Council had experienced a call-in of a LOBO for the first time and part of the 

strategy was to repay LOBO’s as soon as the opportunity arose as they tended to 

have higher interest rates than borrowing long-term; 

 

ii. There were three LOBO’s that could be called in during 2025/26; 

 

iii. The highest was £19 million, with the others at around £5 million. 

 

The Committee agreed to: 

 

1. Note the updated Treasury Management Strategy, that would be considered at City 

Council on 24 February 2025 as part of the Annual Revenue and Capital Budget report.  

 

81. Updated Capital Financing Strategy 2025/26   

 

Wendy Eldridge (Lead Accountancy Manager) introduced the report and highlighted the following: 

 

a) The updated strategy included the latest Capita programme forecasts as at 31 December 

2024; 

 

b) All capital projects were going through CPOG (Capital Programme Officer Board) and 

CPB (Capital Programme Board) before proceeding to an Executive Decision; 

 

c) The five year capital programme included the latest 5 year programme forecast as at 31 

December 2024 at £395.864 million; 
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d) Analysis of financing by source highlighted that grant funding remained the highest source 

at 35%; 

 

i. £130 million was funded through service borrowing which included £68.8 million 

relating to the Property Regeneration Fund with a focus of generating an income 

and creating employment; 

 

e) The report aligned with the Treasury Management Strategy and financing of the capital 

programme with the Council’s MTFS (Medium Term Financial Strategy) for revenue costs 

for interest and minimum revenue provision. 
 

In response to questions, with support from David Northey (Service Director for Finance), it was 

discussed: 

 

f) 3% contribution from developers was worth discussion with Councillors in the future as it 

seemed low and left Council Tax payers contributing more to developments; 

 

g) The CPOG and CPB allowed officers to develop more intelligence on delivery of projects 

and potential risk; 

 

h) At the completion of large capital projects, learnings were taken for the future; 

 

i) The risk management of costs of projects on the capital programme would be added to the 

work programme. 

 

The Committee agreed to: 

 

1. Note the updated Capital Financing Strategy, which would go to City Council on 24 

February 2025 as part of the Annual Revenue and Capital budget setting report.  

 

82. Adult Social Care Debt Management   

 

Louise Clapton (Audit Manager, Devon Audit Partnership) introduced the report and highlighted: 

 

a) The report had been issued with limited assurance in November 2024, and  progress had 

been made against the consequential management actions, with six of 11 having been fully 

implemented and five partially implemented; 

 

b) It was anticipated that the remaining actions would be completed by 30 April 2025 which 

would increase the overall opinion to a reasonable assurance; 

 

c) Adult Social Care Debt Board had been established, which met monthly with 

representatives from PCC Finance, Livewell SouthWest and the Adult Social Care Team, 

Legal and Audit. 

 

In response to questions, supported by David Northey (Service Director for Finance), it was 

added: 
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d) There was an offer to walkthrough the process for any committee members that 

requested it; 

 

e) The current debt figure would be shared with members of the Committee.  

 

The Committee agreed: 

 

1. To note the progress to implement of agreed management actions; 

 

2. An updated report on progress made would come to the Audit and Committee in 12 
months’ time with detail on the narrative of writing off debt as a last resort. 

 

83. Civic Protocol  (To Follow) 

 

Glenda Favor-Ankersen (Head of Electoral Services) introduced the item and highlighted: 

 

a) The aim was to get the new Civic Protocol approved and in place by the time the Lord 

Mayor for 2025/26 started in May 2025; 

 

b) The protocol served as a reference to ensure consistency, professionalism and adherence 

of tradition in the execution of civic duties for the Lord Mayor, the Civic Office and the 

officers who provided support to the Lord Mayor; 

 

c) There were minor changes made to the protocol in 2018 but was largely unchanged since 

the last formal review in 2012; 

 

d) Feedback and lessons learnt had been gathered to understand how best to support the 

office and the Lord Mayor; 

 

e) A Task and Finish Group had been set up to review the Civic Protocol, comprising of the 

members of the Lord Mayor Selection and Advisory Committee; 

 

i. The group met four times and was cross party, with members from all parties in 

attendance for at least one meeting; 

 

f) The updates had also been carried out using best practice from other Lord Mayoralties 

such as Bristol, York, Southampton and Portsmouth; 

 

g) Guidance from the Association of Civic Officers was also used; 

 

h) It was more streamlined and was clearer on what the constitutional role of the Lord Mayor 

and what the Civic Role was and how both functions could be supported separately; 

 

i) It was aligned to the Council budget. 

 

During the discussion: 

 

j) Committee Members expressed frustration at not having a document with tracked 

changes, or copies of the previous protocol to compare the new protocol to; 
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i. Track changes weren’t available as it had gone through so many different iterations, 

but copies of the 2012 and 2018 could be provided with a summary of changes 

made for 2025; 

 

k) There would be flexibility to enable the Lord Mayor to fulfil their role whilst the budget 

might increase or decrease. 

 

The Committee agreed: 

 

1. To defer the item to the meeting on 11 March 2025.  
 

84. Tracking Decisions   

 

The Committee agreed to note its tracking decisions document.  

 

85. Work Programme   

 

The Committee agreed to note the work programme. 
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OFFICIAL 

Audit and Governance Committee
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 11 March 2025 

Title of Report: Internal Audit Strategy and Charter 2025/26 

Lead Member:   Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) 

Lead Strategic Director: David Northey (Service Director for Finance) 

Author: Louise Clapton, Audit Manager 

Contact Email:  Louise.clapton@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference: AUD/LC 

Key Decision:  No 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

One of the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards is that the purpose, authority 

and responsibility of the internal audit activity are formally defined in an internal audit charter and 

strategy, consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the Standards.   

 

The Audit Strategy is a high-level statement of how the internal audit service will be delivered and 

developed in accordance with the Charter and how it links to the organisational objectives and priorities. 
It communicates the contribution that Internal Audit makes to the organisation and includes:  

 Internal audit objectives and outcomes,  

 How the Head of Devon Audit Partnership will form and evidence his opinion on the governance, 

risk and control framework to support the Annual Governance Statement,  

 How Internal Audit’s work will identify and address significant local and national issues and risks, 

How the service will be provided, and  

 The resources and skills required to deliver the Strategy.   

The Strategy should be approved, but not directed, by the Audit and Governance Committee. 

The Internal Audit Charter and Strategy complies with the mandatory requirements of the Public 

Sector Internal Audit Standards.    

Delivery of the Internal Audit Service will be by the Devon Audit Partnership. 

Recommendations and Reasons 

The Audit and Governance Committee agree the Internal Audit Charter & Strategy for the year 

2025/26.  

Reason:  

A requirement of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards is that the purpose, authority and 

responsibility of internal audit activity are formally defined in an internal audit charter and strategy.  
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OFFICIAL 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

None, as failure to maintain an adequate and effective system of internal audit would contravene the 

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.   

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

The internal audit service assists the Council in delivering robust standards of public accountability and 

probity in the use of public funds and has a role in promoting high standards of service planning, 

performance monitoring and review throughout the organisation, together with ensuring compliance 

with the Council’s statutory obligations.   
 

Our work supports delivery of the values and priorities set out in Corporate Plan by ensuring that 

resources are used wisely, and service areas meet the needs of residents, businesses and communities 

through the delivery of quality public services.   

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

Delivery of the audit plan assists the council in the provision of quality public services which also 

demonstrate value for money.  It has also helped ensure an effective control environment is maintained 

in these financially challenging times.  

 

Financial Risks  

None 

 

Legal Implications  

(Provided by Liz Bryant) 

There are no legal implications arising from this report.  A document that defines the purpose, 

authority and responsibility of internal audit activity in an internal audit charter and strategy is required 

to ensure that the Council maintains an effective system of internal audit.  

 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  
No impacts directly arising from this report. 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

No impacts directly arising from this report.  The work of the internal audit service is an intrinsic 

element of the Council’s overall corporate governance, risk management and internal control 

framework.   

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A DAP Internal Audit Strategy and Charter 2025/26        

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 
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Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

        

        

   

Sign off: 
 

Fin  

DJN.

24.25.

169 

Leg LS/00

0036

09/26

/LB/2

7/02/

25 

Mon 

Off 

N/A HR N/A Asset

s  

N/A Strat 

Proc 

N/A 

Originating Senior Leadership Team member:  David Northey, Service Director for Finance 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?  Yes  

Date agreed: 25/02/2025 

 

Cabinet Member approval:  Councillor Mark Lowry, via email 

Date approved: 26/02/2025 
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INTERNAL AUDIT 
CHARTER AND STRATEGY
Plymouth City Council

MISSION
The Mission of Devon Assurance Partnership is to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk based and objective 
assurance, advice and insight across its partners.
TERMS OF REFERENCE
This document details the Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Strategy as required by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS). The Audit Charter formally describes the purpose, authority, and principal responsibilities of the Internal Audit Service, which 
is provided by the Devon Assurance Partnership (DAP), and the scope of Internal Audit work. This Charter complies with the 
mandatory requirements of the PSIAS. The accompanying Audit Strategy is designed to deliver the requirements outlined in the 
Charter.
DEFINITIONS
Internal auditing is defined by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) as “an independent, objective assurance and 
consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives 
by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance 
processes”.
The PSIAS set out the requirements of a ‘Board’ and of ‘Senior Management’. For the purposes of the internal audit activity within The 
Partner the role of the Board within the Standards is taken by the Audit and Governance Committee and Senior Management is the 
Corporate Management Team. They also make reference to the role of “Chief Audit Executive”. For The Partner this role is fulfilled by 
the Head of Devon Assurance Partnership (HoDAP).

1
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Charter
1. Statutory Requirements and Purpose of 

Internal Audit
2. Professionalism, Ethics and Independence
3. Authority
4. Accountability
5. Responsibilities
6. Management
7. Internal Audit Plan and Resources
8. Internal Audit Reporting
9. Relationship with the Audit & Governance 

Committee and Non Conformance to the 
Charter

10. Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Programme

Strategy
• Audit Strategy ‐ Purpose
• Annual Audit Opinion
• Audit Planning & Delivery
• Performance Management & Quality 
Assurance

• Resources and skills
• Staff Development and use of MKI

2

INDEX TO SECTIONS OF THE CHARTER AND STRATEGY
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Statutory Requirements
Internal Audit is a statutory service in the context of The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which state:

5.—(1) A relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards 
or guidance.

In addition, the Local Government Act 1972, Section 151, requires every local authority to designate an officer responsible for the proper 
administration of its financial affairs. One way in which this duty is discharged is by maintaining an adequate and effective internal audit 
service.

The Purpose and Aim of Internal Audit
The role of Internal Audit is to understand the key risks, to examine and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of risk 
management and the entire control environment as operated throughout the organisation, and contribute to the proper, economic, 
efficient and effective use of resources. In addition, the other objectives of the function are to:
• Support the Section 151 Officer or equivalent to discharge their statutory duties 
• Contribute to and support the Finance function in ensuring the provision of, and promoting the need for, sound financial systems
• Support the corporate efficiency and resource management processes by conducting value for money and efficiency studies and supporting the work of 

corporate working groups as appropriate
• Provide a quality fraud investigation service which safeguards public monies.

The existence of Internal Audit does not diminish the responsibility of management to establish systems of internal control to ensure that 
activities are conducted in a secure, efficient and well‐ordered manner. 

Internal Audit is provided by Devon Assurance Partnership. We aim to provide a high quality, professional, effective and efficient Internal 
Audit Service to the Members and service areas of the Partner, adding value whenever possible. 

3

CHARTER ‐ STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS AND PURPOSE OF INTERNAL AUDIT
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Being Professional
Devon Assurance Partnership will adhere to the relevant codes and guidance. We adhere to the Institute of Internal 
Auditors’ (IIA’s) mandatory guidance including the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, and the Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards. This mandatory guidance constitutes principles of the fundamental requirements for the 
professional practice of internal auditing within the public sector and for evaluating the effectiveness of Internal Audit's 
performance. The IIA's Practice Advisories, Practice Guides, and Position Papers will also be adhered to as applicable to 
guide operations. In addition, Internal Audit will adhere to the relevant policies and procedures and the internal audit 
manual. Internal Auditors must apply the care and skill expected of a reasonably prudent and competent internal auditor. 
Due professional care does not, however, imply infallibility.
Our Ethics
Internal auditors in UK public sector organisations must conform to the Code of Ethics as set out by IIA. This Code of Ethics
promotes an ethical culture in the profession of internal auditing. If individual internal auditors have membership of 
another professional body, then he or she must also comply with the relevant requirements of that organisation.
The Code of Ethics extends beyond the definition of internal auditing to include two essential components:
1. Principles that are relevant to the profession and practice of internal auditing.
2. Rules of Conduct that describe behaviour norms expected of internal auditors.

The Code of Ethics provides guidance to internal auditors serving others and applies to both individuals and entities that 
provide internal auditing services.  The Code of Ethics promotes an ethical, professional culture. It does not supersede or 
replace Codes of Ethics of employing organisations. Internal auditors must also have regard to the Committee on Standards 
of Public Life’s Seven Principles of Public Life.

CHARTER ‐ PROFESSIONALISM, ETHICS AND INDEPENDENCE

4
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Being Independent
Internal Audit should be independent of the activities that it audits. The status of Internal Audit should enable it to function
effectively. The support of the Authority is essential and recognition of the independence of Internal Audit is fundamental 
to its effectiveness.
The Head of Devon Assurance Partnership should have direct access to and freedom to report in their own name and 
without fear or favour to, all officers and members and particularly to those charged with governance (the Audit 
Committee). In the event of the necessity arising, the facility also exists for Internal Audit to have direct access to the Chief 
Executive, the S.151 Officer or equivalent and the Chair of the Audit Committee.
The Partner should make arrangements for Internal Audit to have adequate budgetary resources to maintain organisational 
independence.
The Head of Devon Assurance Partnership should have sufficient status to facilitate the effective discussion of audit 
strategies, audit plans, audit reports and action plans with senior management and members.
Auditors should be mindful of being independent, and must:
• Have an objective attitude of mind and be in a sufficiently independent position to be able to exercise judgment, express opinions and 

present recommendations with impartiality;
• Notwithstanding employment by the Partnership / Authority, must be free from any conflict of interest arising from any professional or 

personal relationships or from any pecuniary or other interests in an activity or organisation which is subject to audit;
• Be free from undue influences which either restrict or modify the scope or conduct of their work or significantly affect judgment as to 

the content of the internal audit report; and
• Not allow their objectivity to be impaired by auditing an activity for which they have or have had responsibility.

CHARTER ‐ PROFESSIONALISM, ETHICS AND INDEPENDENCE (Continued)
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Internal Audit, with strict accountability for confidentiality and safeguarding records and information, is authorised to have 
full, free, and unrestricted access to any and all of the organisation's records, physical properties, and personnel pertinent 
to carrying out any engagement. 

All employees are requested to assist Internal Audit in fulfilling its roles and responsibilities. This is enforced in the Accounts 
and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 section 5(2‐3) that state that: Any officer or member of a relevant authority must, if 
required to do so for the purposes of the internal audit:
2) (a) make available such documents and records; and
(b) supply such information and explanations; as are considered necessary by those conducting the internal audit.
(3)  in this regulation “documents and records” includes information recorded in an electronic form.

In addition, Internal Audit, through the HoDAP, where deemed necessary, will have unrestricted access to:  
• The Chief Executive
• Members 
• Individual Directors
• Section 151 Officer or Equivalent
• Monitoring Officer 
• All authority employees 
• All authority premises.

6

CHARTER ‐ AUTHORITY
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Devon Assurance Partnership is a shared service established and managed via a Partnership Committee and Board with 
representation from each full partner. The Partnership operates as a separate entity from the client authorities and Internal
Audit is therefore independent of the activities which it audits. This ensures unbiased judgements essential to proper 
conduct and the provision of impartial advice to management. DAP operates within a framework that allows: 
• Unrestricted access to senior management and members. 
• Reporting in its own name. 
• Separation from line operations.

Every effort will be made to preserve objectivity by ensuring that all audit members of audit staff are free from any conflicts 
of interest and do not, ordinarily, undertake any non‐audit duties.
The HoDAP fulfils the role of Chief Audit Executive at the Authority and will confirm to the Audit Committee, at least 
annually, the organisational independence of the internal audit activity. The Section 151 Officer will liaise with the HoDAP 
and is therefore responsible for monitoring performance and ensuring independence.
The HoDAP reports functionally to the Audit Committee on items such as:  
• Approving the internal audit charter;
• Approving the risk based internal audit plan and resources; 
• Receiving reports from the Head of Devon Assurance Partnership on the section’s performance against the plan and other matters;
• Approving the Head of Devon Assurance Partnership’s annual report’ 
• Approve the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal audit. 
The HoDAP has direct access to the Audit Committee, and has the opportunity to meet privately with Committee members 
if required.

7
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The Chief Executive, Directors and other senior officers are responsible for ensuring internal control arrangements are 
sufficient to address the risks facing their services. The HoDAP will provide assurance to the Section 151 Officer or 
equivalent regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the financial framework, helping meet obligations under the LGA 
1972 Section 151. 
The HoDAP will provide assurance to the Monitoring Officer in relation to the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of 
governance helping them meet their obligations under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Constitution. 
The HoDAP will also work with the Monitoring Officer to ensure the effective implementation of the Whistleblowing Policy. 

Internal Audit responsibilities include:
• Examining and evaluating the soundness, adequacy and application of the systems of internal control, risk management and corporate governance 

arrangements;  
• Reviewing the reliability and integrity of financial and operating information and the means used to identify, measure, classify and report such information;
• Reviewing the systems established to ensure compliance with policies, plans, procedures and regulations which could have a significant impact on 

operations;
• Reviewing the means of safeguarding assets and, as appropriate, verifying the existence of such assets;
• Investigating alleged fraud and other irregularities referred to the service by management, or concerns of fraud or other irregularities arising from audits, 

where it is considered that an independent investigation cannot be carried out by management;
• Appraising the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which resources are employed and the quality of performance in carrying out assigned duties 

including Value for Money Studies;
• Working in partnership with other bodies to secure robust internal controls that protect interests;
• Advising on internal control implications of new systems;
• Providing consulting and advisory services related to governance, risk management and control as appropriate for the organisation; and,
• Reporting significant risk exposures and control issues identified to Audit Committee and to senior management, including fraud risks, governance issues.

8
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The PSIAS describe the requirement for the management of the internal audit function. This sets out various criteria that 
the HoDAP (as Chief Audit Executive) must meet, and includes:

• Be appropriately qualified;
• Determine the priorities of, deliver and manage the internal audit service through a risk based annual audit plan; 
• Regularly liaise with the external auditors to ensure that scarce audit resources are used effectively;
• Include in the plan the approach to using other sources of assurance if appropriate;
• Be accountable, report and build a relationship with the Audit and Governance Committee and S.151 Officer; and
• Monitor and report upon the effectiveness of the service delivered and compliance with professional and ethical 

standards. 

These criteria are brought together in an Audit Strategy which explains how the service will be delivered and reflect the 
resources and skills required.

The HoDAP is required to give an annual audit opinion on the governance, risk and control framework based on the audit 
work done.

The HoDAP should also have the opportunity for free and unfettered access to the Chief Executive and meet periodically 
with the Monitoring Officer and S.151 Officer or equivalent to discuss issues that may impact on governance, risk and 
control framework and agree any action required.

9
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At least annually, the HoDAP will submit to the Audit Committee a risk‐based internal audit plan for review and approval. 
The HoDAP will:
• Develop the annual plan through discussions with senior management based on an understanding of the significant risks of the organisation;
• Submit the plan to the Audit Committee for review and agreement;
• Implement the agreed audit plan;
• Maintain a professional audit staff with sufficient knowledge, skills and experience to carry out the plan and carry out continuous review of the 

development and training needs;
• Maintain a programme of quality assurance and a culture of continuous improvement;
The Head of internal audit will communicate the impact of resource limitations and significant interim changes to senior 
management and the Audit Committee.
Internal Audit resources must be appropriately targeted by assessing the risk, materiality and dependency of the 
Authority’s systems and processes. Any significant deviation from the approved Internal Audit plan will be communicated 
through the periodic activity reporting process.
A requirement of the anti‐Fraud and Corruption Strategy is that the HoDAP be notified of all suspected or detected fraud, 
corruption or impropriety. All reported irregularities will be investigated in line with established strategies and policies. The 
audit plan will include sufficient resource to undertake proactive anti‐fraud work. Internal audit activities will be conducted 
in accordance with strategic objectives and established policies / procedures.
Monitoring of internal audit’s processes is carried out on a continuous basis by internal audit management. Authority’s 
members and management may rely on the professional expertise of the HoDAP to provide assurance. Periodically, 
independent review may be carried out: for example, through peer reviews; ensuring compliance with the PSIAS is an 
essential approach to such a review.

10
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The primary purpose of Internal Audit reporting is to provide to management an independent and objective opinion on 
governance, the control environment and risk exposure and to prompt management to implement agreed actions.
Internal Audit should have direct access and freedom to report in their own name and without fear or favour to, all officers 
and members, particularly to those charged with governance (the Audit Committee).
A written report will be prepared for every internal audit project and issued to the appropriate manager accountable for 
the activities under review.  Reports will include an ‘opinion’ on the risk and adequacy of controls in the area that has been 
audited, which, together, will form the basis of the annual audit opinion on the overall control environment.
The aim of every Internal Audit report should be to:
• Give an opinion on the risk and controls of the area under review, building up to the annual opinion on the control environment; and
• Agree actions for change leading to improvement in governance, risk management, the control environment and performance.
The Manager will be asked to respond to the report within 30 days, although this period can be extended by agreement. 
The response must show what actions have been taken or are planned in relation to each risk or control weakness 
identified. If action is not to be taken, this must also be stated. The HoDAP is responsible for assessing whether the 
manager’s response is adequate. 
Where deemed necessary, the Internal Audit report will be subject to a follow‐up, normally within six months of its issue, in 
order to ascertain whether the action stated by management in their response to the report has been implemented.  
The HoDAP will: 
• Submit periodic reports to the Audit Committee summarising key findings of reviews and the results of follow‐ups undertaken;
• Submit an Annual Internal Audit Report to the Audit Committee, incorporating an opinion on the control environment. This will also inform the 
Annual Governance Statement.

11

CHARTER ‐ INTERNAL AUDIT REPORTING

P
age 25



The Audit Committee will act as “the Board” as defined in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS),
The Specific Functions of the Audit Committee are set out in the Constitution. 
The HoDAP will assist the Committee in being effective and in meeting its obligations. To facilitate this, the HoDAP or 
suitable representative will:
• Attend meetings, and contribute to the agenda;
• Ensure that it receives, and understands, documents that describe how Internal Audit will fulfil its objectives (e.g. the 
Audit Strategy, annual work programmes, progress reports);

• report the outcomes of internal audit work, in sufficient detail to allow the committee to understand what assurance it 
can take from that work and/or what unresolved risks or issues it needs to address;

• establish if anything arising from the work of the committee requires consideration of changes to the audit plan, and 
vice versa; 

• present an annual report on the effectiveness of the system of internal audit; and
• present an annual internal audit report including an overall opinion on the governance, risk and control framework

Any instances of non conformance with the Internal Audit Definition, Code of Conduct or the Standards must be reported 
to the Audit Committee, and in significant cases consideration given to inclusion in the Annual Governance Statement. 

The Head of Devon Assurance Partnership will advise the Audit Committee on behalf of the Authority on the content of 
the Charter and the need for any subsequent amendment. The Charter should be approved and regularly reviewed by the 
Audit Committee.

CHARTER ‐ RELATIONSHIP WITH THE AUDIT COMMITTEE, AND 
NON‐CONFORMANCE TO THE CHARTER

12
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The PSIAS states that a quality assurance and improvement programme must be developed; the programme should be 
informed by both internal and external assessments.

An external assessment must be conducted at least once in five years by a suitably qualified, independent assessor. For 
DAP this was conducted at the end of 2024 by an IIA Qualified ex Assistant Director of an Audit Partnership.

The assessment result was that “Based on the work carried out, it is our overall opinion that DAP generally conforms* with 
the Standards and the Code of Ethics”. 
The report noted that “As a result of our work, a small number of areas where partial conformance was identified. These 
were minor observations, none of which were significant enough to affect the overall opinion”. 
DAP is actively addressing these improvement areas which includes “Develop the use of data analytics; rotate staff across 
clients; consider how to support the development of audit committees; consider a range of cross partner audits and share 
best practice; review current arrangements for the delivery of IT audit to ensure maximum value; develop the role of 
Senior Auditors”. 

* Generally Conforms – This is the top rating and means that the internal audit service has a charter, policies and 
processes that are judged to be in conformance to the Standards

13
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The PSIAS require the HoDAP to produce an Audit Charter setting out audits purpose, authority and responsibility. We 
deliver this through our Audit Strategy which:
• Is a high‐level statement of how the internal audit service will be delivered and developed in accordance with the 

Charter and how it links to the organisational objectives and priorities; 
• Should be approved, but not directed, by the Audit Committee.
• Will communicate the contribution that Internal Audit makes to the organisation and should include:

 Internal audit objectives and outcomes;
 How the HoDAP will form and evidence their opinion on the governance, risk and control framework to support 

the Annual Governance Statement;
 How Internal Audit’s work will identify and address significant local and national issues and risks;
 How the service will be provided, and
 The resources and skills required to deliver the Strategy.

The Strategy should be kept up to date with the organisation and its changing priorities.

14
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A key objective of Internal Audit is to communicate to management an independent and objective opinion on the 
governance, risk and control framework, and to prompt management to implement agreed actions.

Significant issues and risks will be brought to the attention of the S.151 Officer as and when they arise. Regular formal 
meetings will be held to discuss issues arising and other matters.

The HoDAP will report progress against the annual audit plan and any emerging issues and risks to the Governance 
Committee. 
The HoDAP will also provide a written annual report to the Governance Committee, timed to support their 
recommendation to approve the Annual Governance Statement, to the Partner.

The Head of Devon Assurance Partnership’s annual report to the Governance Committee will:

• Provide an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the governance, risk and control framework;
• Disclose any qualifications to that opinion, together with the reasons for the qualification;
• Present a summary of the audit work from which the opinion is derived, including reliance placed on work by other assurance streams;
• Draw attention to any issues the HoDAP judges particularly relevant to the preparation of the Annual Governance Statement;
• Compare audit work actually undertaken against the work that was planned and summarise the performance of the internal audit 

function against its performance measures and targets; and
• Comment on compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and communicate the results of the internal audit quality 

assurance programme.

AUDIT STRATEGY ‐ OPINION ON THE GOVERNANCE, RISK AND 
CONTROL FRAMEWORK

15
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The audit planning process includes the creation of and ongoing revision of an “audit universe”. This seeks to identify all 
risks, systems and processes that may be subject to an internal audit review.

The audit universe will include a risk assessment scoring methodology that takes account of a number of factors including: 
the risk score; value of financial transactions; level of change, impact on the public; political sensitivity; when last audited; 
and the impact of an audit. This will inform the basis of the resources allocated to each planned audit area.

The results from the audit universe will be used in creating an annual audit plan; such a plan will take account of emerging 
risks at both local and national level.

Assignment Planning & Delivery

Further planning and risk assessment is required at the commencement of each individual audit assignment to establish 
the scope of the audit and the level of testing required.
The primary objective of the audit is to provide management with an independent opinion on the risk and control 
framework through individual audits in the audit plan. Individual audits will be completed using our methodology in our 
Audit Manual to the standards set by PSIAS, to independently evaluate the effectiveness of internal controls. Our audit 
assignment report will communicate our opinion and include agreed management action, where required, to improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.

16
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The PSIAS state that the HoDAP should have in place an internal performance management and quality assurance 
framework; this framework must include:
• A comprehensive set of targets to measure performance. These should be regularly monitored and the progress against these targets 

reported appropriately.
• Seeking user feedback for each individual audit and periodically for the whole service.
• A periodic review of the service against the Strategy and the achievement of its aims and objectives. The results of this should inform 

the future Strategy and be reported to the Audit Committee.
• Internal quality reviews to be undertaken periodically to ensure compliance with the PSIAS and the Audit Manual (self‐assessment).
• An action plan to implement improvements.

The PSIAS and the Internal Audit Manual state that internal audit performance, quality and effectiveness should be 
assessed for each individual audit; and for the Internal Audit Service as a whole. The HoDAP will closely monitor the 
performance of the team to ensure agreed targets are achieved. A series of performance indicators have been developed 
for this purpose (please see the following pages).

Customer feedback is also used to define and refine the audit approach. Devon Assurance Partnership will seek feedback 
from:
auditees; senior leadership; and executive management. The results from our feedback will be reported to Senior 
Management and the Audit Committee in the half year and annual reports. 

The HoDAP is expected to ensure that the performance and the effectiveness of the service improves over time, in terms 
of both the achievement of targets and the quality of the service provided to the user.

17
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AUDIT STRATEGY ‐ PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT & QUALITY ASSURANCE (2)

18

Task Performance measure

Agreement of Annual audit plan Agreed by Chief Executive, Leadership Team and Audit Committee prior to start of financial year

Agreement of assignment brief Assignment briefs are agreed with and provided to auditee at least two weeks before planned
commencement date.

Undertake audit fieldwork Fieldwork commenced at agreed time

Verbal debrief Confirm this took place as expected; was a useful summary of the key issues; reflects the findings in the
draft report.

Draft report Promptly issued within 15 days of finishing our fieldwork.
Report is “accurate” and recommendations are both workable and useful.

Draft report meeting (if required) This meeting was useful in understanding the audit issues

Annual internal audit report Prepared promptly and ready for senior management consideration each June.
Report accurately reflects the key issues identified during the year.

Presentation of internal audit report
to Management and Audit Committee.

Presentation / update is clear and concise.
Presenter was knowledgeable on the subject are and able to answer questions posed by management /
members.

Contact with the audit team outside of
assignment work.

You were successfully able to contact the person you needed, or our staff directed you correctly to the
appropriate person. Emails, letters, telephone calls are dealt with promptly and effectively.

Performance Indicator Full year target 

Percentage of Audit Plan completed 90%

Customer Satisfaction ‐ % satisfied or very satisfied as per feedback forms 90%

Draft reports produced with target number of days (currently 15 days from final debrief) 90%

Final reports produced within target number of days (currently 10 days from receipt of management
actions)

90%

Internal Audit  
Performance 
Monitoring 
Targets

Other indicators 
measured as part of 
the audit process that 
may be captured and 
reported to senior 
management.

Overall performance 
is reported to the 
DAP Committee three 
times per year. 
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The PSIAS and the Audit Manual states that:
• Internal Audit must be appropriately staffed in terms of numbers, grades, qualifications and experience, having regard to its

responsibilities and objectives, or have access to the appropriate resources;
• The Internal Audit service shall be managed by an appropriately qualified professional with wide experience of internal audit and of its 

management; and
• The Chief Audit Executive (Head of Devon Assurance Partnership) should be of the calibre reflecting the responsibilities arising from 

the need to liaise with members, senior management and other professionals, and be suitably experienced.

DAP currently has c.45 staff who operate from any one of our three main locations (Plymouth, Torquay and Exeter), we 
also operate from offices at Torridge DC (Bideford), Mid Devon DC (Tiverton) and South Hams, West Devon Councils 
(Totnes). The Partnership employs specialists in areas such as Computer Audit, Contracts Audit and Counter Fraud 
Investigators as well as a mix of experienced, professionally qualified and non‐qualified staff.
The Partnership draws on a range of skilled staff to meet the audit needs. Our current staff includes: ‐
• 2 x Chartered Accountants 
• 11 x qualified IIA (CMIIA, PIIA, IIA Cert) 
• 2 x qualified computer audit (QICA, CISA, ITIL)
• 2 x risk management (IRM)
• 9 x AAT (qualified and part qualified)
• 3 x ACFS / ACFT (accredited counter fraud specialists)
• 3 x ILM (Institute of Leadership & Management) level 5 or above
• 8 Apprentices/Students (Finance, Data Analyst, IIA, Business Admin)

19
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Staff Skills and Development
Devon Assurance Partnership management assess the skills of staff to ensure the right people are available to undertake 
the work required.
Staff keep up to date with developments within internal audit by attending seminars, taking part in webinars and 
conferences, attending training events and keeping up to date on topics via websites and professional bodies. Learning 
from these events helps management to ensure they know what skills will be required of our team in the coming years, 
and to plan accordingly.
Devon Assurance Partnership follows formal appraisal processes that identify how employees are developing and create 
training and development plans to address needs. 

Internal Audit Software System
Devon Assurance Partnership uses Ideagen as an audit management system. This system allows Partnership management 
to effectively plan, deliver and report audit work in a consistent and efficient manner. The system provides a secure 
working platform and ensures confidentiality of data. The system promotes mobile working, allowing the team to work 
effectively at client locations or at remote locations should the need arise.

20
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Purpose of Report 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require the preparation of a risk-based plan of 

Internal Audit activity that is designed to support an annual opinion on the effectiveness of the systems 

of governance, risk management and internal control and is informed by the audit strategy, consultation 

with stakeholders and a dynamic assessment of risks. 

 
Against a background of already stretched budgets and resources, the continuing uncertainty about 

resourcing from central government and the wider economic environment, the Council will inevitably 

continue to face significant challenges across 2025/26.  To enable Internal Audit to be more agile and 

responsive to the rapidly changing risk profile, the 2025/26 Internal Audit Plan has been developed as a high-

level thematic plan, underpinned by core assurance work.  This will ensure that the focus of audit coverage is 

targeted according to the needs and priorities of the Council at that point in time thereby enabling us to add 

most value. 
 

Recommendations and Reasons 

In accordance with the Constitution, the Audit and Governance Committee: 

1. To review and approve the 2025/26 Internal Audit Plan. 
 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

1. None, as failure to maintain an adequate and effective system of internal audit would 

contravene the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

The internal audit service assists the Council in delivering robust standards of public accountability and 

probity in the use of public funds and has a role in promoting high standards of service planning, 

performance monitoring and review throughout the organisation, together with ensuring compliance 

with the Council’s statutory obligations.   
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Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

Delivery of the audit plan assists the Council in delivering value for money services and has helped 

ensure an effective control environment as the Council works to deliver on its corporate priorities. 

 

Financial Risks  

No impacts directly arising from this report. 

 

Legal Implications  

(Provided by Liz Bryant) 

There are no legal implications arising from this report.  

 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

No impacts directly arising from this report. 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

No impacts directly arising from this report.  The work of the internal audit service is an intrinsic 

element of the Council’s overall corporate governance, risk management and internal control 

framework.   

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A DAP Internal Audit Plan 2025/26        

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

        

        

   

Sign off: 
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Devon Assurance Partnership Confidentiality and Disclosure Clause 

The Devon Assurance Partnership has been formed under a joint committee arrangement comprising 
of Plymouth, Torbay, Devon, Mid Devon, North Devon, Torridge, South Hams, West Devon councils 
and Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue.  We aim to be recognised as a high-quality assurance 
service provider in the public sector.  We work with our partners by providing a professional internal 
audit service that will assist them in meeting their challenges, managing their risks and achieving their 
goals.  In carrying out our work we are required to comply with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards along with other best practice and professional standards.   

The Partnership is committed to providing high quality, professional customer services to all; if you 
have any comments or suggestions on our service, processes or standards, the Head of Partnership 
would be pleased to receive them at tony.d.rose@devon.gov.uk . 

This report is protectively marked in accordance with the Government 
Security Classifications. It is accepted that issues raised may well need 
to be discussed with other officers within the Council, the report itself 
should only be copied/circulated/disclosed to anyone outside of the 
organisation in line with the organisation’s disclosure policies.  

This report is prepared for the organisation’s use.  We can take no 
responsibility to any third party for any reliance they might place upon it. 
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Introduction 
 

Internal auditing is defined by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which set out the requirements of a ‘Board’ and of ‘senior management’. For 
the purposes of the internal audit activity within the Council the role of the Board within the Standards is taken by the Council’s Audit & Governance 
Committee and senior management is the Council’s Corporate Management Team. The Audit & Governance Committee, under its Terms of Reference 
contained in the Council’s Constitution, is required to consider the Internal Audit Plan to provide assurance to support the governance framework (see 
Appendix 2).  
 

This Council’s Internal Audit Charter formally describes the purpose, authority, and principal responsibilities of the Council’s Internal Audit Service, which is 
provided by the Devon Assurance Partnership (DAP) as represented in the audit framework at Appendix 1, and the scope of Internal Audit work. The PSIAS 
refer to the role of ‘Chief Audit Executive’. For the Council this role is fulfilled by the Head of DAP. 
 

The Chief Audit Executive is responsible for developing a risk-based plan which considers the organisation’s risk management framework, including using risk 
appetite levels set by management for the different activities or parts of the organisation as represented in Appendix 3. 
 

The need for robust and effective controls to ensure that resources are used to best effect and deliver the authority’s objectives has never been greater.  
National factors largely beyond the control of the Authority, including rapidly rising energy costs, demand pressures and costs in social care has placed 
unprecedented pressures on the budget and Internal Audit will help provide independent assurance that risks are known, understood and addressed, and that 
systems and procedures are sound, effective and efficient. 
 

The audit plan for 2025/26 is a high-level thematic plan which outlines areas for coverage. In collaboration with senior management, we will prioritise areas, 
issues, and risks for review as the year progresses.  This will ensure that the focus of audit coverage is targeted according to the needs and priorities of the 
Council at that point in time enable us to add most value.  At the start of each audit the scope is discussed and agreed with management with the view to 
providing management, the Service Director for Finance (Section 151) and members with assurance on the control framework to manage the risks identified. 
Delivery of the plan will continue to be reported, and any changes agreed formally with management and reported to Audit and Governance Committee. 
 

Expectations of the Audit Committee for this annual plan 

Audit Committee members are requested to consider: - 

 the annual governance framework requirements; 

 the basis of assessment of the audit work in the proposed plan; 

 the resources allocated to meet the plan; 

 proposed areas of internal audit coverage in 2025/26. 

 

In review of the above the Audit Committee are required to consider the proposed audit plan. 
 

Tony Rose 

Head of Devon Assurance Partnership 
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Annual Flexible Audit Plan 2025/26 
There has been a growing trend in the sector towards more flexible audit plans  
to enable internal audit to be more agile and responsive to the rapidly changing risks, in turn 
maximising resource focus to clients’ needs as and when needed – Agile Auditing. This 
principle looks set to continue and has several benefits with ever changing priority and 
related risks. Key benefits provide for: 

 reduction in non-productive resource planning which subsequently require significant 
plan changes. 

 improved opportunity to keep plan aligned to current risks within Service Areas and as a 
whole for the Authority. 

 more effective and timely pre-audit engagement with Service Leads. 

 greater and more regular discussion with client leads – supporting current risk and work 
priorities.  

 agile auditing. 

 experience that plans change regularly. 

 changes in external risk drivers are more easily picked up in audit assurance needs. 
  

The table on the following page details our proposed high-level and thematic overview of 
audit coverage, this should be considered alongside the charts to the right, showing 
indicative allocation of resource to meet this summary plan. Audit coverage is spread across 
corporate, service areas and risk to ensure provision of assurance on the wider control 
framework to inform our annual assurance opinion.   
 
The thematic plan has been developed around the risks identified through risk management, 
audit needs and perceptions of current issues and in discussion with client management and 
the S151 Officer.  Audit work in the most high-risk areas is underpinned by our core 
assurance work on the main financial systems, numerous grant certifications and work to evaluate 
management of the Council’s ICT and Cyber risks.  We also continue to provide an internal audit service to 
the maintained schools with the city. 
 
Audit coverage for the year, based on the priority areas for review referred to in the thematic table below 
shows a good spread of coverage across service areas enabling us to provide assurance on the wider 
control framework from which we will build our annual assurance opinion.  More detailed terms of reference 
will be drawn up and agreed with management prior to the start of each individual assignment – in this way 
we can ensure that the key risks to the operation or function are considered during our review.  In addition, 
all ‘Limited Assurance’ audit, high priority management actions will be tracked through to implementation. 
 

 

Anti-fraud and Corruption 

All our work will contain elements to ensure that sound and effective arrangements are in place to prevent and detect fraud and / or irregularity.  
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 High Level Summary Audit Plan 
 

Corporate 
 Client and Audit 

Governance 

 

 Adult, Health and 
Communities 

 
Children’s 
Services  

 
Growth   Public Health  

Programme and Project Management 
 

 Commercial Services 
 

 Transparency in Decision Making 
 

Risk Management 
 

 Data Protection, Data Asset Management, 
Information Governance 

 
Contract Standing Orders - Directors waivers, 
mitigation of fraud, corruption and collusion. 

 
MTFS – Delivering Savings and 

Transformation Plans 
 

Facilities Management – Asset Management 
Plan 

 
DBS Checks 

 
Overseas Worker Checks 

 
Corporate Establishment 

 
Workforce strategy and succession planning  

 
Devolution 

 
Procurement Act 

 
Purchasing / Procurement Compliance 

 
Fuel Cards Follow Up 

 

 

Management Action 
Tracking 

  

Corporate 
Governance 

 

 Audit Planning and 
Co-ordination 

 

Liaison with External 
Auditor 

 

 Advice 

 

 

Adult Social Care 
Governance 

 
Homelessness 

 
Better Care Finance 

 
Adult Brokerage 

 
Housing Systems and 

Data 
 

Direct Payments 
 

Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguarding 

 
Deputyships 

 
Eclipse Phase 3 - 
Finance Module 

 
Disabled Facilities Grant 

 
ASC Debt Management 

 

School Transport 
 

Connect to Work 
Programme 

 
Virtual School  

 
School Effectiveness 

and School 
Improvement Offer 

 
Legal Care 

Proceedings  
 

CYP&F Finance Team 
 

Plymouth Children’s 
Homes 

 

 

Tree Management 
Policy and 
Processes 

 

Safety at Sports 
Grounds 

 

Commercial Waste 

 

The Park – Financial 
Management 

  

 

 

   

  

 

C
o

re
 

A
s

s
u

ra
n

c
e
 Key Financial Systems – Payroll, Creditor Payments, Debtors and Debt Management, Main Accounting System, Council Tax, Business Rates, Housing Benefits, 

Treasury Management, Income/Cash Collection, Budget Management. 
 

            

Grants – Grant Certification    
            

ICT – IT Governance, Asset Management, Vulnerabilities (Patch) Management, Ethical Use of AI.  

             

The above diagram shows the thematic approach to audit coverage in the coming year underpinned by defined, core assurance work. 
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Fraud Prevention and Detection and the National Fraud Initiative 
Counter-fraud arrangements are a high priority for the Council and assist in the protection of public funds and accountability.  Devon Assurance Partnership 
will continue to investigate instances of potential fraud and irregularities referred to it by managers and will also carry out pro-active anti-fraud and corruption 
testing of systems considered to be most at risk to fraud. The joint working arrangements between the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud teams, enables 
intelligence to be shared and resources focussed on higher risk areas to prevent a fraud occurring.  
 
The Cabinet Office runs a national data matching exercise (The National Fraud Initiative - NFI) every two years.  DAP have co-ordinated the process to extract 
and upload the relevant datasets onto the NFI secure website in accordance with the NFI timetable for the 2024/25 exercise.  The data matches from the 
exercise have been made available to service areas for review and they continue to review data matches that were generated by this latest NFI exercise 
 

Integrated Assurance 
Collaboration between the Audit Team and the Counter Fraud Team continues to evolve and strengthen with 
auditors becoming more aware of fraud risks and fraud investigators having a greater understanding of systems  
and controls. 
 
This joined up approach will help us to continue to provide the highest level of assurance possible and, for the Council 
to minimise fraud loss to the lowest level possible. 
 

Internal Audit Governance 
An element of our work is classified as ‘client governance’ - this is work that ensures effective and efficient audit 
services are provided to the Council and the internal audit function continues to meet statutory responsibilities. In some 
instances, this work will result in a direct output (i.e. an audit report) but in other circumstances the output may simply 
be advice or guidance. Some of the areas that this may cover include: - 

 Preparing the internal audit and counter fraud plans and monitoring implementation; 

 Preparing and presenting monitoring reports to Senior Management and the Audit Committee;  

 Assistance with the Annual Governance Statement; 

 Liaison with other inspection bodies (e.g. External Audit (Grant Thornton),LGA, Ofsted); 

 Corporate Governance - Over recent years Internal Audit has become increasingly involved in several corporate governance and strategic issues, and this 
involvement is anticipated to continue during the year; 

 On-going development within the Partnership to realise greater efficiencies in the future. 

 
Partnership working with other auditors 
We will continue to develop and maintain effective partnership working arrangements between ourselves and other audit agencies where appropriate and 
beneficial. We participate in a range of internal audit networks, both locally and nationally which provide for a beneficial exchange of information and practices 
with the aim of improving the effectiveness and efficiency of the audit process, through avoidance of instances of “re-inventing the wheel” in new areas of 
work. 
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Appendix 1 - Audit Framework                

Auditing for achievement

Devon Assurance Partnership 
 

- shared working across authorities 
- in accordance with our internal audit charter 

We will seek opportunity for shared working across member authorities. In 
shared working Devon Assurance Partnership will maximise the 
effectiveness of operations, sharing learning & best practice, helping each 
authority develop further to ensure that risk remains suitably managed. 

Internal Audit is a statutory service in the context of The 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 (revised 
2021), which state: 
‘A relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit 
to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, considering public sector internal 
auditing standards (PSIAS) or guidance’. 
 
DAP, through external assessment, demonstrates that it 
meets the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). 
 
 
The Standards require that the Chief Audit Executive must 
‘establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the 
internal audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals.  
When completing these plans, the Chief Audit Executive 
should take account of the organisation’s risk management 
framework. The plan should be adjusted and reviewed, as 
necessary, in response to changes in the organisation’s 
business, risk, operations, programs, systems and controls. 
The plan must take account of the requirement to produce an 
internal audit opinion and assurance framework. 
 

This audit plan has been drawn up, therefore, to enable an 
opinion to be provided at the end of the year in accordance 
with the above requirements. 
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Appendix 2 - Annual Governance Framework Assurance            
 
 
The Annual Governance Statement provides assurance that  
o The Authority’s policies have been complied with in 

practice; 
o high quality services are delivered efficiently and effectively; 
o ethical standards are met; 
o laws and regulations are complied with; 
o processes are adhered to; 
o performance statements are accurate. 

 
The statement relates to the governance system as it is applied 
during the year for the accounts that it accompanies. It should: - 

 be prepared by senior management and signed by the 
Chief Executive and Leader of the Council; 

 highlight significant events or developments in the year; 

 acknowledge the responsibility on management to ensure 
good governance; 

 indicate the level of assurance that systems and processes 
can provide; 

 provide a narrative on the process that is followed to ensure 
that the governance arrangements remain effective. This 
will include comment upon: 
o The Authority; 
o Audit Committee; 
o Risk Management; 
o Internal Audit; 
o Other reviews / assurance; 

 
Provide confirmation that the Authority complies with CIPFA 
recently revised International Framework – Good Governance 
in the Public Sector. If not, a statement is required stating how 
other arrangements provide the same level of assurance. 
 
 

Corporate Risk Management 
framework and Reporting

Internal Audit Assurance on 
the internal control 

framework

Corporate Management 
Team Review and Assurance

External Audit and Other 
Assurance Reports

Annual 
Governance 
Framework

The AGS needs to be presented to, and approved by, the Audit Committee, and 
then signed by the Chair. 

The Committee should satisfy themselves, from the assurances provided by Risk 
Management, Leadership Group and Internal Audit that the statement meets 
statutory requirements. 
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Appendix 3 - Audit Needs Assessment 
 

We employ a risk-based priority audit planning tool to identify those areas where audit 
resources can be most usefully targeted.  This involves scoring a range of systems, 
services and functions across the whole Authority, known as the ‘Audit Universe’ using a 
number of factors/criteria. The final score, or risk factor for each area, together with a 
priority ranking, then determines an initial schedule of priorities for audit attention. 
 
The result is the Internal Audit Plan set out earlier in this report. 
 

Consideration of risks identified in the Authority’s strategic 
and operational risk registers

Review and update of the audit universe

Discussions and liaison with Directors and Senior Officers 
regarding the risks which threaten the achievement of 
corporate or service objectives, including changes and / or 
the introduction of new systems, operations, programs, 
and corporate initiatives

Taking into account results of previous internal audit 
reviews

Taking into account Internal Audit’s knowledge and 
experience of the risks facing the Authority, including 
factors and systems that are key to successful achievement 
of the Council’s delivery plans

Requirements to provide a 'collaborative audit' approach 
with the external auditors

The audit plan for the year has been created by: 

Audit Universe

Transformat-
ional Change

Governance

Audit Needs Assessment

Risk 
Management 
Framework

Directorate 
key 

objectives

Core Assurance

Key Financial Systems Fraud & Corruption
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Appendix 4 - Our Audit Team and the Audit Delivery Cycle 
 
 
 

 
 

Tony Rose 

Head of DAP 
T 01392 383000 
M 077971 322914 
E tony.d.rose@devon.gov.uk 
  
 

Jo McCormick 

Deputy Head of DAP 
T 01392 383000 
M 079616 50617 

E joanne.mccormick@devon.gov.uk 

Louise Clapton 

Audit Manager – Plymouth City Council 
T 01752 306714 

E louise.clapton@plymouth.gov.uk 
   Or louise.clapton@devon.gov.uk 
   

January March  June September December 
 Date  Activity 

Jan 
2025 / 
Feb 
2025 

Directorate planning meetings 

Mar 
2025 

Internal Audit Plan presented 
to Audit & Gov Committee 

March 
2025 

Internal Audit Governance 
Arrangements reviewed by 
Audit & Gov Committee 

March/ 
April  
2025 

Year-end field work completed 

April / 
May 
2025 

Annual Performance reports 
written 

Jul 
2025 

Annual Internal Audit Report 
presented to Audit & Gov 
Committee 

 
Recommendation Tracking is 
an ongoing process 

Sept 
2025 

Progress report presented to 
Audit & Gov Committee 

Nov 
2025 

Six-month progress reports 
presented to Audit & Gov 
Committee 

Dec 
2025 

2024/25 Internal Audit Plan 
preparation commences 

Audit 
Planning

Discussion & 
agreement 
with senior 

management

Review and 
agreement 
with Audit 
Committee

Review and 
resourcing of 

plan

Review and 
reallocation of 

plan

Audit 
Delivery

Schedule and 
completion of 
closing year 
audit plan

Resourcing, 
scoping and 
implementat-

ion of new 
year plan 

Follow-up 
reviews of 
significant 

audit 
assurance  
opinions

Key financial 
systems and 

core audit 
review work 

Audit 
Reporting

Annual Audit 
Plan & Audit 
Governance 
Framework

Annual Audit 
Assurance 

Report

Six month 
progress  & 

follow-up 
reports

Progress 
report
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Appendix 5 - Professional Standards and Customer Service  

Conformance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 
 

Conformance - Devon Assurance Partnership conforms to the requirements of the PSIAS for its internal audit activity. The purpose, authority and 
responsibility of the internal audit activity is defined in our internal audit charter, consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the 
Standards. Our internal audit charter was approved by senior management and the Audit Committee in March 2024. This is supported through external 
assessment of conformance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards & Local Government Application Note. 
 

The Institute of Internal Audit (IIA) are the key body involved in setting out the global standards for the profession which form the basis for the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and have been undergoing review and revision.  The proposed new standards will take effect in the public sector in April 
2025 and provide clarity and raise awareness of the audit committee's governance roles and responsibilities.  2024 Global Internal Audit Standards (theiia.org) 
 

Quality Assessment - the Head of Devon Assurance Partnership maintains a quality assessment process which includes review by audit managers of all 
audit work. The quality assessment process and improvement is supported by a development programme.   

External Assessment - The PSIAS states that a quality assurance and improvement programme must be developed; the programme should be informed by 
both internal and external assessments. 
 

An external assessment must be conducted at least once every five years by a suitably qualified, independent assessor. For DAP this was recently 
conducted in 2024 by an IIA qualified ex Assistant Director of an Audit Partnership.   
 

The assessment result was that “Based on the work carried out, it is our overall opinion that DAP generally conforms* with the Standards and the Code of 
Ethics”. The report noted that “As a result of our work, a small number of areas where partial conformance was identified. These were minor observations, 
none of which were significant enough to affect the overall opinion”. DAP is actively addressing these improvement areas.  

* Generally Conforms – This is the top rating and means that the internal audit service has a charter, policies and processes that are judged to be in 
conformance to the Standards 
 

Improvement Programme – DAP maintains a rolling development plan of improvements to the service and customers. All recommendations of the external 
assessment of PSIAS and quality assurance are included in this development plan which is ongoing. Our development plan is regularly updated and links to 
our overall strategy, both of which are reported to the DAP Management Board and DAP Committee.   
 

Customer Service Excellence (CSE) 
DAP was successful in re-accreditation by G4S Assessment Services of the CSE standard during 2024. This accreditation is a UK-wide quality mark which 
recognises organisations that prioritise customer service and are committed to continuous improvement. 
 

During the year we have issued client survey forms for some of our reports, and the results of the surveys returned were very good / positive. The overall 
result is very pleasing, with near 98% being "satisfied” or better across our services.  It is very pleasing to report that our clients continue to rate the overall 
usefulness of the audit and the helpfulness of our auditors highly. 
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OFFICIAL 

Audit and Governance Committee
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 11 March 2025 

Title of Report: Treasury Management Practices, Principles and 

Schedules 2025/26 

Lead Member:   Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) 

Lead Strategic Director: David Northey (Service Director for Finance) 

Author: Wendy Eldridge Lead Accountancy Manager Capital & Treasury 

Management 

Contact Email:  Wendy.eldridge@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference: Fin/TM PPS 25-26 

Key Decision:  No 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management requires the Council to publish its practices, 

principles and schedules each year. The Treasury Management practices, principles and schedules are in 

place to ensure the Council’s Treasury Management policy is adhered to and that working practices 

and controls are in place to meet the approved strategy. 

 

Recommendations and Reasons 

1. To approve the Treasury Management Practices, Principles and Schedules for 2025/26 as set 

out in this report. 

Reason: This will ensure compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management. 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

1. There are no alternative options. The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for 

Treasury Management which requires the Treasury Management Practices, Principles and 
Schedules to be scrutinised and approved by the Audit Committee. 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

Effective financial management is fundamental to the delivery of corporate improvement priorities. 

Treasury Management activity has a significant impact on the Council’s activity both in revenue budget 

terms and capital investment and, as such, is a key foundation facilitating the delivery of several 

corporate priorities. 

 

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

Treasury Management affects the Council’s budget in terms of borrowing costs and investment returns. 

The Treasury Management Strategy sets the authorised limits and operational boundaries within which 

investment and borrowing decisions are taken and risks managed. Effective treasury management will 

provide support towards the achievement of the Council’s business and service objectives.  Plymouth 

City Council is therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury 
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management, and to employing suitable performance measurement techniques, within the context of 

effective risk management. 

 

 

Financial Risks  

The Council has current borrowing of £664.532m with further borrowing required to support an 

active capital programme. 

 

Legal Implications  

(Provided by Liz Bryant/LB) 

There are no legal implications arising from this report. This report is to ensure compliance with the 

CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management which requires the Council to publish its practices, 

principles and schedules each year. 

 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

Treasury Management budgets include borrowing to support the provision for a Climate Emergency 

Investment Fund in the Capital Programme and cash management to support projects within the Net 

Zero Action Plan 2023-2026 which is reviewed annually. 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

Volatility and uncertainty within global financial markets could have a substantial effect on Treasury 

Management activities. The risk in the Council’s investments and loans will be constantly monitored 

and acted upon in accordance with the principles and procedures set out in the Council’s Treasury 

Management Practices, Principles and Schedules.  

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A Treasury Management Practices, Principals and 

Schedules 2025-26 

       

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 
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TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 

 
 

 

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

1.1 Plymouth City Council adopts the key recommendations of CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the 

Public Services: Code of Practice (the Code), as described in Section 5 of the Code.  

1.2 Accordingly, the Authority will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 

management: - 

 A treasury management policy statement stating the policies, objectives, and approach to 

risk management of its treasury management activities. 

 Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the way the Authority will 

seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and 

control those activities. 

 Investment management practices (IMPs) for investments that are not for treasury 

management purposes. 

1.3 The Authority’s Council (i.e. full Council) will receive reports on its treasury and investment 

management policies, practices and activities including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan of the 

year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs and IMPs. 

1.4 The Authority delegates responsibility for the implementation and monitoring of its treasury 

management policies and practices to the Audit & Governance Committee and for the execution and 

administration of treasury management decisions to the Section 151 Officer, who will act in accordance 

with the organisation’s policy statement and TMPs, IMPs and CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice 

on treasury management. 

1.5 The Authority nominates the Audit and Governance Committee to be responsible for ensuring 

effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.  

 

2. POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES OF TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 

 

2.1 Plymouth City Council defines its treasury management activities as the management of the 

Authority’s borrowing, investments, and cash flows, including its banking, money market and capital 

market transactions, the effective control of the risks associated with those activities and the pursuit of 

optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

2.2 Plymouth City Council regards the successful identification, monitoring, and control of risk to be the 

prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be measured. 

Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will focus on their risk 

implications for the organisation, and any financial instruments entered to manage these risks. 
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2.3 Plymouth City Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 

towards the achievement of its business and service objectives.  It is therefore committed to the 

principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, and to employing suitable comprehensive 

performance measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk management. 

2.4 Plymouth City Council borrowing will be affordable, sustainable, and prudent and consideration will 

be given to the management of interest rate risk and refinancing risk.  The source of borrowing and the 

type of borrowing should allow the Authority transparency and control over its debt.   

The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk balance 

between securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which 
funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term plans change is 

a secondary objective. 

2.5 Plymouth City Council priority in relation to its treasury investments is the security of capital and 

liquidity (or accessibility) of these investments.    

The Authority’s objective when investing treasury monies is to strike an appropriate balance between 

risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably 

low investment income. Where balances are expected to be invested for more than one year, the 

Authority will aim to achieve, where appropriate, a total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing 

rate of inflation to maintain the spending power of the sum invested. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

6 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

PRINCIPLES AND SCHEDULES 2024-25 

 

 
 

 

This document has been prepared in the sequence set out in CIPFA guidance.  For ease of use, the 

key areas for Plymouth City Council treasury operations are referenced below: 

INDEX TMP Number Page 

Organisational chart of the Council’s Finance and Treasury Division 

Statement of duties and responsibilities 

Absence cover 

TMP 5/ Appendix 1 37/64 

Liquidity Management, Cash flow, bank overdraft, short-term 

borrowing/lending 

Cash Flow forecasts 

Bank statements, payment scheduling 

 

TMP 1 

TMP 8 

TMP 8 

 

10 

52 

54 

Electronic banking and dealing 

Standard Settlement Instructions,  Payment Authorisation  

TMP 1 10 

Decision making and analysis TMP 3 27 

Approved types and sources of borrowing 

Approved investment instruments 

TMP 4 31 

Counterparty Credit Risk Management 

Current criteria  

Counterparty List and Limits 

TMP 1 

 

10 

 

Dealing: 

 - Authorised dealers 

 - Dealing limits 

 - List of approved brokers 

 - Deal Ticket pro-forma 

 - Direct dealing list 

 - Settlement transmission procedures 

TMP 5 

 

 

39 

Reporting arrangements/Performance measurement 

Officers’ responsibilities for reporting 

TMP 6 

TMP 2 

TMP 5 

42 

24 

36 

Budget, Statement of Accounts, treasury-related information 

requirements for Auditors 

TMP 7 48 

Anti-Money Laundering Procedures TMP 9 55 

Training and Qualifications TMP 10 58 

Contingency Arrangements  TMP 1 10 
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External Service Providers TMP 11 59 

References to Statute and Legislation TMP 1 10 

Corporate Governance TMP 12 61 

Non-financial Investments TMP 13 62 
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INTRODUCTION 

The Audit and Governance Committee is required to approve the Treasury Management Practices, Principles and 

Schedules report each year as a requirement of the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. 

The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services (the TM Code) was last revised in 

December 2021. The TM Code requires The Authority to create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective 

treasury and investment management: 

- a treasury management policy statement stating the policies, objectives, and approach to risk management 

of its treasury management activities. 

 

- suitable treasury management practices (TMPs – i.e. this document) setting out the way the Authority will 

seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those 

activities. 

This TMP document also sets out the responsibilities and duties of members and officers, allowing a framework 

for reporting and decision making on all aspects of treasury management.  

Treasury Management is defined by CIPFA as: 

The management of the Authority’s borrowing, investments, and cash flows, including its 

banking, money market and capital market transactions, the effective control of the risks 

associated with these activities, and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 

those risks. 

 ‘Investments’ now covers all the financial assets of the Council, as well as other non-financial assets which the 

Council holds primarily for financial returns, including but not limited to commercial property. 

Investments will be categorised in accordance with the primary purpose of the investment. 

- Treasury management investments are those investments that arise from the Authority’s cash flows or 

treasury risk management activity and ultimately represent balances that need to be invested until the cash 

is required for use in the course of the Councils business. 

- Service investments are those held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services (including 

housing, regeneration, and local infrastructure) or in support of joint working with others to deliver such 

services.  They may or may not involve financial returns. 

- Commercial investments are those held primarily for financial return and are not linked to treasury 

management activity or directly part of delivering services. 

Service and commercial investments assets are not managed as part of the Council’s normal treasury management 

or under treasury management delegations, but they nonetheless require appropriate investment and risk 

management under the Code; a separate Treasury Management Practice (TMP 13) in this document is therefore 

included, specific to these investments.   

 The Code identifies three key principles: 

(1) Public service organisations should put in place formal and comprehensive objectives, policies and 

practices, strategies and reporting arrangements for the effective management and control of their 

treasury management activities. 

(2) Their policies and practices should make clear that the effective management and control of risk are prime 

objectives of their treasury management activities and that responsibility for these lies clearly within their 

organisations.  Their appetite for risk should form part of their annual strategy, including any use of financial 

instruments for the prudent management of those risks, and should ensure that priority is given to security 

and portfolio liquidity when investing treasury management funds. 

(3) They should acknowledge that the pursuit for value for money in treasury management, and the use of 

suitable performance measures, are valid and important tools for responsible organisations to employ in 

support of their business and service objectives; and that within the context of effective risk management, 

their treasury management policies and practices should reflect this. 

Page 58



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

9 

 

OFFICIAL 

CIPFA recommends that all public service organisations adopt, as part of their standing orders, financial regulations, 

or other formal policy documents appropriate to their circumstances, the following five clauses. 

(1) The Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury and investment 

management: 

a. A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives, and approach to risk 

management of its treasury management activities. 

b. Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in which the organisation 

will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control 

those activities. 

c. Investment management practices (IMPs) for investments that are not for treasury management 

purposes. 

The content of the policy statement, TMPs and IMPs will follow the recommendations contained in Section 

6, 7 and 8 of the TM Code, subject only to amendment where necessary to reflect the particular 

circumstances of the Authority.  Such amendments will not result in material deviation from the Code’s 

key principles. 

(2) The Council will receive reports on its treasury and investment management policies, practices, and 

activities, including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review 

and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs.  

(3) The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of its treasury 

management policies and practices to the Audit and Governance Committee and for the execution and 

administration of treasury management decisions to the Section 151 Officer, who will act in accordance 

with the organisation’s policy statement and TMPs and, if he/she is a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s Standard of 

Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

(4) The Council nominates the Audit and Governance Committee to be responsible for ensuring effective 

scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 

(5) The Council produces a Capital Financing Strategy which is approved by full council, the Audit Committee 

may also set the detailed treasury management policies, whilst being clear that overall responsibility 

remains with full council. 

The Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) comprise: 

TMP 1: Risk management 

TMP 2: Performance measurement 

TMP 3: Decision-making and analysis 

TMP 4: Approved instruments, methods and techniques 

TMP 5: Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities and dealing arrangements 

TMP 6: Reporting requirements and management information arrangements 

TMP 7: Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements 

TMP 8: Cash and cash flow management 

TMP 9: Money laundering 

TMP 10: Training and qualifications 

TMP 11: Use of external service providers 

TMP 12: Corporate governance 

Page 59



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

10 

 

OFFICIAL 

TMP 13 Non-Treasury Investments (Investments that are not part of Treasury Management Activity) 

 

Schedules supporting these practices and other documents held at an operational level specify the systems and 

routines to be employed and the records to be maintained in fulfilling the Council’s treasury functions. 

 

 
1. TMP 1: RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security of the principal 

sums it invests.  Accordingly, it will ensure that robust due diligence procedures cover all external investment. 

 

1.1 The Section 151 Officer will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the identification, 

management and control of treasury management risk, will report at least annually on the adequacy/suitability 

thereof, and will report, as a matter of urgency, the circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving 

the organisation’s objectives in this respect, all in accordance with the procedures set out in TMP6 Reporting 

requirements and management information arrangements.  

 

In respect of each of the following risks, the arrangements which seek to ensure compliance with these 

objectives are set out as schedules below. Accordingly, it will ensure that robust due diligence procedures 

cover all external investment.   

 

1.2 Credit and Counterparty Risk Management: Credit and counterparty risk is the risk of failure by a 

third party to meet its contractual obligations to the Council under an investment, borrowing, capital, 

project or partnership financing, particularly as a result of the third party’s diminished creditworthiness, and 

the resulting detrimental effect on the Council’s capital and revenue resources.  

 

1.2.1 Principle: The Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security of the principal 

sums it invests.  Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and limits reflect a prudent attitude towards 

organisations with whom funds may be deposited, and will limit its investment activities to the instruments, methods 

and techniques referred to in TMP4 Approved instruments, methods and techniques, and listed in the schedule.  It 

also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy in respect of those 

organisations from which it may borrow, as per the Treasury Management Strategy, or with whom it may enter into 

other financing arrangements. 

The Authority’s credit and counterparty policies should set out its policy and practices relating to environmental, social 

and governance (ESG) investment considerations. This is a developing area, and it is not implied that the Authority’s 

ESG policy will currently include ESG scoring or other real-time ESG criteria at individual investment level. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

11 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

1.2.2 Schedule: 

 

Criteria to be used for 

creating/managing 

approved counterparty 

lists/limits 

The Section 151 Officer is responsible for setting prudent criteria and the 

Council’s treasury advisors will also provide guidance and assistance in setting 

the criteria.   

The criteria will be agreed by Council.   

The current criteria are contained in the Treasury Management Strategy.   

The Council’s treasury management advisors will advise on credit policy and 

creditworthiness related issues.  The Council’s treasury management advisors 

will provide a counterparty list based on its criteria (determined at least annually) 

and will monitor and update the credit standing of the institutions on a regular 

basis.   

This assessment will include consideration of credit ratings from main ratings 

agencies and other alternative assessments of credit strength (for example, 

statements of potential government support where applicable, resolution 

mechanisms for failing financial institution’s balance sheet liabilities, CDS 

information, the composition of an institution’s balance sheet liabilities).  

Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest long-term rating from the 

agencies [currently A-] and other relevant factors, including external advice.   

Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific investment or class of 

investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. 

However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, 

and all other relevant factors including external advice will be considered 

including information on corporate developments and market sentiment towards 

investment counterparties.  

Higher time and cash limits may be set for secured investments (e.g. those with 

underlying collateral or which are by regulation excluded from being bailed-

in/restructured in the event of financial distress.)  

Where there is no investment-specific rating, but collateral upon which the 

investment secured is rated, then the higher of the collateral and counterparty 

rating will be used to determine time and cash limits. 

Approved methodology 

for changing limits and 

adding/removing 

counterparties. 

 

Risk management: 

creditworthiness 

deteriorates below the 

minimum criteria. 

 

 

 

 

(a) ratings are placed on 

review for 

downgrade. 

 

The Section 151 Officer has delegated responsibility to add or delete 

counterparties and to review limits to the Council’s treasury management 

advisors as detailed above. 

 

Where an entity’s credit rating is downgraded so that it fails to meet the 

minimum criteria, then. 

- No new investments will be made. 

- Any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be recalled 

or sold. 

- Full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of other existing 

investments with the affected counterparty. 

 

Where a credit rating is placed on ‘review’ for possible downgrade (also termed 

‘rating watch negative’ or ‘credit watch negative’) so that it may fall below the 

minimum approved credit criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn 

on the next working day will be made with that organisation until the rating 

review has been completed and its outcome known.  

 

This policy will not apply for ‘negative outlooks’ which indicate a long-term 

direction of travel rather than a possibility of an imminent downgrade. 
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Counterparty list and 

limits 

A full individual listing of banking* counterparties based on the criteria will be 

provided by the Council’s treasury management advisors. As credit ratings etc. 

are subject to change without notice, any changes will be advised by the Council’s 

treasury management advisors. 

 

* It may be impractical to determine a specific list of non-financial counterparties 

in whose securities investments might be made.  The minimum credit rating 

criteria, whether the security is secured or unsecured, and due diligence on the 

counterparty’s creditworthiness will determine its selection for investment. 

 

Details of credit rating 

agencies’ services and 

their application 

 

Limitations of credit 

ratings and other 

information on security 

of investments 

The Council considers the ratings of the main ratings agencies when making 

investment decisions. Credit rating agency information is just one of a range of 

instruments used to assess creditworthiness of institutions. 

 

The Authority understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, 

predictors of investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other 

available information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, 

including. 

- bail-in risk metrics 

- credit default swap prices,  

- financial statements,  

- information on potential government support / bail-in impact 

- reports in the quality financial press and analysis and advice from the 

Authority’s treasury management adviser. 

 

No investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts 

about its credit quality, even though it may meet the minimum credit rating 

criteria.  

Description of the 

general approach to 

collecting/using 

information other than 

credit ratings for 

counterparty risk 

assessment 

The Council’s Treasury Advisor, Arlingclose, provides timely information on 

counterparties, in terms of credit rating updates and economic summaries. 

Credit default swap information is received monthly, as well as information on 

share price.  

The Council’s Treasury Advisor also undertakes analysis on the balance sheet 

structure of key banking institutions to help inform the potential restructure (i.e. 

bail-in) of a bank’s unsecured liabilities should this be required by the regulatory 

authorities.  

 

Full individual listings of 

counterparties and 

counterparty limits 

An up-to-date individual listing of banking counterparties based on the criteria is 

maintained and saved in the Authority’s systems. As credit ratings etc. are subject 

to change without notice, an up-to-date lending list will be maintained on an 

ongoing basis.  
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Country, sector and 

group listings of 

counterparties and the 

overall limits applied to 

each, where appropriate 

Monetary limits for any one organisation (other than the UK government) are 

set with reference to [revenue reserves available to cover investment losses to 

minimise the impact on reserves in the case of a single default].  

The level of [revenue reserves], and therefore the monetary limit, will be 

reviewed at least annually.  

A group of entities under the same ownership will be treated as a single 

organisation for limit purposes.   

Limits are also placed on.  

- foreign countries, i.e. deposits with and CDs/bonds issued by non-UK 

organisations.  

- total amounts invested with one fund management company,  

- investments in brokers’ nominee accounts. 

Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count 

against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over 

many countries. 

 

Responsible Investment / 

ESG 

The Authority aims to be a responsible investor and will consider environmental, 

social and governance (ESG) issues when investing. 

ESG policy: The CIPFA Treasury Management Code requires local authorities 

to consider their counterparty policies considering environmental, social, and 

governance (ESG) information while recognising that there is not a developed 

approach to ESG for public sector organisations and not expecting authorities to 

use real-time ESG scoring/criteria for individual investments.  

When investing in banks and funds, the Authority will prioritise banks that are 

signatories to the UN Principles for Responsible Banking and funds operated by 

managers that are signatories to the UN Principles for Responsible Investment, 

the Net Zero Asset Managers Alliance and/or the UK Stewardship Code 2020. 

  

 

1.3 Liquidity Risk Management: Liquidity risk is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, 

that ineffective management of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the Council’s 

business/service objectives will be thereby compromised. 

 

1.3.1 Principle: The Section 151 Officer will ensure the Council has adequate though not excessive cash resources, 

borrowing arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the level of funds available to 

it which are necessary for the achievement of its business/service objectives. 

The Council will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business case for doing so and will only do so 

for the current capital programme or to fund future debt maturities. 

 

1.3.2 Schedule:  

Cash flow and cash 

Balances 

The Council will aim for effective cash flow forecasting and monitoring of cash 

balances and will maintain a single cash flow forecast to determine the maximum 

period for which funds may be prudently committed.  The forecast is compiled on 

a prudent basis to minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow on 

unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments. 
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Amounts of approved 

minimum cash 

balances and short-

term investments 

A balance in the region of £20m to deal with day to day cash flow fluctuations is 

maintained by investing money overnight with the Council’s bankers. 

 

The Council uses various Reserve Accounts, Call Accounts and Money Market 

Funds to manage its liquidity requirements These Accounts/Funds are named on 

the Council’s approved counterparty list.  The maximum balance on each of these 

accounts is reviewed and set as part of the Council’s investment strategy.  

Details of short-term 

borrowing facilities 

Temporary borrowing up to 1 year through the money market is available should 

there be a cash flow deficit at any point during the year.   

 

At no time will the outstanding total of temporary and long-term borrowing 

together with any bank overdraft exceed the Prudential Indicator for the 

Authorised Borrowing Limit agreed by the Council before the start of each financial 

year. 

Bank Overdraft and 

standby facilities 

The Council has an authorised overdraft limit with its bankers Barclays of £100,000 

at an agreed rate of 1% above base rate.  The facility is used as a contingency. 

 

Policy in terms of 

borrowing in advance 

of need 

The Council may need to borrow in advance of need where this is expected to 

provide the best long-term value for money.  Since amounts borrowed will be 

invested until spent, the Council may be exposed to the risk of both the loss of the 

borrowed sums, and that investment and borrowing rates may change during the 

intervening period.  These risks will be managed as part of the Council’s overall 

treasury risk management. 

 

The total amount borrowed will not exceed the authorised borrowing limit.  The 

maximum period between borrowing and expenditure is expected to be 2 years, 

although linking loans with particular items of expenditure is not required. 

 

1.4 Interest Rate Risk Management: Interest Rate risk is the risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest 

rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted burden on the Council’s finances, against which the Council has 

failed to protect itself adequately.   

 

1.4.1 Principle: The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing its net 

interest costs or revenues, in accordance with its treasury management policy and strategy and in accordance with 

TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements. 

It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create 

stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take 

advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates.  This should be 

subject to the consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications. 

The Council will ensure that any hedging tools such as derivatives are only used for the management of risk 

and the prudent management of financial affairs and that the policy for the use of derivatives is clearly 

detailed in the annual strategy. 

 

1.4.2 Schedule:  
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Proportions of 

fixed/variable rate 

debt/interest 

Borrowing/investments may be at a fixed or variable rate. 

 

In setting its forward Treasury Strategy on an annual basis, the Council will determine 

the necessary degree of certainty required for its plans and budgets but will, at the 

same time, allow sufficient flexibility to enable it to benefit from potentially 

advantageous changes in market conditions and level of interest rates and also to 

mitigate the effects of potentially disadvantageous changes. 

A fall in interest rates is beneficial for variable rate debt and short-term borrowing 

which needs to be refinanced, but not for variable rate investments. 

Conversely, a rise in interest rates is beneficial for short-term investments which can 

be reinvested at higher rates but will be a cost for variable rate borrowing or short-

term borrowing which needs to be refinanced.  

The Authority sets an Interest Rate Risk indicator as part of its Treasury Management 

Strategy to control exposure to interest rate risk.  This is set as  

(a) Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates and  

(b) Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates.  

 

The proportion of fixed and variable rate debt will be determined as part of the 

annual borrowing strategy to address the issues of affordability but without 

compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. The proportion will be 

kept under review on a regular basis. 

Managing changes to 

interest rate levels 

The main impact of changes in interest rate levels is to monies borrowed and invested 

at variable rates of interest. 

 

The Council will consider matching borrowing at variable rates with investments 

similarly exposed to changes in interest rates as a way of mitigating any adverse 

budgetary impact. 

 

The Council may determine it is more cost effect in the short-term to fund its 

borrowing requirement through the use of internal resources (‘internal borrowing’) 

or through borrowing short-term loans.  The benefits of such borrowing will be 

monitored regularly against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring 

borrowing or refinancing in future years when interest rates are expected to be 

higher.  

  

Alternatively, the Council may consider forward starting loans where the interest 

rate is agreed and fixed in advance but the cash is received in later years. This would 

enable certainty of cost be achieved without suffering a ‘cost of carry’ in the 

intervening period. 

 

Interest rate forecasts are provided by the Council’s advisors and are closely 

monitored by the Treasury Management Team. Variations from original estimates 

and their impact on the Council’s debt and investments are notified to the Treasury 

Management Board as necessary. 

 

For its investments, the Council also considers dealing from forward periods 

dependent upon market conditions.  The Council’s counterparty term limits will apply 

and will include the forward period of the investment.  

Negative interest 

rates 

Should economic conditions be such that the Bank of England sets Bank Rate at or 

below zero, this is likely to feed through into negative rates on short term, low risk 

investments.  In this event, security will be measured as receiving the contractually 

agreed amount at maturity, even if it is below the amount originally invested. 

1.5 Exchange Rate Risk Management: The risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an 

unexpected or unbudgeted burden on the Council’s finances against which the Council has failed to protect 
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itself adequately.  

1.5.1 Principle: The Council will manage any exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates to minimise any 

detrimental impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels.  

 

1.5.2 Schedule:  

 

Exchange rate risk 

management 

This Council does not, on a day-to-day basis, have foreign currency transactions or 

receipts.  The Council holds a Euro account for specific European joint working 

projects. Any unexpected receipts of foreign currency will be converted to sterling 

at the earliest opportunity.  

 

If the Council has a contractual obligation to make a payment in a currency other 

than sterling then forward foreign exchange transactions will be considered, with 

professional advice. 

 

At the present time statute prevents the Council borrowing in currencies other than 

Sterling. The Council has also determined that all its investments will be in sterling. 

 

 

1.6 Inflation risk 

Inflation risk, also called purchasing power risk, is the chance that the cash flows from an investment won’t 

be worth as much in the future because of changes in purchasing power due to inflation. 

1.6.1 Principle 

The Council will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and liabilities to inflation and will seek to 

manage the risk accordingly in the context of the whole organisation’s inflation exposures. 

 

Investments over 

one year 

Where balances are expected to be invested for more than one year, the Council 

will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing rate of 

inflation, to maintain the spending power of the sum invested. 

Contractual 

obligations linked to 

inflation 

The Council will identify all contractual obligations which are linked to inflation, 

whether receipts or payments, in relation to its treasury assets and liabilities and 

regularly review the financial impact of a <+/- 1%> increase/decrease in inflation from 

existing levels. 

 

1.7 Refinancing Risk Management: The risk that maturing borrowings, capital, project, or partnership 

financings cannot be refinanced on terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation for those 

refinancing, both capital and current (revenue), and/or that the terms are inconsistent with prevailing market 

conditions at the time. 

 

1.7.1 Principle: The Council will ensure that its borrowing and other long-term liabilities such as private financing and 

partnership arrangements are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so 

raised are managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which are competitive 

and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of market conditions prevailing at the 

time. 

 

It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a manner as to secure 

this objective, and will avoid overreliance on any one source of funding if this might jeopardise achievement of the 

above. 
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1.7.2 Schedule:  

Projected capital 

financing requirements 

Five-year projections are in place for capital expenditure and it’s financing or 

funding.  Financing will be from capital receipts, reserves and any grants or 

contributions awarded revenue resources or reserves. Funding will be from 

internal or external borrowing, as decided. 

 

As required by the Prudential Code, the Council will undertake Options 

Appraisal to evaluate the best capital expenditure financing route.  

 

The Council’s projected long-term borrowing requirement will be linked to the 

projected Capital Financing Requirement. 

 

Debt/ other capital 

financing profiling, 

policies and practices 

 

 

 

Liability Benchmark 

The Council will maintain through its treasury system – Logotech, reliable 

records of the terms and maturities of its borrowings, capital, project, and 

partnership funding and, where appropriate, plan and successfully negotiate terms 

for its refinancing.  

 

To assist with long-term borrowing decision making the Council creates, with 

advice and assistance from its treasury advisor, a ‘Liability Benchmark’ (LB) which 

forecasts the need to borrow over the medium- to longer-term.  

 

The LB is an important tool which considers maturing loans and represents an 

estimate of the cumulative amount of external borrowing the Authority must 

hold to fund its current capital and revenue plans while keeping treasury 

investments at the minimum level required to manage day-to-day cash flow. 

 

The LB is represented as a graph in the annual treasury management strategy. It 

will be updated regularly through the year by the Authority in conjunction with 

the treasury management advisors with developments and/or timing changes in 

the capital programme as well as changes to balance sheet resources. 

 

Based on the output of the Liability Benchmark and the Council’s outlook on 

interest rates, any longer-term borrowing will be undertaken in accordance with 

the Code and will comply with the Council’s Prudential Indicators and the Annual 

Treasury Management Strategy. 

 

Where the lender to the Council is a commercial body, the Council will aim for 

diversification in order to spread risk and avoid over-reliance on a small number 

of counterparties. 
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Policy on LOBO call 

options  

The Council’s debt portfolio includes loans borrowed on a LOBO (Lender’s 

Option Borrower’s Option) basis. 

 

The call dates for each LOBO loan are denoted within the Operations Folder 

and are referenced to the LOBO documentation.   

 

Prior to each call date, the Council will evaluate alternative funding sources for 

comparable interest rates/maturities.  

 

If the Lender exercises the call option (directly or via the broker) for a revision 

to the terms of the loan, the Council will thoroughly evaluate the new terms and 

additionally seek advice from the Council’s advisor. 

 

The Authority will exercise caution where the new rate offered by the lender on 

the LOBO is slightly lower than prevailing PWLB rates.  While the rate revision 

may look “cheaper” than PWLB debt, it only provides protection from further 

rate rises until the next option date. 

 
Should the lender exercise its call on the LOBO, it is important to remain within 
the timescale for the Authority to exercise its option, but not be rushed into a 
decision.   

   

Policy concerning limits 

on revenue 

consequences of capital 

financings 

The revenue consequences of financing the capital programme are included in 

cash flow models, annual revenue estimates and medium-term forecasts. 

 

1.8 Legal and Regulatory Risk Management: The risk that the Council itself, or a third party with which it 

is dealing in its treasury management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or regulatory 

requirements, and that the Council suffers losses accordingly. 

 

1.8.1 Principle: The Council will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with its statutory powers and 

regulatory requirements.  It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to all parties with whom it deals 

in such activities.  In framing its counterparty credit risk management policy under TMP1(1) Counterparty credit risk 

management, it will ensure that there is evidence of counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance in respect of 

the transactions they may effect with the Council, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged. 

 

The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its treasury management activities 

and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the 

organisation. 
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1.8.2 Schedule:  

References to 

relevant statutes 

and regulations 
statutory 
guidance and 
recognised codes 
of practice 

The treasury management activities of the Council shall comply fully with legal 

statute and the regulations of the Council such as: 

 Local Government Act 2003 

 Localism Act 2011 (in relation to general power of competence) 

 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 

Regulations 2003 and subsequent amendments 

 The Local Authorities (Contracting out of Investment Functions) Order 

1996 and subsequent amendments 

 MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments (2018 

Edition) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 

and Cross-sectoral Guidance Notes (2021 Edition) and Guidance Notes 

for Local Authorities 

 CIPFA The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 

(2021 Edition) and Guidance Notes for Practitioners 

 Relevant CIPFA Bulletins 

 Bank of England Money Markets Code (2021 Edition) and Explanatory 

Notes 

 Council’s Constitution including: 

 Standing Order relating to Contracts 

 Financial Regulations 

 Scheme of Delegation 

 

PWLB Borrowing 
HM Treasury have also issued guidance regarding PWLB lending which will apply 

to any loan arranged from 26th November 2020.  

The guidance is updated from time to time and can be found on  

https://www.dmo.gov.uk/responsibilities/local-authority-lending/lending-

arrangements/  

 

Procedures for 

evidencing the 

organisation’s 

powers/ authorities 

to counterparties 

To avoid the potential for illegal or irregular dealings in its treasury management 

activities the Authority will maintain and make available up-to-date records of its 

powers and of the regulatory regime under which the TM activities are undertaken. 

The Council’s Financial Regulations contain evidence of the power/ authority to act 

as required by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, under the general 

direction of the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 

The Council will confirm, if requested to do so by counterparties, the powers and 

authorities under which the Council effects transactions with them. 

 

Where required, the Council will also establish the powers of those with whom they 

enter into transactions, including any compliance requirements in respect of a duty 

of care and best practice.  

 

Required 

information from 

counterparties 

concerning their 

powers/ authorities 

Investments shall only be made with institutions on the Council’s authorised lending 

list or in securities which meet the Council’s approved credit criteria.    

 

The Council will only undertake borrowing from approved sources listed in TMP 4. 
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Statement on 

political risks and 

management of the 

same 

Political risk is managed by: 

 adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 

 adherence to Corporate Governance (TMP 12 – Corporate Governance) 

 adherence to the Statement of Professional Practice by the Section 151 

Officer 

 the roles of the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 

 

1.9 Operational Risk, including Fraud, Error and Corruption and Contingency Management: This is 

the risk that the Council fails to identify the circumstances in which it may be exposed to the risk of loss 

through fraud, error, corruption, or other eventualities in its treasury management dealings, and fails to 

employ suitable systems and procedures and maintain effective contingency management arrangements to 

these ends. It includes the area of risk referred to as operational risk. 

 

1.9.1 Principle: The Council will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the risk of loss 

through fraud, error, corruption, other eventualities in its treasury management dealings or external events.  

Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain effective contingency management 

arrangements, to these ends. 

1.9.2 Schedule as set out in table below 
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Details of systems 

and procedures to 

be followed, 

including Internet 

services 

Segregation of duties minimises the possibility of fraud and loss due to error, and is 

detailed in TMP5 Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, 

and dealing arrangements. 

 

1. Electronic Banking and Dealing 

(a) Banking: The Council’s online banking service provided by Barclays is subject to 

separate log-on and password control allowing varying levels of access.   Details of 

transactions and balances are available as required, and the system also holds historic 

data.  Officers having access to the bank’s online system are as follows: 

 Within the Treasury Management Function 

o Head of Finance 

o Lead Accountancy Manager 

o Lead Accountants 

o Service Accountants 

o Assistant Accountant 

o Finance Apprentice 

Officer access is reviewed at least 6 monthly or as necessary. 

 

(b) Access to the Council’s treasury management system, Logotech is limited to 

those officers listed below, each having a separate log-on and password.   

 Within the *Capital &Treasury Management Team to officers with direct 

Treasury Management functions or a supporting role.  

o Lead Accountancy Manager 

o Lead Accountants 

o Service Accountants 

o Assistant Accountant 

These also are reviewed at least 6 monthly or as necessary. 

 

(c) Access and use of the online ICD Portal, for our Money Market Funds and iDeal for 

Arlingclose dealing platform, is listed below: 

 For Fund Selection 

o Head of Finance 

o Lead Accountancy Manager 

 For Trading, the following members of the Treasury Management team 

o Lead Accountants 

o Service Accountants 

Full procedure notes covering the day to day operation of the on-line banking system 

and the treasury management system are documented.  

2. Standard Settlement Instructions (SSI) list : a list is maintained of named officers 

who have the authority to transact loans and investments   

 Brokers and counterparties with whom the Council deals direct are 

provided a copy of the SSI list. 

 A list of named officers with authority to borrow from the PWLB and invest 

with the Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility is also maintained with 

the PWLB/DMADF. 

 Money Market Funds/MMF portal clearing 

 Externally managed pooled funds. 

 Payment Authorisation:  

 Payments can only be authorised by an agreed  signatory(ies) of the Council, 

the list of signatories having previously been agreed with the Council’s bank. 

 Other payments made using online banking system and BACS payments can 

be authorised by an approved list of signatories. 

 Inflow and outflow of monies borrowed and invested will only be from 

the counterparty’s bank accounts. 

 Separate officers will carry out (a) dealing and (b) recording of transactions 

and disbursements. 

Page 71



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

22 

 

OFFICIAL 

Verification 
Loans and investments will be maintained in registers/treasury management system 

which will include fees and brokerage paid. 

Transactions will be cross-checked against broker notes, counterparty 

confirmations and PWLB loan schedules by verifying dates, amounts, interest rates, 

maturity, interest payment dates etc. 

When receiving requests for change of payment details, due care will be exercised 

to ascertain the bona fide of the request and avoid potential fraud.  Additional 

checks will be made through pre-existing contact details for the payee before 

amending payment details. 
Substantiation 

1. The Treasury Management system balances are reconciled with financial ledger 

codes at the end of each quarter and at the financial year end.  

2. Working papers are retained for audit inspection.  

3. The bank reconciliation is carried out monthly from the bank statement to Civica 

general ledger. 

Internal Audit 
Internal Audit carry out an annual regulatory review of the treasury management 

function including probity testing. See TMP7 Budgeting, accounting and audit 

arrangements. 

Contingency 

Management 
1. All treasury systems are retained on the Council’s network. Daily back-ups are 

taken and maintained, and network back-ups can be used by the service 

provider, DELT, to restore files, if necessary.  

2. Temporary off-site working facility: The officers who can avail of this facility 

following an emergency are The Treasury Management Officers who will 

individually be made aware of the procedures to follow.  

3. Electronic Banking System Failure: The Council’s bank including the mode of 

obtaining balance details and information on inflow/outflow of monies and 

instructions for CHAPS payments can be made over the phone.  Hard copies 

of contact details and account numbers are held onsite and work mobile phones 

will be made available. 

4. A Business continuity plan and IT disaster recovery.  

Insurance Cover 

details 
The Council has Fidelity Guarantee cover.  Details of the provider and cover are 

held by the Insurance Team. 

 

1.10 Price Risk Management: This is the risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the 

principal sums the Council borrows and invests, its stated treasury management policies and objectives 

are compromised, against which effects it has failed to protect itself adequately. 

 

1.10.1 Principle: This Council will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and objectives 

will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it invests and 

will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations. 

 

 

1.10.2 Schedule:  
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Details of approved 

procedures and limits 

for controlling exposure 

to investments whose 

capital value may 

fluctuate (gilts, CDs etc.) 

Investment instruments used by the external fund managers are subject to 

fluctuation in capital movements and exposed to interest rate risk.  In order to 

minimise these risks capital preservation is set as the primary objective and 

pursuit of investment performance should be commensurate with this objective. 

The Council may consider an investment in Pooled Funds with a Variable Net 

Asset Value (VNAV), as appropriate, in line with its treasury strategy and on 

advice from its treasury advisors.   

The value of the pooled funds will change in line with market prices and, in some 

instances, may also have a notice period prior to redemption. Such funds will 

therefore be used for longer investment periods.  The limits per fund/asset class 

will be as determined in the Council’s annual investment strategy.  

The Authority also sets monetary limits for the Price Risk prudential indicator as 

part of its TM strategy.  The purpose of this indicator is to control the Authority’s 

exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its 

investments. 

Accounting for 

unrealised gains/losses 
The method of accounting for unrealised gains or losses on the valuation of 

financial assets will comply with the Accounting Code of Practice.  

The statutory override for pooled funds in England – which requires fair value 

gains and losses to be taken to an unusable reserve unless the fund is sold will 

lapse from 1 April 2025.  This will mean that local authorities holding relevant 

pooled investment funds would need to recognise gains and losses in the fail 

value movements of those funds in their revenue accounts from 1 April 2025. 

Responses to a further December 2025 consultation were published by MHCLG 

on 3 February 2025 Provisional local government finance settlement 2025 to 

2026 consultation: summary of responses - GOV.UK .  There is 

acknowledgment on the financial position of the sector, and the responses 

received by MHCLG that there may be a case for additional transitional support 

for historic investments.  Monitoring of the Treasury Management budget 

2025/26 will incorporate the fair value risk arising from the ending of the 

statutory override and to consider any further announcements from the 

government as they continue to work with the sector on this matter. 
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2 TMP 2: PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

 

2.1 Principle: The Council is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its treasury management activities, and to the 

use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the framework set out in its treasury management policy 

statement. 

 

Accordingly, the treasury management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the value it adds in support 

of the Council’s stated business or service objectives.  It will be the subject of regular examination of alternative 

methods of service delivery, or the availability of fiscal or other grant or subsidy incentives, and of the scope for other 

potential improvements.  CIPFA supports the use of risk benchmarks in measuring treasury management 

performance. 

The performance of the treasury management function will be measured using the criteria set out below. 

2.2 Schedule:  

Policy concerning 

methods for testing 

value for money  

Best value reviews will include the production of plans to review the way services are 

provided by  

 Challenging 

 Comparing performance 

 Consulting with other users and interested parties. 

 Applying competition principles 

To pursue continuous improvement in the way the Council’s functions are exercised, 

having regard to a combination of value for money, efficiency, and effectiveness. 

Policy concerning 

methods for 

performance 

measurement 

 Performance measurement at this Council is intended to calculate the 

effectiveness of treasury activity in delivering the strategic objectives set through 

the Treasury Management Strategy and the Council’s Prudential Indicators and 

to enhance accountability.   

 

 Prudential Indicators are local to the Council and are not intended as a 

comparator between authorities.  

 

 The performance review will be made in the light of general trends in interest 

rates during the year and how the decisions made corresponded with these 

trends and the Council’s agreed strategy, i.e. the Council will avoid hindsight 

analysis.   

 

Any comparison of the Council’s treasury portfolio against recognised industry 

standards, market indices and other portfolios is intended to 

(i) allow the Council the opportunity to assess the potential to add value through 

changes to the existing ways in which its portfolio is managed and  

(ii) permit an informed judgement about the merits or otherwise of using new 

treasury management techniques or instruments. 

 

In drawing any conclusions, the Council will bear in mind that the characteristics of 

its treasury operations may differ from those of other councils, particularly regarding 

the effective management of risk. 
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Methodology to be 

applied for 

evaluating the 

impact of treasury 

management 

decisions.  

 

 

Monitoring of the outcome of treasury management activity against Prudential 

Indicators approved by the Council will be carried out as part of the budget 

monitoring reports to the Treasury Management Meetings throughout the year. 

The year-end Annual Treasury Report will also include, as a matter of course, the 

outturn against the PIs set prior to the commencement of the financial year and any 

in-year amendments.      

The Council’s Treasury Management advisers review the existing borrowing and 

investments, and they produce a quarterly report to review the Council’s position 

and benchmark this against other local authorities.  

The Council participates in the Treasury Management Advisor’s quarterly 

investment benchmarking as well as the Treasury Management Advisor’s annual 

Balance Sheet and Debt benchmarking. 

Methodology to be 

employed for 

measuring the 

performance of the 

Council’s treasury 

management 

activities 

Treasury management activity is reviewed half yearly against strategy and prevailing 

economic and market conditions through the treasury monitoring report to Audit 

and Governance Committee. 

The report will include:  

a) CFR Funding Ratio (gross borrowing as a % of the Loans CFR) 

b) Gross and Net Borrowing; Leverage Ratio (gross borrowing as a proportion 

of net borrowing) 

c) Average rate on gross borrowing vs weighted average maturity. 

d) The effect of new borrowing and/or maturities on the above 

e) An analysis of any risks inherent within the debt portfolio (e.g. exposure to 

variable rate; LOBOs in their call period) 

f) Total investments including average rate and maturity profile. 

g) The rate of return on investments against their indices for internally and 

externally managed funds 

h) An analysis of any risks inherent within the investment portfolio (e.g. exposure 

to market movements in the value of CDs, gilts/bonds, callable deposits in 

their call period) 

i) A statement whether the treasury management activity resulted in a breach 

of the Prudential Indicators and other limits set within treasury strategy. 

j) Daily bank balances: any major deviations from the target bank balances. 
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Benchmarks and 

calculation 

methodology with 

regard to risk and 

return 

Treasury Management Costs –   

Costs are split into Debt Management, Investment Management and Other.  

Investment Management invested, and Debt Management Cost of debt. 

 

Investment returns are reported and compared with current market returns. 

 Internally Managed Investment Returns - total interest accruing during the 

month or year on average daily balances invested during the calendar month. 

 Externally Managed Investment Returns - the growth (i.e. increase in value of 

the fund) in respect of the monthly average value of the fund. 

 Credit risk and credit profile 

 Volatility of funds operation on a variable net asset value (VNAV) basis. 

Debt Management 

 Average Rate on external debt borrowed in financial year. 

 Average period to maturity of external debt 

 Average period to maturity of new loans in financial year 

 Ratio of PWLB and market debt (beginning and end of period) 

 Ratio of fixed and variable rate debt (beginning and end of period) 

 Percentage of debt maturing in (i) 12 months and (ii) 12-24 months which 

will need refinancing. 

 Percentage of LOBO loans with call frequency of (i) six months, (ii) 12 

months, (iii) 2 years (iv) 3-5 years (v) greater than 5 years 

 

 

Policy concerning 
methods for testing 
value for money in 
treasury 
management 

The treasury management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the value 

it adds in support of the Council’s stated corporate and service objectives.  

 

When tendering for treasury-related or banking services, the Council adheres to its 

Financial Regulations.  These require that: 

 

a) For placing a contract with a value below £100k, at least 3 quotes are required, 

for contracts between £100k - £150k 5 quotes are required.  Above this a formal 

tender is required. 

b) When placing a contract with a value more than £172.5k, a tendering process 

that meets the requirements of the EU procurement procedures (OJEU) is 

undertaken.  

c) If necessary, the Council will also consult with other users of similar services as 

well as with interested parties. 

d) The Council will also evaluate alternative methods service delivery. 
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3 TMP 3: DECISION-MAKING AND ANALYSIS 

 

3.1 Principle: The Council will maintain full records of its treasury management decisions, and of the processes and 

practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of learning from the past, and for demonstrating 

that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that all issued relevant to those decisions were taken into account at the 

time.  

The guidance on decision making states that relevant due diligence should take place on all transactions. In respect 

of investment decisions, the organisation should consider the risks to capital and returns and the implications for 

the organisation’s future plans and budgets. 

The issues to be addressed and processes and practices to be pursued in reaching decisions are detailed below. 

 

3.2 Schedule: 

Capital expenditure and 

investment plans 

The 2017 Prudential Code requires the Council to look at capital expenditure 

and investment plans in the light of overall organisational strategy and resources 

and ensure that decisions are being made with sufficient regard to the long run 

financing implications and potential risks to the Council.  

Effective financial planning, option appraisal and governance processes are 

essential in achieving a prudential approach to capital expenditure, investment, 

and debt. 

The Prudential Code encourages determining spending priorities and affordability 

criteria.  The fundamental objective in the consideration of the affordability of the 

Authority’s capital plans is to ensure that the total capital investment of the 

authority remains within sustainable limits. 

In considering the affordability of the capital plans, the Council is required to 

consider all of the resources available to it or estimated for the future, together 

with the totality of the capital plans, income and expenditure forecasts. 

Major treasury decisions As a public service organisation, there is a requirement to demonstrate openness 

and accountability in treasury management activities.  Accordingly, the Council 

will create and maintain an audit trail of major treasury management decisions 

which comprise either: 

a) Changes to Prudential Indicator(s) during the financial year 

b) Options Appraisal to determine a funding decision 

c) raising a new long-term loan / long-term source of finance 

d) prematurely restructuring/redeeming an existing long-term loan(s) 

d) investing longer-term (i.e. more than 1 year) 

f) utilisation of investment instruments which constitute capital expenditure (i.e. 

loan capital/share capital in a body corporate) 

g) leasing 

h) change in banking arrangements 

i) appointing/replacing a treasury advisor 

j) appointing/replacing a fund manager 

k) any other determined by the Council 
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Borrowing purpose 
The 2021 Prudential Code is clear that to comply with this Code, an authority 

must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return. 

It is not prudent for the Authority to make any investment or spending decision 

that will increase the capital financing requirement, and so may lead to new 

borrowing, unless directly and primarily related to the Authority’s functions and 

where any financial returns are either related to the financial viability of the 

project in question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose. 

The Statutory Guidance of Local Authority Investments in England 2018 

considers that borrowing in advance of need purely to profit from the 

investment of the extra sums borrowed is against the principles in the statutory 

framework. If the Authority chooses not to comply with this principle in order 

to invest in property or other financial assets for commercial return, then the 

Authority must make additional disclosures about the reasons for doing so.  

 

Process 

 

Liability benchmark [LB]: The Liability Benchmark is a long-term measure of 

the underlying need to borrow for all purposes over the long term and is based 

on its current capital programme and other forecast cash flow movements.  

 

It is a tool to compare the current loans portfolio against the current and planned 

need to borrow, in terms of both the level and term of borrowing.  It indicates 

whether long term borrowing (or long-term investments if the Authority is a net 

investor) are more appropriate. 

 

The LB an important borrowing risk management measure and will be inclusive 

in the decision-making process to prevent over-borrowing; it will also therefore 

form part of the Authority’s audit trail justifying long-term borrowing decisions.  

 

The Council’s strategy for the application of its treasury policy is set out in the 

annual Treasury Management Strategy. 

 

A rolling monthly cashflow forecast will be prepared for the ensuing 12 months 

and will include the financing, borrowing and surplus cash requirements of the 

Council, for the purpose of: 

 applying the strategy on a day-to-day basis 

 monitoring the results of the strategy 

 recommending amendments to the strategy to the Council where 

applicable during the course of the year. 

Delegated powers for 

treasury management 

The Section 151 Officer has delegated powers to carry out the Council’s strategy 

for debt management, capital finance and borrowing, depositing surplus funds and 

managing the cash flows of the Council.   
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Issues to be addressed, 

evaluation, 

authorisation. 

 

Borrowing objective:  

The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an 

appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving 

certainty of those costs over the period for which funds are required.  The 

flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term plans change is a 

secondary objective. 
In exercising these powers, the Section 151 Officer and those to whom the 

treasury activity has been delegated will  

 have regard to the nature and extent of any associated risks to which 

the Council may become exposed and put in place effective mechanisms 

for risk management and mitigation. 

 be certain about the legality of the decision reached and that the 

necessary authority to proceed has been obtained. 

 be satisfied that the documentation is appropriate to deliver the 

Council’s objectives, protect the Council’s interests, and to maintain an 

effective audit trail. 

 ensure that the perceived credit risk associated with the approved 

counterparties parties is judged satisfactory and is within agreed limits. 

 be satisfied that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked 

against the market and have been found to be competitive; is this being 

carried out. 

 follow best practice in implementing the treasury transaction. 

 

In exercising Borrowing and Funding decisions, the Section 151 Officer will with 

advice from the council’s Treasury Management Advisors: 

 evaluate economic and market factors that may influence the manner and 

timing of any decision to fund. 

 evaluate the amount, structure, and duration of new borrowing and the 

timing thereof in relation to the Authority’s planned borrowing needs 

(e.g. by use of a liability benchmark) 

 consider alternative forms of funding, including use of revenue resources, 

leasing and private partnerships. 

 consider the use of internal resources and/or the most appropriate 

periods to fund and repayment profiles to use. 

 consider ongoing revenue liabilities created. 

 where applicable, regularly monitor the benefits of internal borrowing 

against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing 

into future years. 

  

The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate 

balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from 

defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. 

 

In exercising Investment decisions, the Section 151 Officer will: 

 Determine that the investment is within the Council’s strategy and pre-

determined instruments and criteria. 

 consider the risks to capital and returns and the implications for the 

Authority’s future plans and budgets, including implications of any 

market-related changes to the value of the capital invested. 

 consider whether monies can be used in lieu of externally borrowing. 

 consider the optimum period, in the light of core balances and reserves, 

cash flow availability and prevailing market conditions. 

 the credit risk associated with unsecured investments with banks and 

building societies. 

consider the alternative investment products and techniques available if 

appropriate. 
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Processes to be 

followed 

The processes to be followed will be in keeping with TMP 4: The Council’s 

Approved, Instruments, Methods and Techniques.  

Evidence and records to 

be kept 

The Council will maintain a record of all major treasury management decisions, 

the processes undertaken and the rationale for reaching the decision made.  

These will allow for an historical assessment of decisions made and verification 

that any checks and safeguards are indeed in place and operating correctly.  

 

Records and working papers will be maintained by the Council electronically 

and/or in relevant files. 

Other Prior to each of the Authority’s LOBO loan call date, the Authority will take a 

proactive approach and determine the response should the LOBO loan be called 

and evaluate alternative funding sources for comparable interest rates/maturities. 

 

If the Lender exercises the call option (directly or via the broker) for a revision 

to the terms of the loan, the Authority will thoroughly evaluate the new terms 

and additionally seek advice from the Authority’s advisor. 

 

The Authority will exercise caution where the new rate offered by the lender on 

the LOBO is slightly lower than prevailing PWLB rates.  While the rate revision 

may look “cheaper” than PWLB debt, it only provides protection from further 

rate rises until the next option date. 

 

It is important to remain within the timescale for the Authority to exercise its 

option should the call be made, but not be rushed into a decision.   

. 
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4 TMP 4: APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES 

 

4.1 Principle: The Council will undertake its treasury management activities by employing only those instruments, 

methods and techniques detailed in the schedule to this document, and within the limits and parameters defined in 

TMP1 Risk Management. 

Where the Council intends to use derivative instruments for the management of risks, these will be limited to those 

set out in its annual treasury strategy. The Council will seek proper advice and will consider that advice when entering 

into arrangements to use such products to ensure that it fully understands those products. 

 

The consideration of skills and experience is particularly critical where organisations request to be treated 

as professional clients under MIFID II. Designation under MIFID II should be endorsed by the treasury 

management strategy and regularly reviewed to ensure that designation remains appropriate.” 

 

4.2 Schedule: 

Approved treasury 

management activities 

The Council is permitted to undertake the following activities: 

 Managing cashflow 

 Capital financing.  

 Borrowing including debt restructuring and debt repayment 

 Lending to third party organisations  

 Redemption of investments 

 Banking 

 Leasing 

 Managing the underlying risk associated with the Council’s capital financing 

and surplus funds activities.  

 

The above list is not finite, and the Council would, from time to time, consider 

and determine new financial instruments and treasury management techniques; 

however, the Council will consider carefully whether the officers have the skills 

and experience to identify and manage the advantages and risks associated with 

using the instruments/techniques before undertaking them, more so as some risks 

may not be wholly or immediately transparent. 
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Approved capital 

financing methods and 

types/sources of funding 

 long term money market loans including forward starting loans and LOBOs 

 temporary money market loans (up to 364 days) 

 bank overdraft 

 loans from bodies such as the European Investment Bank (EIB) 

 Stock issues 

 Deferred Purchase 

 Government and EU Capital Grants 

 Lottery monies 

 Other Capital Grants and Contributions 

 Private Finance Initiative 

 Leasing 

 Hire purchase. 

 Sale and leaseback   

 

The Authority may also use internal resources:  

 Capital Receipts  

 Revenue Balances 

 Reserves 

 

Approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing include 

 HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loans 

Board) *  

 National Wealth Fund Ltd (formally UK Infrastructure Bank Ltd) 

 Any institution approved for investments. 

 Any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK 

 UK public and private sector pension funds (except [your local] Pension 

Fund) 

 UK Municipal Bonds Agency and other special purpose companies created to 

enable local authority bond issues. 

 Capital Grant funders offering loans (eg Salix) 

 

* HM Treasury has issued guidance regarding PWLB lending which will apply to 

any loan arranged from 26 November 2020 with a revision published on 23 

November 2023  PWLB Guidance for Applicants - changes post 

DLUHC.docx 

 

 

The level of debt will be consistent with the Treasury Management Strategy and 

the Prudential Indicators.  
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Approved treasury 

investment 

instruments 

The Council will determine through its Annual Investment Strategy (AIS) which 

instruments it will use, giving priority to the security and liquidity (in that order) 

of its invested monies.  The investments will be categorised as ‘Specified’ or ‘Non 

Specified’ based on the criteria set out by the MHCLG in its Investment 

Guidance March 2018 (as amended).  

 

The Annual Investment Strategy should be approved by full Council. 
 
The Council will determine through the AIS which instruments will be used in-
house and which will be used by the appointed external fund manager(s) 
including the maximum exposure for each category of non-specified 
investments.  Where applicable, the Council’s credit criteria will also apply. 
 

The Council will, where applicable, use the Council’s credit criteria. 

 

examples 

 Deposits with the UK government, the Debt Management Agency Office 

(DMO), and UK local authorities 

 Term deposits with banks and building societies.  

 Banks and building societies unsecured short-term (call and notice 

accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit) 

 Certificates of deposit 

 Callable deposits 

 Investments in Money Market Funds, i.e. ‘AAA’ liquidity funds with a 60-

day Weighted Average Maturity (WAM)  

 Treasury Bills 

 Gilts 

 Bonds issued by multilateral development banks. 

 Sterling denominated bonds by non-UK sovereign governments. 

 Covered bonds (i.e. those with underlying collateral) 

 Unsecured corporate bonds 

 Reverse Repurchase Agreements (‘reverse repos’) 

 Investments with Registered Providers of Social Housing (i.e. housing 

associations) 

 Commercial paper 

 Floating Rate Notes 

 

The Council will ensure it maintains the skills and experience necessary to 

evaluate the benefits and control the risks associated with the above 

investment instruments. 
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Investments that are 

not part of treasury 

management activity 

These are investments which the Council invests in other financial assets and 

property primarily for financial return. Such activity includes loans supporting 

service outcomes, investments in subsidiaries and the investment property 

portfolio.   

 

The Council ensures that it has the same robust procedures for the 

consideration of risk and return and  

• ensures that all investments, including non-treasury investments are 

covered in the Capital Strategy. 

• maintains a schedule of existing material investments, subsidiaries, joint 

ventures, and liabilities including financial guarantees.  

Contribution: The Authority will disclose in its Annual Investment Strategy and 

the Capital Strategy the contribution that non-treasury investments make to the 

overall financial and/or service delivery objectives of the Authority.  In this 

regard, where appropriate the Authority will group individual investments into 

categories. 

 

The Authority has also set an additional Prudential indicator: “Net income from 

commercial and service investments to net revenue stream”. In calculating net 

income only direct costs such as property management are netted off gross 

income, not related interest and MRP costs.  

 

The Informal Commentary to the 2018 Investment Guidance also recommends 

that the Authority’s Investment Strategy include for existing and planned 
investments: 

 quantitative indicators that allow Councillors and the public to assess 

both the opportunities of the investments as well as the total risk 
exposure as a result of its investment decisions over both, the payback 
period and over the repayment period of any debt taken out (the 
indicators are not mandatory but should be taken as examples);  

 how investments are funded and the rate of return received. 

 

Proportionality: Should the Authority become or plans to become dependent 

on profit generating investment activity to achieve a balanced revenue budget, 

the Investment Strategy will:  

 detail the extent to which funding expenditure to meet the service 

delivery objectives is dependent on achieving the expected net profit 

[MHCLG suggested indicator “Commercial Income to NSE (net service 

income) ratio”] 

 outline the Authority’s contingency plans should it fail to achieve the 

expected net profit.  

 

The Informal Commentary to the Investment Guidance also recommends that 

the Authority set a limit that cannot be exceeded for gross debt compared to 

net service expenditure. 
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Use of Derivatives Financial derivatives:  

The Authority will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, 

forwards, futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to 

reduce the overall level of the financial risks that the Authority is exposed to. 

Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative counterparties, 

will be taken into account when determining the overall level of risk. Embedded 

derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting 

transactions, will not be subject to this policy, although the risks they present 

will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy.  

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 

meets the approved investment criteria, assessed using the appropriate credit 

rating for derivative exposures. An allowance for credit risk calculated using the 

methodology in this TMP document will count against the counterparty credit 

limit and the relevant foreign country limit. 

In line with the CIPFA Code, the Authority will seek external advice and will 

consider that advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it 

fully understands the implications. 

Additionally, the use of derivatives is restricted to only those officers who have 

completed the appropriate training for their use. 

Embedded derivatives: Derivatives embedded into loans and investments, 

including pooled funds and forward starting transactions, may be used, and the 

risks that they present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk 

management strategy.  

MiFID II professional 

client status 

The Council has reviewed its classification with financial institutions under MiFID 

II and has registered as a professional client. 

 

The consideration of skills and experience is particularly critical where the 

Council has requested to be treated as a professional client under MiFID II.  

Designation under MiFID II will be endorsed by the treasury strategy and 

reviewed frequently to ensure the designation remains appropriate. 

 

Legal Entity Identifier 

(LEI) 

The Council is registered with the London Stock Exchange as a Local Operating 

Unit to obtain a Legal Entity Identifier (LEI). 
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5 TMP 5: ORGANISATION, CLARITY AND SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES, AND 

DEALING ARRANGEMENTS 

 

5.1 Principle: The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring of its treasury 

management activities, for the reduction of the risk of fraud or error, and for the pursuit of optimum performance, 

that these activities are structured and managed in a fully integrated manner, and that there is at all times a clarity 

of treasury management responsibilities. 

 

The principle on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those charged with setting treasury management 

policies and those charged with implementing and controlling these policies, particularly with regard to the execution 

and transmission of funds, the recording and administering of treasury management decisions, and the audit and 

review of the treasury management function. 

 

If and when the Council intends, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances, to depart from these principles, 

the Section 151 Officer will ensure that the reasons are properly reported in accordance with TMP6 Reporting 

requirements and management information arrangements, and the implications properly considered and evaluated. 

 

The Section 151 Officer will ensure that there are clear written statements of the responsibilities for each post engaged 

in treasury management, and the arrangements for absence cover.  The Section 151 Officer will also ensure that at 

all times those engaged in treasury management will follow the policies and procedures set out. The present 

arrangements are detailed in the schedule below.  

 

The Section 151 Officer will ensure there is proper documentation for all deals and transactions, and that procedures 

exist for the effective transmission of funds. The present arrangements are detailed in the schedule below. 

 

The delegations to the Section 151 Officer in respect of treasury management are set out in the schedule below.  The 

Section 151 Officer will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement and TMPs 

and, if a CIPFA member, the Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

 

 

5.2 Schedule: 

 

 

See Appendix 1 for Organisation Charts 

 

 

 

5.3 Schedule:  

Limits to 

responsibilities  at 

Executive levels 

Full Council: receiving and reviewing: 

 Prudential Indicators (Capital Expenditure, Authorised Limit, Operational 

Boundary)  

 Treasury Management Strategy including the Annual Investment Strategy  

 Capital Financing Strategy  

 Receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices 

and activities responsibility has been delegated to the Audit and Governance 

Committee 

 

The Cabinet: 

 approval of amendments to adopted clauses, treasury management policy 

statement, Treasury Management Strategy  and Capital Financing Strategy 

 budget consideration and approval 

 receiving and reviewing external audit reports and acting on 

recommendations has been delegated to the Audit and Governance 

committee 
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Principles and 

practices concerning 

segregation of 

duties 

The segregation of duties will be determined by the Treasury Management Lead 

Accountancy Manager. 

 

Segregation of duties exists in that: 

 the officers responsible for negotiating and closing treasury management deals 

also record the transactions in the cash book and completing bank 

reconciliations but are separate from the officer(s) who authorise the deals 

and any payments. 

 all borrowing/investments decisions must be authorised by the Section 151 

officer or other nominated authorised officers (see below), depending on 

authorisation levels. 

 

 

Statement of duties/              

responsibilities of 

each treasury post 

Including absence 

cover arrangements 

The Section 151 Officer 

 Submit budgets and budget variations in accordance with Financial 

Regulations and guidance. 

 Recommend clauses, treasury management policy / practices for approval, 

reviewing the same on a regular basis, and monitoring compliance. 

 Determine Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Strategy 

including the Annual Investment Strategy. 

 In setting the prudential indicators, be responsible for ensuring that all 

matters are considered and reported to the Council so as to ensure the 

Council’s financial plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable in the long 

term. 

 Establish a measurement and reporting process that highlights significant 

variations from expectations. 

 Submit regular treasury management reports as required to the Audit and 

Governance Committee. 

 Receiving and reviewing management information reports. 

 Review the performance of the treasury management function and promote 

best value reviews. 

 Ensure the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 

function. 

 Ensure the adequacy of internal audit and liaising with external audit. 

 Recommend on appointment of external service providers in accordance 

with council standing orders. 

 Provide regular updates to relevant Cabinet Members. 

 Delegated authority to approve loans over 1 year and investments up to 10 

years. 

 Delegated authority to approve loan repayments/rescheduling. 

 The Section 151 Officer may delegate his power to borrow and invest to 

the Head of Finance, Lead Accountancy Manager, Lead Accountant and 

Service Accountants as appropriate. 
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 Head of Finance 

 The responsibilities of this post will include covering the full responsibilities 

of the Section 151 Officer in their absence. 

 Delegated authority to approve loans over 1 year and investments up to 50 

years.  

 Delegated authority to approve loan repayments/rescheduling. 

 Submit budgets and budget variations in accordance with Financial 

Regulations and guidance. 

 Establish a measurement and reporting process that highlights significant 

variations from expectations. 

Lead Accountancy Manager 

 Prepare draft Treasury Management Policy, Treasury Management strategy 

and investment strategy, mid-year and annual Treasury Management report 

and Treasury Management Practices. 

 Recommend early repayment of debt over one year and subject to the 

approval of the Section 151 Officer, or the Head of Finance arrange the 

repayment of these loans. 

 Prepare budget for capital financing including all treasury management loan 

and investment activities including MTFS. 

 Submitting management information reports to the Treasury Management 

Board, Section 151 Officer and Head of Finance.  

Lead Accountancy Manager and Lead Accountant 

 To provide cover in the absence of the Service Accountants cover the full 

responsibilities of this post. 

 Maintaining relationships with third parties and external service providers 

and reviewing their performance. 

 Adherence to agreed policies and practices on a day-to-day basis. 

 Identifying and recommending opportunities for improved practices. 

 Authority to borrow for periods up to 1 year and lending up to 3 months. 

Lending more than 3 months subject to the agreement of the Section 151 

Officer or Head of Finance.   

 Following approval by the Section 151 Officer undertake all borrowing over 

1 year and deposits/investments up to 10-year maturity. 

 Make recommendations on all lending up to 10 years and borrowing over 1 

year maturity.  

 Updating the Treasury Management Board with information on credit 

ratings, share prices, economic and press news impacting on the credit 

quality of the Council’s deposits.  

Service Accountant 

 Negotiates and closes treasury management deals and records the 

transaction and payments obtaining authorisation as described above. 

 Carrying out the execution of transactions  

 Monitoring performance on a day-to-day basis. 

 Identifying and recommending opportunities for improved practices. 

 Using the counterparties list provided by the Council’s Treasury 

Management advisers. 

 Maintaining the Council’s cash flow forecast ensuring funds are available to 

meet the Council’s financial commitments. 

Cover is reviewed at least every 12 months, or as necessary. 

Full procedure notes are available, detailing the processes required to enable 

the day-to-day operation of the treasury management function. 
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Absence cover 

arrangements 

Cover in the absence of the relevant treasury management officer is provided by 

(depending on authorisation levels): 

Head of Finance 

Lead Accountancy Manager 

Lead Accountant 

Service Accountant 

Description of the 

relationships 

between the chief 

finance officer, the 

monitoring officer 

and the head of paid 

service. 

 

 

The Council’s Section 151 Officer (Chief Finance Officer) is being undertaken by 

the Service Director for Finance who reports to the Chief Executive.  The Head of 

Legal Services (Monitoring Officer) reports to the Chief Executive.  Both posts are 

statutory Chief Officers and form part of the Councils Management Team. 

 

5.4 Dealing 

Authorised officers Responsible officer for borrowing/investment decisions:  

 

Borrowing activity:  

 Section 151 Officer 

 Head of Finance 

 Lead Accountancy Manager 

Lending activity: 

 Section 151 Officer 

 Head of Finance 

 Lead Accountancy Manager 

 

Authorising payments for borrowing/lending  

 Overnight; 

o Service Accountant 

 Under 1 year 

o Lead Accountancy Manager 

 Over 1 year 

o Section 151 Officer 

o Head of Finance 

Transaction recording:  

 Lead Accountant  

 Service Accountant 

 

Dealing limits Internally Managed Investments: 

 Deposits up to 3 months with unlimited value with the Debt 

Management Office or Money Market Funds, £20m with a Local 

Government organisation or £20m with an approved bank or 

building society subject to the limits detailed in the Council’s 

Annual Treasury Management Strategy and the approved lending 

list. 
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PWLB lending 
facility – terms and 
conditions  

 

The lending arrangements for PWLB loans are provided by HM Treasury.   

PWLB Guidance for Applicants - changes post DLUHC.docx 

HM Treasury has issued new guidance regarding PWLB lending which applies 

to any loan arranged from 26 November 2020. This guidance was updated on 

23 November 2023. 

PWLB Guidance for Applicants - changes post DLUHC.docx 

 

The current terms and application process are in Operational Circular 163, 

applicable to loans arranged from 21/10/21.   

20210721_DMO_Operational circular 163_Aug21.docx 

a. Applications are completed using the PWLB’s electronic template. In 

addition to loan details, the form includes qualifying questions to be 

submitted during the PWLB’s operational hours (0930-1615). 

b. A Loan Conditional Confirmation letter is received.  The loan 

application is subject to a review by HM Treasury. If no 

queries/objections are raised by trade date + 4, the loan advance is 

made on trade date + 5. 

Any changes to PWLB terms as documented in subsequent circulars will be 

communicated to all officers in the Treasury Management Finance Team. 

 

PWLB authorised 
dealers 

Dealers authorised to transact with the PWLB are: 

 David Northey Section 151 Officer 

 Oliver Woodhams Head of Finance 

 Helen Slater, Deputy Head of Finance 

 Wendy Eldridge Lead Accountancy Manager 

 Carolyn Haynes Lead Accountancy Manager 

 

A complete list of officers authorised to transact with the PWLB, and any 

amendment thereto, is provided to the PWLB using the authorisation 

amendment form available on the website.   

 

Dealing platforms / 

portals 

iDealTrade and Money Market Fund portals used by the Council 

 

List of approved 

brokers 

Brokers used by the Council are named in TMP 11: External Service 

Providers 

 

Policy on brokers’ 

services 

It is the Council’s policy to utilise the services between at least three brokers. 

The Council will maintain a spread of business between them in order to avoid 

relying on the services of any one broker.  

    

Policy on taping of 

conversations 

Conversations with brokers are taped by the brokers, but not by the 

Council. 

Direct dealing 

practices 

Direct dealing is carried out with institutions and with externally managed 

pooled funds identified in the Operational Schedule subject to counterparty 

and maturity limits and dealing limits. 

Prior to undertaking direct dealing, the Council will ensure that each 

counterparty / fund has been provided with the Council’s list of authorised 

dealers and the Council’s Standard Settlement Procedures. 
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Inter-authority 

dealing 

The Council also deals with other local government authorities to invest and 

borrow funds for treasury management purposes.  

 

In addition to transactions conducted through brokers, deals are conducted 

direct with other authorities and also via the iDealTrade execution-only 

dealing platform.   

 

A record of all deals, together with their specific terms, will be maintained 

by the Council. 

Deal Ticket pro-

forma 

Deals will be recorded as per the deal ticket pro-forma  

(pro-forma maintained at operational level) 

 

Settlement 

transmission 

procedures 

 settlements are made by CHAPS. 

 all CHAPS payments relating to settlement transactions requires 1 

signature by Lead Accountant or Service Accountant. 

 all CHAPS payments relating to settlement transactions require 

authorisation by a Lead Accountancy Manager or Head of Planning and 

Reporting 

 the details are transmitted online to the Council’s bankers. 

Documentation 

requirements 
For each deal undertaken a record should be prepared giving details of dealer, 

amount, period, counterparty, interest rate, dealing date, payments date(s), 

broker. 

 Investments 

 deal ticket authorising  the investment 

 confirmation from the broker  

 confirmation from the counterparty 

 Contract notes for purchase and sale of shares/units in pooled funds  

from the fund’s manager/administrator  

 Chaps payment transmission document 

 

Loans: 

 deal ticket with signature to agree loan 

 confirmation from the broker 

 confirmation from PWLB/market counterparty 

 Chaps payment transmission document for repayment of loan. 

 

Arrangements 

concerning the 

management of 

counterparty funds 

 The Treasury Management Lead Accountancy Manager has 

responsibility for updating the Council’s records with any credit 

developments. 

 The Treasury Management Lead Accountancy Manager is tasked with 

the responsibility for checking that records have been correctly 

updated to reflect any credit developments. 
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6 TMP 6: REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 

ARRANGEMENTS 

 

6.1 Principle: The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the implementation of its 

treasury management policies; on the effects of decisions taken and transactions executed in pursuit of those policies; 

on the implications of changes, particularly budgetary, resulting from regulatory, economic, market or other factors 

affecting its treasury management activities; and on the performance of the treasury management function. 

 

As a minimum, the Council and Audit and Governance Committee  will receive: 

 An annual report on the Treasury Management Strategy and plan to be pursued in the coming year 

 A mid-year review 

 An annual report on the performance of the treasury management function, on the effects of the 

decisions taken and the transactions executed in the past year, and on any circumstances of non-

compliance with the organisation’s treasury management policy statement and TMPs. 

 

The Strategic Treasury Management Board will receive regular monitoring reports on treasury management 

activities and risks. 

 

The Audit and Governance Committee  will have responsibility for the scrutiny of treasury management 

policies and practices. 

 

The present arrangements and the form of these reports are outlined below. 

 

6.2 Schedule: 

Clauses to be adopted as 

part of the Authority’s 

Standing Orders 

 

Treasury Management 

Policy Statement 

The recommended clauses to be adopted as part of the Authority’s standing 

orders, financial regulations or other formal policy documents is in Section 5 of 

the 2021 Treasury Management Code. 

The Treasury Management Policy Statement is a short document defines the 

policies and objectives of the Authority’s treasury management activities.  

The recommended text for adoption is provided by CIPFA in Section 6 of the 

2021 Treasury Management Code.  

The Treasury Management Policy Statement is adopted by Full Council 
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Prudential Indicators 
The Authority will cover the Prudential Indicators in its annual strategy 

documents determined before the beginning of each financial year: 

Capital Strategy 

 Estimates of Capital 

expenditure 

 Estimates of Capital financing 

requirement (CFR) 

 Gross debt and the CFR 

 Authorised Limit and 

Operational Boundary for 

External Debt 

 Proportion of financing costs 

to net revenue stream 

 Net income from commercial 

and service investments to 

net revenue stream (note here 

that only direct costs such as 

property management can be 

netted off gross income, not 

related interest and MRP costs) 

Treasury Management 

Strategy 

 Liability benchmark (from 

2025/26) 

 Maturity structure of 

borrowing  

 Long-term treasury 

management investments  

 Interest rate exposures  

 Credit risk * 

 Price risk * 

 

* Recommended but not mandatory indicator.  

The 2021 Prudential Code Guidance Notes cover indicators for Affordability 

and Prudence (pages 41-61). The 2021 Treasury Management Code Guidance 

Notes cover treasury indicators (pages 15-24).  CIPFA’s definitions are cross-

referenced to the respective Codes.  

Prudential indicators will be reported to quarterly.  
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Capital Strategy: 
This document, approved by Full Council annually before the start of each 

financial year, gives a high-level overview of (i) how capital expenditure, capital 

financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of 

services, (ii) management of the associated risk is managed and (iii) implications 

for future financial sustainability.   

 

The Capital Strategy should include: 

 Capital expenditure, including the approval process, long-term financing 

strategy, asset management, maintenance requirements, planned 

disposals and funding restrictions. 

 Commercial activities, including due diligence processes, the Council’s 

risk appetite, proportionality in respect of overall resources, 

requirements for independent and expert advice and scrutiny 

arrangements. 

 Long-term context in which capital expenditure decisions are made for 

the above, risk and reward considerations and impact on the 

achievement of priority outcomes. 

 Debt management, including projections for the level of borrowing, 

capital financing requirement and liability benchmark, provision for the 

repayment of debt, the authorised limit and operational boundary for 

the coming year and the Council’s approach to treasury management. 

 Other long-term liabilities, such as financial guarantees. 

 Knowledge and skills, including a summary of that available to the 

Council and its link to the Council’s risk appetite. 

The strategy should include sufficient detail to allow all members to understand 

how stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability will 

be secured and to meet legislative requirements on reporting. 

 

The Section 151 Officer will report explicitly on the affordability and risk 

associated with the Capital Strategy and, where appropriate, have access to 

specialised advice to enable the members to reach their conclusions. 

 

The Section 151 Officer will also ensure that where detailed information is 

required, this will be made available in a format to encourage active 

engagement and, if necessary, any associated training needs of members.  

 

 

Frequency of executive 

reporting requirements 

The Section 151 Officer will annually submit budgets and will report on budget 

variations as appropriate. 

 

The Section 151 Officer will submit the Prudential Indicators as part of the 

Treasury Management Strategy and to report on the projected borrowing and 

investment strategy and activities for the forthcoming financial year to the 

Council before the start of the year. 

 

The Annual Treasury Report will be prepared as soon as practicable after the 

financial year end and, in all cases, before the end of September.   

 

A Mid-Year Treasury Report will be prepared by the Section 151 Officer, which 

will report on treasury management activities for the first part of the financial 

year. The report will also provide a forecast for the current year. The Mid-Year 

Report will be submitted to Audit and Governance Committee during the year. 
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Content of Reporting:  

Prudential Indicators 

The Council will set the following Prudential Indicators, revise if necessary, and 

in its annual / semi-annual reports publish 45actual outturn (where 

appropriate) in respect of: 

 Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream (estimate; actual) 

 Capital expenditure (estimate; actual) 

 Capital Financing Requirement (estimates; actual) 

 Authorised limit for external debt 

 Operational boundary for external debt 

 Forecast external debt 

Treasury indicators 

 Upper and lower limits to maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing 

 Upper limit to total of principal sums invested longer than 364 days. 

 

The Prudential Indicators are approved and revised by Council and are 

integrated into the Council’s overall financial planning and budget process.  

The 2021 Prudential Code Guidance Notes cover indicators for Affordability 

and Prudence (pages 41-61). The 2021 Treasury Management Code Guidance 

Notes cover treasury indicators (pages 15-24).  CIPFA’s definitions are cross-

referenced to the respective Codes.  

 

The Audit and Governance Committee will also receive a copy of this report 

to carry out its scrutiny role of treasury management. 

Treasury Strategy 

Statement including the 

Annual Investment 

Strategy 

This document, approved by Full Council annually before the start of each 

financial year, covers  

External Context: economic background; credit outlook; interest rate forecast 

Local context: 

- Balance sheet summary and forecast and an explanation of the movements 

- Liability benchmark 

- The existing investment and debt portfolio position 

- The Authority’s borrowing strategy; approved sources of borrowing and 

other sources of debt finance; (if applicable) LOBOs 

- The Authority’s Treasury investment strategy, ESG policy for investments, 

approved investment instruments, counterparties and time/monetary limits; 

minimum credit ratings (where applicable) and risk assessment;  

- Treasury management prudential indicators 

- Related matters -e.g. use of financial derivatives 

- MiFID II status 

- Financial implications of the strategy 

Page 95



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

46 

 

OFFICIAL 

Investment Strategy This strategy covers the requirements of the 2018 MHCLG (now DLUHC) 

Investment Guidance, including the investment indicators. It covers: 

- Treasury management investments 

- Service investments (.e.g. loans to or shares in subsidiaries / suppliers / 

local businesses / local charities / housing associations / local residents / 

employees] and their contribution; limits; risk assessment 

- Commercial investments - property (MHCLG defines property to be an 

investment if it is held primarily or partially to generate a profit), its 

contribution towards the service delivery objectives and/or place making 

role of the Authority; risk and security assessments;  

- Loan commitments and financial guarantees 

- Proportionality - the extent to which the expenditure planned to meet the 

service delivery objectives and/or place making role of the Authority is 

dependent on achieving the expected net profit from investments over the 

lifecycle of the Medium Term Financial Plan.   

- Borrowing in advance of need (if relevant) 

- Capacity, Skills and Culture of elected members and statutory officers 

involved in the investments decision making process  

- Investment indicators 

o Total investment exposure 

o Investments funded by borrowing 

o Investment Rate of Return (net of all costs) 

o Other indicators such as: Debt to net service expenditure ratio; 

Commercial income to net service expenditure ratio 

 

3. Annual Treasury 

Outturn Report 

The Section 151 Officer will produce an annual report for the Audit and 

Governance Committee on all activities of the treasury management function 

(including the performance of investment groups) as soon as practicable after 

year end and in all cases no later than 30 September of the succeeding financial 

year. 

 

The main contents of the report will comprise: 

 confirmation that the Council calculated its budget requirements and set a 

balanced budget for the Financial Year; 

 the prevailing economic environment  

 a commentary on treasury operations for the year, including their revenue 

effects; 

 commentary on the risk implications of treasury activities undertaken and 

the future impact on treasury activities of the Council 

 compliance with agreed policies/practices and statutory/regulatory 

requirements 

 compliance with Prudential Indicators; 

 performance measures. 

 training /continuous professional development undertaken by treasury 

officers. 

 

The Audit and Governance Committee will also receive a copy of this report 

to carry out its scrutiny role of treasury management. 
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4. Mid-Year Treasury 

Report 

The Section 151 Officer will produce a mid-year report for Council on the 

borrowing and investment activities of the treasury management function for 

the first six months of the financial year. 

 

The main contents of the report will comprise: 

 the prevailing economic and credit environment 

 economic forecast (including interest rates forecast) 

 a commentary on treasury operations (borrowing and investments) for 

the period, including their revenue effects 

 commentary on the risk implications of treasury activities undertaken 

and the overall impact on the treasury portfolio 

 any future implications for the treasury portfolio 

 compliance with agreed policies/practices and statutory/regulatory 

requirements 

 performance measurement 

 training /continuous professional development undertaken by treasury 

officers 

 

The Audit and Governance Committee will also receive a copy of this report 

to carry out its scrutiny role of treasury management. 

Content and frequency of 

management information 

reports 

The Lead Accountancy Manager for Treasury Management provides 

information of the council’s Treasury Management activities in a dashboard 

report and also through Key Performance Indicators report to senior 

management. 

 

This reports includes details of: 

 borrowing and investment activity undertaken 

 performance of internal and external investments 

 cash flow monitoring 

 average interest rates for borrowing and investments 

 any other, e.g. details of daily bank balances against target balances 

 

 

The Lead Accountancy Manager for Treasury Management provides 

information of the Council’s Treasury Management activities to the Council’s 

advisors who provide full report to the Treasury Management Board 3-4 times 

a year. 
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7 TMP 7: BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS 

 

7.1 Principle: The Section 151 Officer will prepare, and the Council will approve and, if necessary, from time to time 

will amend, an annual budget for treasury management, which will bring together all of the costs involved in running 

the treasury management function, together with associated income.  The matters to be included in the budget will at 

minimum be those required by statute or regulation, together with such information as will demonstrate compliance 

with TMP1 Risk management, TMP2 Performance measurement, and TMP4 Approved instruments, 

methods and techniques.  The form which the Council’s budget will take is set out in the schedule below.   

 

The Section 151 Officer will exercise effective controls over this budget, and will report upon and recommend any 

changes required in accordance with TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information 

arrangements. 

 

The Council will account for its treasury management activities, for decisions made and transactions executed, in 

accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards, and with statutory and regulatory requirements in 

force for the time being.  The present form of the Council’s accounts is set out in the schedule.  

 

The Council  will ensure that its auditors, and those charged with regulatory review, have access to all information 

and papers supporting the activities of the treasury management function as are necessary for the proper fulfilment 

of their roles, and that such information and papers demonstrate compliance with external and internal policies and 

approved practices.  The information made available under present arrangements is detailed below. 

7.2 Schedule:  

Statutory/regulatory 

requirements 
Balanced Budget Requirement: The provisions of S32 and S43 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992 require this Council to calculate its budget 

requirement for each financial year including, among other aspects:,  

(a) the expenditure which is estimated to be incurred in the year in performing 

its functions and which will be charged to a revenue account and  

(b) revenue costs which flow from capital financing decisions.   

 

S33 of the Act requires the Council to set a council tax sufficient to meet 

expenditure after taking into account other sources of income. 

 

Accounting practices and 

standards 
 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and subsequent 

amendments 

 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 

Regulations 2003 and subsequent amendments  

 MHCLG Capital finance: guidance on minimum revenue 

provision (5th edition) - GOV.UKCIPFA/LASAAC Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK (2025/26 Edition) 

 Relevant CIPFA Bulletins 

 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 

 IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 

 IPSAS 28 Financial Instruments: Presentation 

 IPSAS 30 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

 IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments 
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https://www.ifrs.org/content/ifrs/home/issued-standards/list-of-standards/ias-32-financial-instruments-presentation.html/content/dam/ifrs/publications/html-standards/english/2022/issued/ias32.html
http://www.ifac.org/system/files/publications/files/B1-IPSAS-28_0.pdf
http://www.ifac.org/system/files/publications/files/B3-IPSAS-30_0.pdf
http://www.ifac.org/system/files/publications/files/C1-IPSAS-41_0.pdf
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Financial Statements 
 The Financial Statements comprise: 

 A Narrative Report 

 Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 

 Annual Governance Statement 

 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (Group and 

Authority) 

 Movement in Reserves Statement 

 Balance Sheet (Group and Authority) 

 Cash Flow Statement (Group and Authority) 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 

 Collection Fund 

 Remuneration Report 

 Glossary and abbreviations 

 

 

Format of the Council’s 

accounts 

The current form of the Council’s accounts is available online at 
www.plymouth.gov.uk/aboutcouncil/councilfinancesandaccounts/statementacc

ounts 

Disclosures relating to 

treasury management 
Notes to the annual Statement of Accounts include: 

 Financial Instruments – Financial Assets, Financial Liabilities; Income, 

Expense, Gains and Losses on Financial Instruments 

 Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

 Nature and Extent of Risks arising from Financial Instruments: Credit Risk, 

Liquidity Risk, Refinancing and Maturity Risk, Market Risks  (Interest rate 

risk, Price risk and Exchange Rate Risk) 

The Authority will exercise judgement on the level of detail to be disclosed 

about particular financial instruments, taking into account the relative 

significance of those instruments.  

So that the information is comprehensible, material information should not be 

obscured by immaterial information or by aggregating material items that have 

different natures or functions. 
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Treasury-related 

information requirements 

of external auditors 

The following information is specifically requested by the external auditor and 

should be considered an initial request for information.  It is usually followed 

by more detailed audit testing work which often requires further information 

and/or explanations from the Council’s officers. 

 

Information is this context includes internally generated documents including 

those from the Council’s Treasury Management System, externally generated 

documents, observation of treasury management practices which support and 

explain the operation and activities of the treasury management function. 

 

 Determination of Affordable Borrowing Limit under Section 3 of the Local 

Government Act 2003. 

 Prudential Indicators. 

 Treasury Management Strategy including Annual Investment Strategy. 

 

External borrowing: 

 New loans borrowed during the year : PWLB certificates / 

documentation in relation to market loans borrowed (including copy 

of agreements, schedule of commitments) 

 Loan maturities.  

 Compliance with proper accounting practice, regulations and 

determinations for the amortisation of premiums and discounts arising 

on loans restructured during the year and previous years. 

 Analysis of loans outstanding at year end including maturity analysis. 

 Analysis of borrowing between long- and short-term 

 Debt management and financing costs 

 calculation of (i) interest paid (ii) accrued interest 

 interest paid 

 MRP calculation and analysis of movement in the CFR. 

 Bank overdraft position. 

 Brokerage/commissions/transaction related costs. 

 

 Investments: 

 Investment transactions during the year including any transaction-related 

costs 

 cash and bank balances at year end 

 short-term investments at year end 

 long-term investments at year end (including investments in associates and 

joint ventures) by asset type, including unrealised gains or losses at year 

end 

 calculation of (i) interest received (ii) accrued interest 

 actual interest received 

 external fund manager valuations including investment income schedule 

and movement in capital values, transaction confirmations received (if any) 

 basis of valuation of investments 

 evidence of existence and title to investments (e.g. Custodian’s Reports.  

  schedule of any investments in companies together with their latest 

financial statements); statement of transactions between the company 

and the Council. 
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Cash Flow 

 Reconciliation of the movement in cash to the movement in net debt  

 Cash inflows and outflows (in respect of long-term financing) 

 Cash inflows and outflows (in respect of purchase/sale of long-term 

investments) 

 Net increase/decrease in (i) short-term loans (ii) short-term deposits (iii) 

other liquid resources 

Other  

 Amounts which are held on behalf of schools, amounts which are held by 

schools under delegated schemes 

 Details of (treasury-related) material events after balance sheet date not 

reflected in the financial statements. 

 External advisors’/consultants’ charges 

 

Internal Audit 
Internal Audit conducts a review of the treasury management function and 

probity testing on an annual basis. 

The internal auditors will be given access to treasury management 

information/documentation as required by them. 

Compliance with CIPFA 

Treasury Management 

and Prudential Codes 

 

Auditors may require evidence/demonstration of compliance with external and 

internal treasury management policies and strategy. 

 

Any serious breach of the TM Code’s recommendations or Prudential 

Indicators should be brought to the attention of the external auditor. 

 

Costs for treasury 

management 

The budget for treasury management forms part of the Finance budget. 
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8 TMP 8: CASH AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT 

 

8.1 Principle: Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of the Council will 

be under the control of the Section 151 Officer and will be aggregated for cash flow and investment management 

purposes.  Cash flow projections will be prepared on a regular and timely basis, and the Section 151 Officer will 

ensure that these are adequate for the purposes of monitoring compliance with TMP1 [2] liquidity risk 

management, and for the purpose of identifying future borrowing needs (using a liability benchmark where 

appropriate).  The present arrangements for preparing cash flow projections and their form are set out in the 

schedule below. 

 

8.2 Schedule: 

Arrangements for 

preparing /submitting 

cash flow statements  

Cash flow forecasts will be viewed over one time horizons and will be used to 

formulate the Council’s borrowing and investment strategy by identifying 

periods of surplus or shortfall of cash balances.   

 

The cash flow forecasts and statements are held at operational level. 

 

The accuracy and effectiveness of the Council’s cash flows are dependent on 

the accuracy of estimating expenditure, income and their corresponding time 

periods.  

 

An outline medium-term cash flow model is prepared as part of the MTFP 

budget process, with projections for 2 further years. It is highly summarised 

and looks mainly at cash flows arising from the capital programme, the in-year 

capital financing requirement, scheduled loan repayments and long-term 

investment maturities, and anticipated movements in reserves.  

 

A detailed annual cash flow is prepared for the financial year once the 

budget for the ensuing year has been agreed, which is monitored and updated 

on a monthly basis. It identifies the major inflows and outflows on a month by 

month basis.  

It is prepared using the agreed revenue budget and capital programme for the 

financial year and based on the knowledge obtained from the Council’s various 

service sections incurring the expenditure /receiving the income and can be 

supplemented by the experience from previous years. 

 

Daily cash flows show forecast and planned movements of cash on a daily 

basis, including the matching of known inflows and payments. This is recorded 

in the excel cashflow document. 

Liability Benchmark (LB) The LB is helps establish whether the Authority is likely to be a long-term 

borrower or long-term investor in the future and represents an estimate of the 

cumulative amount of external borrowing the Authority must hold to fund its 

current capital and revenue plans while keeping treasury investments at the 

minimum level to manage day-to-day cash flow. 

 

The LB will be updated regularly through the year by the Authority with 

developments and/or timing changes in the capital programme as well as changes 

to balance sheet resources. 

 

Please see TMP 5 for more information on its use. 
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Content and frequency of 

cash flow projections 

The detailed annual cash flow model includes the following: 

 revenue income and expenditure based on the budget. 

 profiled capital income and expenditure as per the capital programme. 

 

Revenue activities:  

Inflows: 

 Revenue Support Grant 

 Precepts received 

 Non domestic rates receipts 

 NDR receipts from national pool 

 Council tax receipts 

 DSS / other government grants 

 Cash for goods and services 

 Other operating cash receipts 

 

Outflows: 

 Salaries and payments on behalf of employees 

 Operating cash payments 

 Housing Benefit paid 

 Precepts paid 

 NDR payments to national pool 

 Payments to the capital receipts pool 

 

Capital activities including financing 

Inflows: 

 Capital grants received 

 Sale of fixed assets 

 Other capital cash receipts 

 

Outflows: 

 Purchase of fixed assets 

 Purchase of long-term investments 

 Other capital cash payments 

 

Financing, Servicing of Finance/Returns on Investments 

Inflows:  

 New long-term loans raised 

 New short-term loans raised 

 Interest received 

 Discount on premature repayment of loan 

 

Outflows: 

 Loan repayments  

 Premium on premature repayment of loan 

 Short-term investments 

 Capital element of finance lease rental payments 

 Interest paid 

 Interest element of finance lease rental payments 
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Monitoring, frequency of 

cash flow updates 

The annual cash flow statement is updated monthly with the actual cash 

inflows and outflows after taking account of any revisions including those 

relating to grant income and capital expenditure and will be reconciled with: 

 net RSG and NDR payments as notified;  

 actual salaries and other employee costs paid from account bank 

statements; 

 actual payments to Inland Revenue from general account bank 

statements; 

 actual council tax received; 

 actual housing benefit; 

 actual capital programme expenditure and receipts.   

 

Bank statements 

procedures 

The Council receives online bank statements uploaded on a daily basis.   These 

are posted independent of the treasury function and are reconciled to the 

general ledger on a monthly basis. 

 

Payment scheduling The Council has a policy of paying suppliers in line with agreed terms of trade 

and the following service standards: 

 Small and medium enterprises (SME’s – business employing up to 250 

people) to be paid within 15 days of receipt of invoice. 

 All other creditors to be paid within 30 days of receipt of invoice. 

Monitoring debtor/ 

creditor levels 

Debtor levels are monitored by a monthly Sundry Debtors Monitoring Report 

which will include an analysis of debt by age and details and details of recovery 

status.   

 

The level of Creditor invoices being processed / remaining unpaid is monitored 

on a daily basis by the Transaction Centre. A report is produced within three 

days of the BACS run with details all BACS and cheque payments for the next 

day in advance and recorded in the cashflow spreadsheet. 

 

Banking of funds Instructions for the banking of income are set out in the Financial Regulations.  

Cash and cheques received in the cashiers section are banked weekly.   

 

All the Council’s sections are advised of the requirement to bank on a regular 

basis in order to comply with recommended best practice and also remain 

within the particular insurance limits for the Council’s premises.  

 

Listing of sources of 

information 

The treasury function receives cash flow information from the following 

persons/departments: 

Type of Information Source 

Capital Spend and Receipts Capital Accounting Team 

Government Grants Logasnet 

Payroll Delt Services 

Debtors and Creditors Transaction Centre 

Loans and Deposits Treasury Management Team 

Other income and payments Finance colleagues 
 

Practices concerning 

prepayments to obtain 

benefits 

The following practices concerning prepayments are followed to obtain 

benefits: 

All prepayments must be authorised by the approved signatory in the 

respective department. 
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9 TMP 9: MONEY LAUNDERING 

 

9.1 Background: The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002 consolidated, updated and reformed criminal law 

in the UK in relation to money laundering.  The principal offences relating to money laundering are: 

 Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property from England and 

Wales, from Scotland or from Northern Ireland 

 Being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows or suspects facilitates the acquisition, 

retention use or control of criminal property 

 Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 

 

Other offences include failure to disclose money laundering offences, tipping off a suspect either directly or 

indirectly, and doing something that might prejudice an investigation. 

 

9.2 Principle: The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to involve it in a 

transaction involving the laundering of money.  Accordingly, it will maintain procedures for verifying and recording the 

identity of counterparties and reporting suspicions, and will ensure that staff members involved in this are properly 

trained.  The present arrangements, including the name of the officer to whom reports should be made, are detailed 

in the schedule below. 

 

9.3 Schedule:  

Anti money laundering 

policy 
This Council’s policy is to prevent, wherever possible, the organisation and its 

staff being exposed to money laundering, to identify the potential areas where 

it may occur and to comply with all legal and regulatory requirements, 

especially with regard to the reporting of actual or suspected cases.  

The Council has accepted responsibility to ensure that those of its staff who 

are most likely to be exposed to money laundering can make themselves fully 

aware of the law and, where necessary, are suitably trained.  
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Main offences relating 

to money laundering 
The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002 established the main offences 

relating to money laundering. In summary, these are: 

•  concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal 

property from England and Wales, from Scotland or from Northern Ireland 

•  being concerned in an arrangement that a person knows or suspects 

facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property 

•  acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 

These apply to all persons in the UK in a personal and professional capacity. 

Any person involved in any known or suspected money laundering activity in 

the UK risks a criminal conviction. 

Other offences include: 

 failure to disclose money laundering offences 

•  tipping off a suspect, either directly or indirectly 

•  doing something that might prejudice an investigation – for example, 

falsifying a document. 

The Terrorism Act 2000 made it an offence of money laundering to become 

concerned in an arrangement relating to the retention or control of property 

likely to be used for the purposes of terrorism or resulting from acts of 

terrorism.  

All individuals and businesses in the UK have an obligation to report knowledge, 

reasonable grounds for belief or suspicion about the proceeds from, or finance 

likely to be used for, terrorism or its laundering, where it relates to information 

that comes to them in the course of their business or employment.  
Treasury 

documentation 
The Council will reflect the anti-money laundering measures it has in place as 

part of its treasury documentation. Such measures include: 

― Awareness of what constitutes money laundering; 

― The obligation to report knowledge of/having reasonable grounds to 

believe an offence might be committed; 

― Maintaining up-to-date direct dealing and SSI mandates with counterparties 

Nomination of 

Responsible Officer(s) 
(a) The Council has nominated the Section 151 Officer to be the responsible 

officer(s) to whom any suspicions relating to transactions involving the 

Council will be communicated.    

 

(b)  The Section 151 Officer will be conversant with the requirements of the 

Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and will ensure relevant staff are appropriately 

trained and informed so they are alert for suspicious transactions.  

 

(c) The Section 151 Officer will make arrangements to receive and manage the 

concerns of staff about money laundering and their suspicion of it, to make 

internal enquiries and to make reports, where necessary, to National 

Criminal Intelligence Services (NCIS). 
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Procedures for 

establishing the Identity 

of Lenders and 

Borrowers 

(a) In the course of its treasury activities, the Council will only borrow from 

permitted sources identified in TMP 4. 

(b) The Council will not accept loans from individuals.  

(c) In the course of its treasury activities, the Council will only invest with 

those counterparties which are on its approved lending list. 

(d) The identity and authenticity of commercial institutions (banks, building 

societies and other financial institutions) authorised to carry out 

borrowing and lending activity in the UK will be checked via the Bank of 

England/Prudential Regulation Authority’s website  

 https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/prudential-

regulation/authorisations/which-firms-does-the-pra-regulate  

(e) All receipts/disbursements of funds will be undertaken by BACS or 

CHAPS settlement. 

(f) Direct Dealing mandates: The Council will provide (in the case of lending) 

/ obtain (in the case of borrowing) and maintain on file dealing mandates 

with any new money market counterparty.  The mandates should be on 

letter-headed paper, dated and signed.   

(g) All banking transactions will only be undertaken by the personnel 

authorised to operate the Council’s banks accounts. 

(h) If the Council takes/provides loans from individuals, it will establish robust 

procedures for verifying and recording the appropriate financial and 

personal information of such individuals. 

(i) When receiving requests for change of payment details, due care will be 

exercised to ascertain the bona fide of the request and avoid potential 

fraud.  Additional checks will be made through pre-existing contact details 

for the payee before altering payment details.  
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10 TMP 10: TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS 

 

10.1 Principle: The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the treasury management 

function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated to them. It will therefore seek to 

appoint individuals who are both capable and experienced and will provide training for staff to enable them to acquire 

and maintain an appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills.  The Section 151 Officer will recommend and 

implement the necessary arrangements, including the specification of the expertise, knowledge and skills required by 

each role or member of staff. 

The Section 151 Officer will ensure that council members tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including 

those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to their needs and responsibilities. 

Those charged with governance recognise their individual responsibility to ensure that they have the necessary skills 

to complete their role effectively. 

The present arrangements are detailed in the schedule below. 

10.2 Schedule:  

Qualifications/ 

experience for treasury 

staff 

Part or fully qualified or training towards qualification of one of the accepted 

accountancy bodies, i.e. CIPFA, ACA, ACCA, CIMA. 

Member of the Association of Accounting Technicians (AAT) part or fully 

qualified. 

Attend treasury training as provided by our Treasury Advisors, CIPFA and 

the auditors. 

Details of approved 

training courses 

The courses/events the Council would expect its treasury personnel to 

consider are: 

 Training courses for Accounting, Auditing, Best Value/Competition, 

Budgeting, Capital Finance & Borrowing, or Financial Management. 

 Any courses/seminars run by Treasury Management advisors. 

 Attending CIPFA seminars and workshops. 

 Attend external auditors training 

 Training attended by those responsible for scrutiny of the treasury 

function 

 

The Council participates in CIPFA training and workshops for CPD 

development purposes.  

Records of training 

received by treasury 

staff 

Treasury-related training records are maintained by the Lead Accountancy 

Manager for Treasury Management. 

 

Training received by 

those charged with 

governance 

Training on Treasury Management should be provided for those 

people/committees responsible for governance of treasury management.  
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11 TMP 11: USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS 

 

11.1 Principle: The Council recognises that responsibility for the treasury management decisions remains with the 

organisation at all times. It recognises the potential value of employing external providers of treasury management 

services, in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources.  When it employs such service providers, it will 

ensure it does so for reasons which will have been submitted to a full evaluation of the costs and benefits.  It will also 

ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly 

agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. It will ensure, where feasible and necessary, that a spread 

of service providers is used, to avoid overreliance on one or a small number of companies.  Where services are subject 

to formal tender or re-tender arrangements, legislative requirements will always be observed.  The monitoring of such 

arrangements rests with the Section 151 Officer, and details of the current arrangements are set out in the schedule 

below. 

11.2 Schedule:  

Contract threshold 
The Council’s Financial Regulations require that a formal contract is in place 

with external service providers where the contract value is £200k and above. 

The contract will clearly state the services to be provided and the terms on 

which they will be provided.  

Details of service 

providers and 

procedures and 

frequency for tendering 

services 

 

(a)    Bankers to the Council  

  Barclays Bank 

     3 Bedford Street 

     Exeter 

     EX1 1LX 

     Tel: 0330 1560 008  

  Contract period: 1 January 2023 ends 31 December 2025  

   

 (b)  Treasury advisor 

   Arlingclose Limited  

       217 Strand, London, WC2R 1AT 

           Tel: 08448 808 200  

  Contract period:  New contract commences 1 April 2025 to 31 March 

2026. 
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Details of service 

providers and 

procedures and 

frequency for tendering 

services (cont’d) 

 

 

   

(c) Brokers:  

 It is considered good practice for the Council to have at least two brokers 

and to spread business between them.  

 

       Tullett Prebon Limited 

  135 Bishopsgate, London, EC2M 3TP  

Tel: 020 7200 7042 

 

King & Shaxson 

       155 Fenchurch Street, London, EC3M 6AL  

Tel: 020 7426 5950 

  

      Tradition (UK),  

      Beaufort House, 15 St. Botolph Street, London, EC3A 7QX 

Tel: 020 7422 3566 

   

           Martin Brokers (UK) Plc, 

1 Snowden Street, London, EC2A 2DQ 

Tel: 020 7894 8698 

 

BGC Brokers 

5 Churchill Place, London, E14 5RD 

Tel: 020 7894 7742 

 

Imperial Treasury Services 

5 Port Hill, Hertford, SG14 1PJ 

Tel: 01992 945550 

 

Arlingclose Limited  

217 Strand, London, WC2R 1AT 

 Tel: 08448 808 200 

 

Regulatory status of 

services provided 
All financial services providers are regulated by the Financial Conduct 

Authority (FCA). 

Details of service 

provided by Treasury 

Advisor 

The Council will seek to take expert advice on interest rate forecasts, annual 

treasury management strategy, debt rescheduling and use of various 

borrowing and investment instruments. 

The responsibility for borrowing, investments and risk management remains 

with the Council 
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Bribery Act 
The Council is mindful of the requirements of the Bribery Act 2011 in its  

dealings with external providers 

12 TMP 12: CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

12.1 Principle: The Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout its businesses and 

services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can be achieved.  Accordingly, the treasury 

management function and its activities will be undertaken with openness and transparency, honesty, integrity and 

accountability. 

 

The Council has adopted and has implemented the key principles of the Treasury Management Code of Practice. 

This, together with the other arrangements detailed in the schedule below, are considered vital to the achievement 

of proper corporate governance in treasury management, and the Section 151 Officer will monitor and, if and when 

necessary, report upon the effectiveness of these arrangements. 

 

12.2 Schedule:  

Stewardship 

responsibilities 

 

The S151 Officer ensures that systems exist to deliver proper financial 

administration and control and maintaining a framework for overseeing and 

reviewing the treasury management function. 

 

List of documents to be 

made available for public 

inspection. 

The following documents are freely available for public inspection: 

 

 Annual Statement of Accounts 

 Council’s Annual Budget 

 5 Year Capital Budget 

 Treasury Management Strategy  

 Annual Investment Strategy (which will include treasury and non-

treasury investments) 

 Minimum Revenue Provision policy  

 Capital Finance Strategy 

 Budget Monitoring Reports 

 Annual and Mid-Year Treasury Report 

 

Council’s website. Financial information is additionally available on the Council’s website.  

 

Procedures for 

consultation with 

stakeholders. 

Members and senior officers of the Council are consulted via reports to the 

Audit and Governance Committee and officer/member briefing sessions.   
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TMP 13:  INVESTMENTS THAT ARE NOT PART OF TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITY 

13 The Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily for financial return, 

taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful investment management.  Such activity 

includes loans supporting service outcomes, investments in subsidiaries, and investment property 

portfolios. 

The Council will ensure that all the organisation’s investments are covered in the capital strategy, 

investment strategy and will set out, where relevant, the Council’s risk appetite and specific policies and 

arrangements for non-treasury investments.  It is recognised that the risk appetite for these activities may 

differ from that for treasury management. 

The Council will maintain a schedule setting out a summary of existing material investment, subsidiaries, 

joint ventures and liabilities including financial guarantees and the organisation’s risk exposure. 

The Council recognises that many of the principles underlying TMPs 1 to 12 will apply to non-treasury 

investments as they do to treasury investments.  However, some aspects are likely to differ significantly, 

and these are laid out below.  A published schedule has been agreed by Council that sets out the 

investment practices for non-treasury investments and this will be complied with by all officers or agencies 

responsible for such investments. 

13.1 Schedule 

Register of non-treasury 

investments and financial 

guarantees 

 

The Council will regularly updated a list of non-treasury investments, existing 

material investment, subsidiaries, joint ventures and liabilities and financial 

guarantees.  An outline of such investments is in the Council’s Capital Strategy. 

Due diligence process 

 
In carrying out due diligence, potential project risks are identified and relevant 

mitigation measures documented prior to approval.  

All risks are then managed in line with the Council’s risk management policy 

which includes documenting risks on a risk register, assigning owners, regular 

review of risks and Red Amber Green (RAG) rating. 

A diversified income-expiry profile will ensure that the funds income return is 

robust across a number of scenarios. 

Verification of purchase prices by external suitably qualified RICS Approved 

Valuers is obtained prior to any investment. 

Schedules to be 

maintained 
The published schedule is agreed by full Council and sets out the organisation’s 

investment management practices for non-treasury investments. Details are set 

out in the Council’s capital strategy and will cover the following areas: 

 Risk management 

 Decision making, governance and organisation 

 Reporting and management information 

 Performance measurement and management 

 Training and qualifications. 

Risk Management Follow TMP1 and schedules as detailed previously, including investment and 

risk management criteria for any material non-treasury investment portfolios. 

 

Due diligence processes and procedures are undertaken to reflect the 

additional risk the Council is taking on. 
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Independent and expert 

advice 

 

Independent expert advice is sought for property purchases as part of the due 

diligence. 

Decision making, 

governance and 

organisation 

The Financial Regulations detail how capital projects are approved and added 

into the capital programme. 

For non-treasury investments the appropriate professional due diligence is 

carried out to support the decision making. 

 

Training and qualifications Relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will be 

arranged and maintained 
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Appendix 1 

Organisation Chart for Treasury Management Function (FTE) 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Service Director for Finance 

(Section 151 Officer) 

Head of Finance 

Lead Accountancy Manager -

Accountant for Treasury 

Management and Capital 

Lead Accountant x 2 (1 fte 

Support/cover) 

Service Accountant x 2.58 (1 

fte support/cover) 

Assistant Accountant x 1 

(role covers Capital & TM) 

Page 114



 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Audit and Governance Committee
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 11 March 2025 

Title of Report: Revised Civic Handbook 

Lead Member:   Councillor Sue Dann (Cabinet Member for Customer Services, Sport, 

Leisure and HR and OD) 

Lead Strategic Director: Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) 

Author: Glenda Favor-Ankersen 

Contact Email:  Glenda.Favor-Ankersen@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference: CHR 2024  

Key Decision:  No 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

This report provides the Audit and Governance Committee with the revised Plymouth City Council 

civic handbook. 

 

Although the handbook had minor iterations since 2018, the last formal review was done in 2012.  

 
The 2024 review considered the following:  

 Protection of the  Lord Mayor’s civic function and events calendar 

 Best practice from other civic offices 

 Alignment of activities with current budgets 

 Understanding of where the work of the civic office overlaps with other departments 

 A clear escalation protocol 

 Addressing of equality issues – removing gender specific terms 

 Introducing more flexibility in protocol whilst ensuring Plymouth's specific requirements are 

met, acknowledging that some elements are fixed according to National Association of Civic 
Officers’ (NACO) guidelines. 

 Acknowledgement that all Lord Mayors will have their own idea of what they would like to 

achieve in their year and will want to add their own touches. 

 

Recommendations and Reasons 

1. To note the draft revised civic handbook which should be in place in time for the new Lord 

Mayor taking office in May 2025.  
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Alternative options considered and rejected 

None, as working with an outdated civic handbook perpetuates poor practice, inefficiencies and failure 

to address modern challenges. 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

The Civic Handbook guides the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor throughout their term.  The 

Handbook also provides guidance for supporting officers and informs councillors, members of the 

public, voluntary groups, businesses and other organisations about the role of the Lord Mayor.  

 
The Council’s values include a commitment to Plymouth being a place where people can have their say 

about what is important to them, and where they are empowered to make change happen. The 

recommendations of this report seek to deliver these commitments in respect of a key element of the 

Council’s constitutional arrangements 

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

The costs associated with the resulting operational changes in the civic protocol will be met from 

existing revenue resources.   

 

Financial Risks  

Developing and enforcing new components of the civic protocol may require initial financial 

investment, particularly in training current personnel. However, these costs will be offset in the long 

term through increased efficiency, reduced errors, and improved public service delivery. 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

N/A 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

Click here to enter text. 

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A Civic Handbook 2025        

B Civic Handbook 2012 (Updated 2018)        

C Record of version changes        

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 
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Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   
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1 The Lord Mayoralty  

1.1 Plymouth’s Lord Mayor  

Plymouth is one of 28 Cities within England, Wales and Northern Ireland to be granted the dignity of 

having a Lord Mayor as Civic Head.  Plymouth was granted this dignity on 6 May, 1935 by King George 

V1.  The title of Lord Mayor is used, whether the incumbent is male or female. 

 

The official annual Lord Mayor Choosing Ceremony2 occurs on the third Friday in May.  This is usually 

held at the Plymouth Guildhall.  The date for the Lord Mayor’s Choosing Dinner is at the Lord Mayor’s 

discretion. Traditionally this is held on the same date, however for the past few years a number Lord 

Mayors have chosen to combine this with their Charity Dinner later in their year.   

 

2 Roles of the Lord Mayor3 

There are two distinct roles of the Lord Mayor:   

 Chair of Plymouth City Council  

 First Citizen of the City of Plymouth. 

 

2.1 Constitutional Role4 

Chairing of City Council meetings is one of the few legal duties that the Lord Mayor performs. The 

Lord Mayor’s Civic Support Coordinator and Professional Assistant ensure that dates of all Council 

meetings are in the diary.  

 
Preparation for Council Meetings 

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor meets with the Monitoring Officer and Head of Governance 

prior to each Council meeting in order to be briefed on agenda items and other important business.  

 

 

 

 

                                                 
1 The history of The Lord Mayoralty is included in Appendix 1. 
2 The Lord Mayors choosing process and protocols are set out in Appendix 2.  
3 For more information see Appendix 3 - Lord Mayor Role Profile 
4 More detailed information relating to the Lord Mayor’s Constitutional role can be found in the Council Constitution   
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Chairing Council Meetings  

The Lord Mayor and, in his or her absence, the Deputy Lord Mayor, chairs Council meetings. The Lord 

Mayor must: 

 promote the purpose of the constitution 

 interpret the constitution 

 get the business done efficiently but pay attention to the rights of all councillors and the 

interests of local people 

 make Council a place for discussing the concerns of local people 

 encourage the public to take part in the Council’s activities 

As chair of Council meetings the Lord Mayor should undertake the following duties: 

 determine that meetings are properly constituted  

 preserve order of conduct 

 confine discussion within limits require by the business 

 rule on admissibility of motions and amendments put in debate by Council members 

 adjudicate on points of order 

 adjourn the meeting should the circumstances justify or require it 

 

At City Council meetings, the Lord Mayor’s interpretation of the constitution will be final. When 

interpreting the constitution, the Lord Mayor will consider the purpose of the constitution and the 

advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
At City Council meetings, votes are decided by a simple majority unless stated otherwise in the 

constitution. If there is an equality in the number of votes, the Lord Mayor has the casting vote. The 

Lord Mayor can silence or remove disruptive councillors, adjourn meetings if needed, and ask 

disruptive members of the public to leave. 

 

2.2 Civic Role  

As the First Citizen of the City the Lord Mayor undertakes all Civic and ceremonial duties on behalf of 

the City, including attendance at: 

 Civic services 

 Remembrance Day services 

 Royal Visits 
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 Freedom of the City events and military home coming parades 

 Lord Mayor Choosing (AGM) 

 Lord Mayor's Christmas carol service and children’s Christmas Carol services  

 Holocaust Memorial Service 

 Community and Multi-Faith events 

 

In this role the Lord Mayor speaks and acts in multiple capacities, as ambassador, facilitator, promoter 

and encourager.  It is the Lord Mayor’s ceremonial role that most people are familiar with.    

 

3 Role of the Lady Mayoress or Consort 

The Lord Mayor designate will be asked to appoint a partner for their term of office.  This partner 

traditionally plays a supporting role to the Lord Mayor and as such equally act as an ambassador for the 

Council and City for the year.   

If the Lord Mayor is female: 

 a male partner will be known as Consort (this can be the Lord Mayor’s husband, an unmarried 

partner, relative or friend) 

 a female partner will be known as the Lady Mayoress 

 

If the Lord Mayor is male: 

 a female partner will be known as the Lady Mayoress. 

 a male partner will be known as Consort. 

 

The Lady Mayoress or Consort will accompany the Lord Mayor on engagements where possible and 

wear the chains of office.  

 

There is no legal obligation to select a Lady Mayoress or Consort, however most Lord Mayors 

generally do, to support them in their role. 
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4 Support for the Lord Mayor  

Oversight of the Civic Office and civic support lies with the Head of Service, with line management 

responsibility being undertaken by the Chief Executive (CEX) Practice Manager.  The civic office must be 

informed immediately by the Lord Mayor or the Deputy Lord Mayor in the event of any issues arising. 

 

4.1 Support for Constitutional Role 

The Lord Mayor meets with the Monitoring Officer and Head of Governance, prior to each Council 

meeting to be briefed on agenda items and other important business.  

 

During City Council meetings the Head of Governance sits at the dais with the Lord Mayor and will be 

on hand to provide any constitutional advice and guidance should this be required during the full 

Council proceedings.  

 

4.2 Support for Civic Role5  

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor are supported in their civic roles by the civic support office.   

 

The civic office comprises of: 

 Civic Support Coordinator – 1 FTE 

 

 Professional Assistant (PA) – 1FTE 

 

 Macebearer/Chauffeur – 1.3 FT 

 

The Civic Support Coordinator is responsible for delivering the Lord Mayor’s and Deputy Lord 

Mayor’s induction and events programme.  They also hold the day to day responsibility for the 

Macebearer’s rota. They work closely with the Professional Assistant (PA) to schedule and ensure that 

the Macebearer’s hours are managed across a three-week diary in line with civic events, invitations, 

engagements. They are also responsible in making sure that all resources are spent within budget.  

 

For civic diary management the PA is the first point of contact for the Lord Mayor. They are 

responsible for the management of the Lord Mayor’s diary6 and mailbox.  

                                                 
5 For contact details of the civic office staff see Appendix 6 – Civic Office Support 
6 For the 2024 civic events calendar- please see Appendix 5  
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The Macebearer’s support the Lord Mayor at official engagements and civic ceremonial functions.  The 

Macebearer’s also drive the Lord Mayor to their official civic engagements.   

 

5 Civic Support  

5.1 Civic Diary 

The Lord Mayor’s PA will work with the Lord Mayor to prepare a rolling three-week diary of civic 

engagements.  The schedule is issued every Friday to the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor via email 

or in person if the Lord Mayor chooses to do so. 

 

Additional invitations after the diary's publication will be considered on merit and will be discussed 

with the PA and the Civic Support Coordinator before confirming with the event organiser.. 

Most engagements are confirmed in advance.  However, if a more urgent invitation is received, the PA 

with the Civic Support Coordinator will discuss and confirm with the Lord Mayor any amendments to 

the diary.  The Deputy Lord Mayor may be asked to attend the previously accepted event. 

  

5.2 Engagements7 

All invitation must be referred to the Lord Mayor’s PA, who will advise on availability, inform organisers 

of procedures, and send out the required forms. All matters arising from any invitation CEX Practice 

Manager and/or Head of Service will be consulted. 

 

Engagements will only be accepted when they meet the guidelines. Invitations for commercial or political 

purposes which might be deemed inappropriate will be referred to the Head of Service for guidance. 

 

All invitations received by the Deputy Lord Mayor must be directed to the PA who will discuss with the 

Lord Mayor in the first instance.  If the Deputy has a special interest, the Lord Mayor will confirm the 

Deputy Lord Mayor’s attendance. 

 

Simultaneous events can be attended by both the Lord Mayor and Deputy, with the Lord Mayor having 

priority access to the car and Macebearer. If neither is available, the civic office will consider immediate 

past Lord Mayors before declining. 

                                                 
7 See Appendix 7 for events and engagements 
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The Lord Mayor must always be punctual and wear appropriate chains and robes. There is no obligation 

to stay until the end of an event, and it is often preferable to leave early to allow the host to follow 

protocol at formal receptions. 

 

The Lady Mayoress or Consort does not need to accompany the Lord Mayor on all occasions; each case 

is assessed individually. 

 

Once confirmed, engagements will not be cancelled except in emergencies or exceptional circumstances. 

All engagements are important, and the Lord Mayor's role in promoting them is vital.  

 

5.3 Informal approaches during year in office 

During the Lord Mayor's year of office, informal approaches might be made with regard to matters such 

as the Freedom of the City, Honours lists etc. 

 

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor will exercise caution and will not commit or undertake any 

decisions on behalf of the Council. However, in such cases, assurance must be given that the 

representations will be forwarded to the responsible officer and elected member. 

 

Invitations from foreign or delegates will be referred to the CEX Practice Manager or Head of Service.  

 

5.4 Lord Mayor Briefings 

The Civic Support Office will schedule regular meetings with the Lord Mayor to discuss invitations and 

diary commitments. 

 

For Council-organised events, Strategic or Service Directors must notify the civic office at least three 

weeks in advance and provide a draft of any speeches. They will also need to brief the Lord Mayor in 

person and accompany them at the event. 

 

For short-notice events, Directors should coordinate with the Civic Support Coordinator to agree on 

the timetable. 
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The Civic Support Coordinator will provide specific briefings for all civic events, and the Lord Mayor 

will need to attend rehearsals. 

 

5.5 Visits outside the City 

Promotion of the Lord Mayor outside of the City is important.  Invitations to events and engagements 

outside of the City of Plymouth will be considered on merit.  

 

5.6 Attendance at funerals 

The Lord Mayor should, whenever possible, attend official funerals accompanied by the Chief Executive 

(or representative). 

 

Funerals of all Freemen, Honorary Aldermen, former Lord Mayors and Deputy Lord Mayors, serving 

Members of the City Council and former senior or long-serving Members of the City Council will be 

notified as a matter of course to all members of the City Council, Aldermen, Strategic Directors, etc. 

 

5.7 Royal Visits 

On an official Royal visit, the order of presentation by the Lord Lieutenant to the Royal visitor will 

normally be: 

 

1. Lord Lieutenant's guest 

2. High Sheriff plus 1 

3. Lord Mayor and Lady Mayoress/Consort 

4. Chief Executive plus 1 

5. Member of Parliament plus 1 

6. Chief Constable plus 1 

 

After these presentations, the Lord Lieutenant will present the principal organiser of the event to 

which the visit is being made and other necessary presentations may be deputised to the organiser. 

 

His Majesty the King has ruled that these arrangements should also apply to official visits made by 

members of the Royal Family given His or Her Royal Highness designations and their spouses. 
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In cases of doubt, the civic office will consult with the Lord Lieutenant’s office for guidance. 

 

All invitations for the Lord Lieutenant to attend any functions will be carefully considered and 

discussed with the civic support office before being issued.   

 

5.8 Official calls on the Lord Mayor 

For official calls involving government ministers, visiting Heads from abroad, Civic Heads, whenever 

possible, the Lord Mayor will be supported by the Chief Executive (or representative) and, where 

appropriate, also by the Leader and Leader of the Opposition of the City Council (or their 

representatives). 

 

5.9 Salute taking, March–pasts and Parade Inspection  

When it is necessary for the Lord Mayor to take the salute, or to be in attendance when a Senior 

Service Officer is performing such a function. 

 

a. If colours are being paraded, it is normal for the salute to be held whilst the colours pass. 

b. On other occasions, if only chains or collarettes are being worn salutes should be taken in a 

similar manner. 

c. When wearing the robes and hat, the Lord Mayor should remove the hat when: 

 Acknowledging salutes 

 During the playing of the National Anthem 

 In the presence of a member of the Royal Family 

 During March Pasts, the Mayor should remove and replace the hat 

 As each section passes the salute 

 When the Colours pass 

 On an Inspection when the Mayor passes the Colours. 

 

d. On all occasions, advice will be sought from the organisers of the event. 

e. Where the Lord Mayor has been invited to make inspection they precede the Commanding 

Officer who is usually one pace behind the Lord Mayor’s right.  If there Lord Mayor is 

accompanying the Inspecting Officer, the Inspecting officer precedes, the Commanding Officer 
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is one pace to his rear on the right, and the lord Mayor is immediately behind the Inspecting 

Officer. 

 

5.10 Travel and the civic car 

The Lord Mayor’s car can only be used for official duties and not for private purposes. The Macebearer 

transports the Lord Mayor and, when possible, the Deputy Lord Mayor. However, the Lord Mayor's 

takes precedence. It must be noted that the Macebearers are part-time and may not be available at 

short notice. 

 

The civic flag is flown when the Lord Mayor or Deputy Lord Mayor is in the car. The Lord Mayoral 

party should travel together to minimize separate journeys. 

 

Smoking is prohibited, and seat belts must be worn in the civic car. The recommended seating 

arrangement is for the Lord Mayor to sit behind the passenger seat for easy access to the pavement. 

 

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor will make their own arrangements to travel to the Council 

House.  Travel expenses incurred (including mileage, fuel, taxi and bus fares) are covered by member 

allowance and special responsibility (SRA).  The use of the civic car and services of the Macebearer can 

only be used once agreed with the civic office.  

 

Where the Lord Mayor or Deputy Lord Mayor use their own vehicle they are permitted to park in the 

Council House car park (if space is available), alternatively they can park in any Plymouth City Council 

owned car park.  Further guidance in relation to Councillor parking and permits can be found within 

the Councillor Parking Policy.    

 

Where the Macebearer and civic car are unavailable and the Lord Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor wish to 

attend an engagement outside of the city boundary, the Lord Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor are entitled to 

claim mileage.8   

                                                 
8 See Appendix 10 – Cllr Allowances   
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5.11 Royal Garden Party 

Every year we receive four invitations to the Royal Garden Party from Buckingham Palace.  The 

outgoing Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor usually attend and take one guest each.  Train travel is 

funded by the civic office.  The Lord Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor are required to pay for their own 

accommodation if they wish to stay overnight in London.  

5.12 Electric Pool Cars 

Electric pool cars are available at both Ballard House and Prince Rock depot.  These can be used by the 

Lord Mayor or Deputy Lord Mayor providing: 

 

 their driving licence are checked and approved by the Head of Governance. Licence details will 

then be forwarded to the council fleet team for final approval. 

 they have attended a briefing session conducted by a member of the concierge team to 

familiarise themselves with the vehicle.   

 

Pool cars can be booked through Facilities Management facilities.bookings@plymouth.gov.uk  

 

5.13 Accommodation 

The Council House 

The civic office and Lord Mayor’s Parlour are both situated in the Council House. Any request made to 

the Lord Mayor for the use of these offices must be referred to the civic support team who will 

confirm bookings in accordance with council policy. 

 

In order to maintain the visual appearance of the Lord Mayor's Parlour and the offices generally, any 

desire to display any gift, painting or plaque etc. must be first referred to the Civic Support 

Coordinator and CEX Practice Manager. 

 

3 Elliot Terrace9 

3 Elliot Terrace can be used by the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor for hospitality. The Lord 

Mayor may use it for up to three weekends (or equivalent) per year. Please see examples below: 

                                                 
9 See Appendix 1 – History of Elliot Terrace  
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Weekend stay: 

Friday Friday night Saturday  

 

Or 

Saturday Saturday night Sunday 

 

Weekday stay: 

Monday Monday night Tuesday 

 

Confirmation is subject to availability and must be booked via the civic office.  If family or friends join 

the Lord Mayor, the Lord Mayor must notify the civic office make arrangements to cover any additional 

costs. 

 

The Lord Mayor's Professional Assistant will arrange the use of 3 Elliot Terrace. The City Council’s No 

Smoking Policy applies to all areas, including the balcony. 

 

5.14 Catering  

Where catering is required for engagements, external caterers will only be used in exceptional 

circumstances.  The level of hospitality may vary from function to function and the Civic Support 

Coordinator will advise on the appropriate standard. 

 

The civic office should where possible cater ‘in house’ by purchasing items such as cakes and pastries.  

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor may also purchase their own catering if they wish. 

 

Where ‘in house’ purchasing is agreed hygiene standards must be adhered to at all times.  Allergens 

advice must also be followed when preparing and serving food, this can include the labelling of foods 

highlighting common food allergens where appropriate.  
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6 Chains, Robes, Clothing and Ceremonial Badges 

6.1 Clothing 

The civic office will offer advice appropriate clothing for engagements where it is not clear from the 

invitation; however the following is suggested as a guide. 

 

The Chains of Office are heavy and should be properly positioned on clothing. The Lord Mayor, Lady 

Mayoress, Deputy Lord Mayor, and Deputy Lady Mayoress should have loops sewn into jackets to 

prevent damage. 

 

When attending events, the Lord Mayor should consider diversity and respect the customs, traditions, 

and religious practices of others. 

 

Male  

A suit, usually black, dark grey or navy, is the most acceptable attire, and dinner jackets are usually 

worn for important dinners. 

 

A good quality dark overcoat and/or raincoat for inclement weather are advisable. 

 

Female  

The general advice is to dress “up” rather than ”down” i.e. wear a smart suit, skirt or trouser, rather 

than casual dress. Civic occasions should be regarded as similar to a wedding with a suit or jacket and 

dress, or other traditional outfit.  

 

For evening wear an evening dress maybe worn, this can be knee length however long dresses are 

occasionally worn.  

 

Hats can be worn for church services; however this is a matter of personal choice. 

  

Due to the chains of office, ‘off the shoulder’ evening wear is not advisable. It is not customary for the 

Lord Mayor/Lady Mayoress to wear any necklaces with the chain of office.  
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Receipts for payment for clothing that come out of the Lord Mayor’s and Deputy Lord Mayor’s 

personal allowances must be kept for tax purposes. All receipts must be submitted to the Civic 

Support Coordinator at the end of the Lord Mayoral term.  

 

6.2 Chain of Office/Collarettes 

Chain of Office may be worn on the following occasions: 

 

 All meetings of the City Council 

 All engagements within the Parlour/Council House/civic buildings (including Elliot Terrace) 

 Dinner/luncheon engagements outside the civic buildings 

 Major ceremonial occasions, i.e. royal visits, degree conferment ceremonies, etc. irrespective of 

whether full robes are to be worn 

 Civic church services 

 Civic wreath laying ceremonies 

 Other functions when accompanied by a Macebearer. 

 

For safety, the Macebearer must ensure that they stay in close proximity to the Lord Mayor. The 

Macebearer will take immediate action, if circumstances permit, if they feel the Lord Mayor is at risk. 

 

The Civic Support Coordinator will advise when to wear the Collarette of Office instead of the chains. 

The same guidelines apply to the Deputy Lord Mayor. When accompanying the Lord Mayor, the 

Deputy should wear a collarette, except at major civic events where chains are appropriate, or where 

the Lord Mayor has given the Deputy Lord Mayor permission to do so. 

 

Floral decorations, except poppies, should not be worn with the Chains of Office. Temporary items 

like buttonholes or badges may be worn during an event but should be removed before the next one. 

 

If the Deputy Lord Mayor hosts a function in the Lord Mayor's absence, the Lady Mayoress or Consort 

is not expected to attend. 
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The Lord Mayor must not wear the Chain of Office outside the City without permission from the 

council they are visiting, which the Civic Support Coordinator will obtain, who will also advise on 

insurance and security for civic regalia taken outside of the city boundaries. 

 

For overseas visits, the Chains of Office are not permitted to be worn; collarettes should be worn 

instead.  

 

6.3 Insurance  

On the occasion where a Macebearer is unavailable and the Lord Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor wish to 

wear the chains to attend an engagement within the city boundary there is a strict protocol to follow. 

 

For full insurance coverage purposes, the Lord Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor before taking office must 

complete Insurance Information Form.10   

 

The regalia, including but not limited to chains of office, and any associated items, shall remain fully 

insured under the Council’s/Authority’s insurance policy when temporarily stored at the Lord Mayor’s 

and Deputy Lord Mayor’s registered  home address (home addresses declared upon taking office). 

 

Scope of protection 

The insurance policy shall provide coverage against loss, theft, accidental damage, fire, and any 

other perils specified within the policy terms. This coverage shall remain valid whether the 

regalia is stored, in use, or in transit to and from official engagements. 

 

Security and Safeguarding Measures 

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor shall take reasonable precautions to ensure the security of 

the regalia while in their possession. This includes: 

 Storing the regalia in a secure and designated area within the registered home address. 

 Ensuring the home address has adequate security measures, such as locks, alarms, or safes 

where necessary*. 

 Not leaving the regalia unattended in unsecured locations. 

*refer to document completed and signed by the LM and DLM before taking office 

 

                                                 
10 See Appendix 8 – Regalia Insurance Document  
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Reporting of Incidents 

In the event of theft, damage, or loss, the LM and DLM must notify the Head of Service as soon 

as possible, providing any necessary documentation to facilitate the claims process. 

 

Temporary Custody and Return 

The regalia shall remain the property of the Council/Authority and must be returned upon 

request, at the end of the term, or in the event of a change in office. 

 

Liability Exemption 

The Lord Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor shall not be held personally liable for any insured losses, provided 

that the outlined security measures have been followed. Any negligence or failure to take 

reasonable care may result in a review of the claim under the insurance policy terms. 

 

6.4 Ceremonial Robes 

The black and gold robes are only worn on major ceremonial occasions such as Lord Mayor Choosing 

(AGM), Freedom of the City events, Honorary Alderman ceremonies, Royal visits, Civic Church 

Services, major military occasions, Degree conferment ceremonies, etc. 

 

It is a tradition that the red robe is worn at the annual Lord Mayor's Carol Service at the Minster 

Church of St Andrew and when presiding over meetings of the City Council.  The Civic Support 

Coordinator will advise when the red robe should be worn at lesser civic functions.  The red robes 

may be worn for display purposes when undertaking school or similar visits, should the Lord Mayor 

wish. 

 

It should be noted that the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor should avoid eating or drinking where 

possible (with the exception of ceremonial toasts and water) whilst robed to avoid damage.  

 

6.5 Dress/Medals/Badges 

Lord Mayoral/City Council functions 

The normal dress for receptions is lounge suit (or equivalent) unless, of course, the reception precedes 

a dinner or similar function where other dress requirements are stipulated. 
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Dress protocols for functions held in the Lord Mayor’s Parlour, Dining Room or at 3 Elliot Terrace are 

subject to the Lord Mayor's personal wishes or the requirements of the event.  

 

Other functions 

In accepting engagements elsewhere, the Lord Mayor should conform to the dress requirements set 

out in the invitation. 

 

Medals 

Miniature medals are worn on full evening dress or dinner jackets only when the invitation states that 

decorations may be worn.  For city council functions, it has been the practice to request such 

decorations only when the occasion has a military 'flavour'. 

 

It is not normal for medals to be worn on civic robes, except for Remembrance Day when full medals 

(not miniatures) should be worn on the left breast of the robes. 

 

Commemorative badges 

At the Annual Lord Mayor Choosing Ceremony (AGM), the retiring Lord Mayor is traditionally 

presented with a badge (on blue ribbon) commemorating the year of office. 

 

This badge may be worn at: 

 ceremonial meetings of the City Council when the Lord Mayor is robed 

 ceremonies or processions when the Lord Mayor is robed 

 Civic dinners, receptions or other social functions of a civic nature within the City 

 any other civic function when requested by the Lord Mayor 

 Civic functions in another local authority's area at the express invitation of the Mayor or 

Chairman of that authority 

 

The above provisions apply also to the badges worn by Honorary Freemen and Honorary Aldermen, 

although in cases where more than one badge is held by an individual, only one of these should be 

worn at any one time. 
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7 Budget, Allowances, Hospitality and Gifts  

7.1 Budget Monitoring  

The monitoring of the civic Office budgets is the responsibility of the CEX Practice Manager and Head 

of Service. 

 
7.2 Lord Mayor’s Special Function Budget 

The Special Functions budget for the Lord Mayor’s office covers spend for the following: 

 Lord Mayor’s Choosing ceremony 

 Remembrance Sunday Service 

 Lord Mayor’s Carol Service 

 Holocaust Memorial Day 

 

Other commitments within this budget are for flag raising ceremonies, homecoming and Freedom 

parades. 

 

The Lord Mayors Official Hospitality budget is limited and any promise of hospitality, to any group or 

organisation (including other Council departments), will need to be discussed with CEX Practice 

Manager or Head of Service.    

 

For current budget (2024-2025), as an example, please see Appendix 9.  

 

7.3 Personal Allowances 

Allowances for elected members are governed by the Local Government (Members’ Allowances 

England) Regulations 2003. These are reviewed regularly.  Personal allowances cover expenses from 

holding office and are paid in addition to the basic allowance. 

 

If the Deputy Lord Mayor also holds another role, they receive only the highest allowance.  

 

A small ‘out of pocket’ budget can be considered for expenses such as clothing alterations. 

 

Personal allowances are paid monthly from 1 June, with possible advance payments after council 

confirmation, except in election years if the nominee is standing for re-election. 
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The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor should keep records for HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 

and provide quarterly expenditure statements. The Civic Support Coordinator, with assistance from a 

finance officer will offer advice spend receipts and HMRC. 

 

Personal allowances cover costs for subscriptions, travel, donations, and inviting personal guests to 

civic functions, as well as private events11. 

 

7.4 Gifts 

Giving 

Official gifts are presented by the Lord Mayor during 'twinning' visits, major ambassadorial visits, and to 

senior military and council officers upon retirement or leaving office. 

 

These gifts are charged to the Lord Mayor’s Official Hospitality budget, so costs must stay within budget 

limits. 

 

Significant gifts for special anniversaries or major events are determined by the CEX Practice Manager 

or Head of Service. 

 

Receiving 

The Lord Mayor should be cautious with any offers of gifts, favours, or hospitality, as they may come 

from those doing or seeking business with the council. The Lord Mayor is responsible for decisions on 

accepting gifts to maintain public confidence. Gifts of more than nominal value of £25 will be accepted 

on behalf of the council and declared. Minor tokens or flowers can be kept personally. 

 

According to the Councillor Code of Conduct, any gift or hospitality over £25 must be reported to the 

Monitoring Officer within 28 days of receipt. The Civic Support Coordinator must be informed of all 

gifts as they will be the officer responsible in reporting to the Monitoring Officer. A complete register of 

gifts will be kept in the civic office. 

 

The Lord Mayor can send a thank-you letter for each gift, using stationery containing the city crest.  

 

                                                 
11 See Appendix 10 – Councillor Expenses  
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8 The Lord Mayor’s Charity  

8.1 Charity Guidance and Support 

The Lord Mayor typically nominates one or more established, city-based charities to receive funds during 

their term. These charities must be registered with the Charity Commission.  

 

The chosen charities are usually announced at the Lord Mayor’s Choosing Ceremony (AGM).  

 

The main focus of support for the civic office led by the Civic Support Coordinator is the Council’s Civic 

program. They are also responsible for: 

 

 administrative support for charity events 

 adding charity details to engagement forms and social media 

 including charity details on Christmas cards/emails 

 banking funds received and paying bills 

 reporting financial statements to the Lord Mayor’s Charity Committee 

 balancing charity accounts at the end of the term 

 approving content and wording of tickets, posters, and menus. 

 

8.2 Charity Committee 

The Lord Mayor should set up a Charity Committee for the year to assist with fundraising. This 

committee can be formed from local charity volunteers. 

 

The Lord Mayor should convene the Charity Committee at the start of their term, ideally once the 

Lord Mayor designate is identified in February. The committee will help with: 

 

 Generating ideas for the year's events 

 Ensuring enough volunteers are available for events 

 Seeking sponsorship and raffle or auction prizes 

 

After selecting a charity (or charities), the Lord Mayor will call a Charity Committee meeting to elect a 

Chair (possibly the Deputy Lord Mayor) and a Secretary (not from the Council’s civic office staff). 
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8.3 Charity Dinner 

If a major event is planned such as, a Lord Mayor’s dinner or banquet, the civic office will provide 

support as they have expertise at planning large scale events. The Lord Mayor may choose to combine 

their annual dinner with a charity dinner and hold this later into their term of office and not on the day 

of their choosing ceremony. 

 

8.4 End of Year for Charity 

It is normal for the Lord Mayor to report to Council at the Annual Meeting the total amount raised for 

the charity appeal during the year and make a presentation to the charity/charities just prior to the end 

of the term of office. 

 

9 Induction and Training  

The Lord Mayor will receive training and induction prior to taking office and will cover both 

constitutional and civic (ceremonial) elements of the role.  

 

9.1 Constitutional Role  

The Monitoring Officer and Head of Governance will provide the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor 

guidance and support related to the Constitutional element of their role during their term of office.    

This will include: 

 

 chairing skills training for City Council meetings 

 constitutional advice and guidance  

 

9.2 Civic Role 

The Civic Support Coordinator and CEX Practice Manager will induct the Lord Mayor and Deputy 

Lord Mayor on the civic element of their role.  This will include an introduction to the: 

 

 civic handbook 

 civic team 

 civic protocol 

 Professional assistants and how the diary is organised 

 role of the Macebearers 
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 civic events calendar, including dates for any important engagements already scheduled (such as 

anniversaries)  

 budget and personal allowances 

 

During the induction period the Lord Mayor will also be required to: 

 choose a Lady Mayoress or Consort 

 choose a Deputy Lord Mayor 

 appoint a chaplain (an honorary position and usually a Minister from a church or other religious 

institution located in the Lord Mayor’s ward) 

 appoint a cadet (this will done via interview process)12 

 choose a charity and set up a charity committee 

 provide a biography  

 advise the civic office of any dates you will be unavailable for the year of office 

 provide the civic office with a personal guest list for important engagements and events  

 

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor will receive the following training13: 

 public speaking and speech writing 

 induction for Civic Heads 

 dealing with the media 

 social media  

 information management (including FOI’s) 

The Lord Mayor is often invited to become a Patron, President or is gifted honorary membership for 

local organisations. These memberships vary from year to year, and are reviewed on an annual basis.  

 

9.3 Speeches 

The Lord Mayor traditionally writes their own speeches, with the guidance from the Head of 

Communications. The Civic Support Coordinator will assist with specific research needs.  

 

The civic office meet on a weekly basis to review the Lord Mayor’s diary and to identify any 

engagements where speeches are required.  

                                                 
12 See Appendix 11 – Appointment of Lord Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor Cadet 
13 See Appendix 12 – Local Government Association (LGA) – Top Tips for newly elected Civic Mayors 
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9.4 Media 

Requests for statements from or interviews with the Lord Mayor, Lady Mayoress, Deputy Lord Mayor 

or Deputy Lady Mayoress will be referred to the council’s corporate communications team.   

 

9.5 Social Media  

The civic office runs social media accounts on behalf of the Lord Mayor on Facebook and X (Twitter).  

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor will be given access to both accounts so that they can post 

material relevant to the Lord Mayor’s activities, including promotion for events.  

 

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor must adhere to the Councillor Code of Conduct when 

dealing with all social media platforms.  This can be found online in the Councillor Hub. 

 

10 Safeguarding Responsibilities and Health, Safety and Wellbeing 

10.1 Safeguarding 

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor, upon taking office will be briefed by the council’s 

Safeguarding team. In addition to this, resources and details of their responsibilities for safeguarding 

children and vulnerable adults can be found online in the Councillor Hub.  The Lord Mayor and Deputy 

Lord Mayor must visit these resources so they can familiarise themselves with what they need to be 

aware of and what to do to protect children, vulnerable adults and themselves.   

 

10.2 Health, Safety and Wellbeing 

Health, Safety, and Wellbeing briefing will be given to the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor by the 

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Head of Service. Training will include advice on personal safety, lone 

working and how to report incidents.  

 

Additional resources are available online in the Councillor Hub and within the Personal Safety and 

Lone Working Guidance for Councillors. 

 

Incidents or near misses must be reported to the Civic Support Coordinator and via the Health, Safety 

and Wellbeing Portal on the Councillor Hub. 
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Both Macebearers are qualified in first aid. 

 

Anyone using Display Screen Equipment (DSE) for an hour or more should have a DSE Risk 

Assessment. The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor will be given this assessment conducted by 

qualified council officer during their induction. 

 

11 Political Neutrality  

During the mayoral year, the Lord Mayor must remain politically neutral and avoid party political 

activities.  

 

The exception is if the Lord Mayor or Deputy Lord Mayor are standing for election as a Councillor, in 

which case they may campaign as an individual, however, they must ensure that they do not include any 

photographs of themselves in their robes and/or chains on any campaign materials.  

 

The Lord Mayor should avoid involvement in politically controversial matters and where necessary 

refer ward-related issues to colleagues.  

 

Political neutrality is also expected from the Deputy Lord Mayor, who may vote in Council meetings 

but should avoid speaking on contentious issues unless they have specific knowledge. 

 

Special rules apply during the 25 working days before polling day (pre-election period), prohibiting the 

use of Council resources for political purposes. Council publicity must always be politically neutral. 

 

The retiring Lord Mayor can attend their political group’s AGM for the following year. 
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Appendix 1 – History  

 

History of the Lord Mayoralty 

In Britain, the civic office of mayor brings with it over 800 years of tradition and loyalty to the crown 

and a direct link to the monarch through parliament. The office of mayor was first introduced by the 

Normans in the eleventh century, and the word itself derives from the Latin ‘magnus’, meaning ‘great’.  

 

The first English mayor was the lord mayor of the City of London who took office in 1189.  From 

1835, the title of mayor was given to the head of each municipal Council, or ‘corporation’, in England, 

with the post holder being seen as the ‘first citizen’ who spoke for the whole town or City and gave it 

an identity.  

 

In accordance with the Local Government Act 1972, the Lord Mayor shall have precedence in the 

Plymouth City area, but not so as to ‘prejudicially affect His Majesty’s Royal Prerogative’. In practice, 

this means that the Lord Mayor is accorded the status of the City’s first citizen, only giving way in the 

presence of the Sovereign or his/her representative (i.e. His Majesty’s Lord-Lieutenant for the county). 

 

 

History of Elliot Terrace 

Number 3 Elliot Terrace, The Hoe, was erected in the later part of the 19th century by John Pethick, a 

leading Victorian property developer and was acquired in 1908 by Waldorf Astor who had come to 

Plymouth as a Unionist Parliamentary Candidate. 

Successful in the second of the General Elections of 1910, Waldorf Astor was again returned in 1918 

but, following the death of his father Viscount Astor, he was forced to surrender his seat in the House 

of Commons. 

In the resulting by-election, his wife, Nancy, agreed to stand and in 1919 became MP for Plymouth 

Sutton. 

Nancy Astor made history as the first woman MP to take her seat in the House of Commons. 

Waldorf Astor, like Sir Francis Drake before him, was appointed Mayor without being a member of the 

Council and held the Office between 1939 and 1944 during the war years. He was instrumental in 

bringing together the people to formulate the rebuilding of Plymouth leading to the production in 1943 

of the 'Plan for Plymouth'. 

Waldorf Astor died in 1952, Nancy in 1964.  Before her death she gave 3 Elliot Terrace to the City of 

Plymouth and the house has become known as the Lord Mayor’s residence.  It is used for civic and 

other hospitality, and by visiting dignitaries and circuit judges. 

Also, the Council seeks to use 3 Elliot Terrace to promote the City’s priorities.   
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Astor Diamonds 

 

The Astor Diamonds were given to the city by Lady Nancy Astor and comprise a necklace, bracelet 

and earrings.   

 

The jewellery used to be occasionally worn by the Lady Mayoress but the jewellery is now too fragile 

to be worn.
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Appendix 2 – Choosing Process and Protocols 

 

 Candidates for Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor 

 

Candidates for the positions of Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor must be members of the City 

Council (sections 3(1), 5(1) and 5(2) of the Local Government Act 1972) 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/3  

 

Election of Lord Mayor 

 

Each year, the Council appoints a Lord Mayor Selection Committee comprising six Council members, 

with representation proportional to political parties. This committee receives and considers 

nominations for the position of Lord Mayor for the following year. Once the committee accepts a 

nomination, it goes forward to the full Council for endorsement. 

 

Following Plymouth's tradition, the Lord Mayor nominates their Deputy Lord Mayor, who customarily 

comes from the same political group. During their terms of office, neither the Lord Mayor nor Deputy 

Lord Mayor may serve in the Cabinet (executive) or act as Leader of a political party. 

 

The formal election of the Lord Mayor occurs at the Council's Annual General Meeting, held in 

Plymouth's Guildhall on the third Friday in May. Whilst attendance at this ceremony typically requires 

an invitation, members of the public are welcome to attend, as it is a public meeting. Those wishing to 

attend may obtain tickets from the Lord Mayor's office. 
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Appendix 3 – The Role of the Lord Mayor 

 

The Lord Mayoral Responsibilities include: 

 

 Ceremonial Duties: Represents the City at official events, ceremonies, and functions. 

 

 Community Engagement: Acts as a figurehead for local initiatives, charities, and community 

projects. 

 

 Civic Leadership: Promotes the City, supports economic development, and fosters 

relationships with other cities and organisations. 

 

 Constitutional Role: Presides over City Council meetings, ensuring they are conducted fairly 

and efficiently. 

 

Other Lord Mayoral duties include: 

 

 Receive members of the Royal family and other important dignitaries and visitors to the City of 

Plymouth.  

 

 Making speeches at Civic Events and engagements. 

 

 Leading Citizenship Ceremonies. 

 

 Fund raising for chosen charity. 

 

 Represent the City of Plymouth during times of sadness.  

 

This list provides a general idea of the Lord Mayor’s duties, but is by no means exhaustive. 

 

Key Accountabilities: 

 

The Lord Mayor must carry out the duties of the post fairly and without discrimination, and in 

accordance with the values of the Council. 

 

During the year in office, the Lord Mayor traditionally takes no active part in the political affairs of the 

Council.   
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Appendix 4 – The Role of the Deputy Lord Mayor 

 

The Deputy Lord Mayor is nominated by the Lord Mayor designate following their appointment by the 

Lord Mayor’s Selection Committee.   

 

There are two elements of the role of Deputy Lord Mayor: 

 

1. To deputise for the Mayor at their request when the Lord Mayor I unable to fulfil an engagement. 

2. To support the lord Mayor at major Civic Events organised by the Council.  

 

With the exception of instances where the Lord Mayor and the Deputy Lord Mayor are required to be 

in attendance at the same time, such as major Civic Events.  The Lord Mayor and the Deputy Lord Mayor 

will not normally attend simultaneous engagements unless previously. 

 

The Deputy Lord Mayor cannot accept any direct invitation (other than in the circumstances mentioned 

above), on the principle that all invitations should be sent to the Lord Mayor in the first instance.  

 

 Support Role: Assists the Lord Mayor in their duties and stands in when the Lord Mayor is 

unavailable. 

 

 Ceremonial Functions: Represents the City at Civic Events and functions when delegated by 

the Lord Mayor. 

 
 Community Involvement: Engages with local communities and supports the Lord Mayor’s 

initiatives. 

 

The Deputy Lord Mayor will abide by the Council’s code of conduct for members. 
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Appendix 5 – Example of a Civic Events Calendar 

 
CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
CIVIC EVENTS 2024  

 
Notable Dates in 2024 

 Monthly (Tuesday)   Citizenship 

 Friday 8 March    Women’s International Day  

 Thursday 25 April    ANZAC Day  

 Thursday 6  June    Anniversary of D Day Landings in June 1944 

 Monday 11 July     Srebrenica Memorial Day 

 Thursday 15 August   VJ Day  

 Thursday 3 September    Merchant Navy Day  

 13-14 August    Plymouth Pride 

 15 September    Battle of Britain 
 

DATE TIME EVENT Venue 

JANUARY 2024    

Tues 30 January   9.30am Holocaust Memorial Day 
9.30 am Council House  

11.15am Peace Garden, The Hoe 

MARCH 2024    

Monday 11 March  10.30am Commonwealth Flag Raising Guildhall Flag Poles/Guildhall Steps 

APRIL 2024    

Sunday 14 April  10.30am Lord Mayor’s Civic Church Service Derriford United Reform 

MAY 2024    

Friday 17 May 
9.45am 

7.30pm 

Council AGM/Lord Mayor’s Choosing 

Lord Mayor’s Choosing Dinner  

The Crowne Plaza  

 

Sunday 19 May 10am The Lord Mayor’s Civic Church Service The Minster Church of St Andrew  

JUNE 2024    

Monday 24 June 10am Armed Forces Flag Raising Ceremony Guildhall Flag Poles 

Saturday 29 June 9.00am Armed Forces Day  The Hoe, Plymouth 

NOVEMBER 2024    

Sunday 10 November 11am 

Remembrance Sunday 

Laying of wreaths at the RN Memorial, 

Civilian Memorial & Polish Memorial 

 

The Hoe, Plymouth 

DECEMBER 2024    

Friday 13 December 7.30pm The Lord Mayor’s Carol Service 
TBC 

St Andrews Church, Plymouth 
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Flag Raisings in 2024: 

 10 February   Gdynia Day to commemorate twinning between Plymouth and Gdynia (Poland)  

 23 April    St George’s Day  

 14 June    Falklands Belvedere Flag Pole, The Hoe 

 2 June    Philippines Independence day 

 24 August   Independence Day of Ukraine 

 3 September    Merchant Navy Day 

 1 September   9/11 Mayflower Steps  

 1 December    World Aids Day 

 1 December   Great Union Day (Romanian)  
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Appendix 6 – Civic Office Support Staff 

 
ROLE NAME CONTACT 

NUMBER 

EMAIL ADDRESS 

Head of Electoral 
Services 

Glenda 
Favor-

Ankersen 

01752 398073 Glenda.Favor-
Ankersen@plymouth.gov.uk  

CEX/Electoral 

Services Practice 

Manager 

Maddie 

Halifax 

01752 398127 

07785 474365 

maddie.halifax@plymouth.gov.uk  

Civic Support 

Coordinator 

Elizabeth 

Olver 

01752 304502 

07464 651211 

Elizabeth.Olver@plymouth.gov.uk  

Professional Assistant 

(Monday & Tuesday) 

Sarah Moore 01752 305658 Sarah.Moore@plymouth.gov.uk  

LordMayor@plymouth.gov.uk  

Professional Assistant 

(Wednesday, 

Thursday  & Friday) 

Katie Busfield 01752 304858 

07988 880093 

Katie.Busfield@plymouth.gov.uk  

LordMayor@plymouth.gov.uk 

Macebearer Macebearer 

Office 

Kevin 

Graham 

Steve 

Mallinson 

01752 305409 

 

07795 666831 

07711 539887 

 

 

Kevin.Graham@plymouth.gov.uk  

 

Steve.Mallinson@plymouth.gov.uk 
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Appendix 7 – Lord Mayor’s events and engagements  

 

Plymouth City Council seeks to deliver value for money for its citizens, promote the Council’s 

objectives and support the local community and businesses. 

 

Events the Lord Mayor will normally attend: 

 

 Council initiatives/events that support the Council’s/the City’s priorities 

 Community events – events organised by local people and attended by local people.  This 

includes improving the representation and participation of minority groups 

 Military events – Armed Forces Week, memorial and remembrance services  

 Council meetings, Lord Mayor Choosing events, events relating to Freemen/Aldermen of the 

City, Citizenship Ceremonies, Remembrance Sunday, Armed Forces week, home coming 

parades 

 Religious ceremonies and events of all denominations 

 Holocaust Memorial Day  

 Twinning events 

 Traditional events  

 100th birthday celebrations and visits 

 Remembrance Festival  

 

Events the Lord Mayor may consider attending (the Macebearer may not be in 

attendance): 

 

 Commercial/business engagements only cleared by the specific Service Director 

 Charity events if they support the City’s/Council’s priorities 

 Social events, which may include performances by theatre/ drama groups; ward members/other 

Councillors’/ events; exceptional family occasions; dinners and dances  

 Events held outside the City of Plymouth if there is a specific and overriding factor 

 

These are the criteria.  However, the Council will be flexible and will take a common sense 

approach to all invitations received by the Lord Mayor. 

 

In addition to the above, the Lord Mayor may choose to attend, on one occasion each year, an event of 

his/her choice.  The event will not necessarily accord with the agreed criteria for Lord Mayoral visits 

but it will not be in conflict with the Council’s or the City’s priorities.  The event will not be outside 

the county of Devon.  This is to recognise the demands placed upon the Lord Mayor during the Civic 

year of office.  The Lord Mayor may also choose to be supported by a Mace Bearer at one of their 

charity events each year. 
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Appendix 8 - Regalia Insurance Document 

 
Regalia Insurance Document 

First Name  

Surname  

Full address including postcode  

Type of door lock: minimum 5 lever mortice 

deadlock (eg. BS3621) 

 

Are there window locks downstairs?  

Are there window locks upstairs?  

Is there a fire alarm?  

Is there an intruder alarm?  

Are there any additional security features?  

NAME:  

SIGNATURE:  

DATE:  
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Appendix 9 – Civic Budget 
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Appendix 10 – Councillor Allowances 2024-25 

 

The payment of allowances to elected members of local authorities is governed by the Local  

Government (Members’ Allowances England) Regulations 2003 (“the regulations”). This scheme is  

effective from 1 April 2024: 

 

This scheme provides guidance in respect of: 

 

 A basic allowance 

 Special responsibility allowances 

 

Allowance  £ 

Basic Allowance £12,752.00 

Lord Mayors Allowance £17,715.00 

Deputy Lord Mayors Allowance £5,846.00 

Committee Chairs £12,752.00 

Vice Chair Planning £6,376.00 

Vice Chair Licensing £3,188.00 

 

 

Travel Allowances  

 

Car, Motorcycle and Bicycle Allowance Rates are set in lines with those paid to officers of the  

authority. Existing travel and subsistence arrangements will continue, i.e. that Members are entitled  

to claim such allowances necessarily met in carrying out their official duties as councillors outside  

of the city boundary (in line with the officers’ scheme). 

 

Travel within Plymouth and peninsula (counties of Devon, Cornwall, Somerset and Dorset)  

HMRC RATE: 

 45p per business mile up to 10,000 miles  

 25p per business mile over 10,000 miles 

 

‘Out of Peninsula rate’: 

 25p per business mile 

 

Low emission car rate (travel within Plymouth and Peninsula) 

 Cars with up to 110g/km CO2 emissions, and/or in tax band A or B: 

 50p per business mile up to 10,000 miles  

 29p per business mile over 10,000 miles 

 

HMRC passenger rate: 

 5p per business mile per passenger  

 

 

 

 

Note: All allowances are subject to annual increase in line with staff pay awards. 2024/25 not yet 

applied. 
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Appendix 11 – Lord Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor Cadet 

 
Each year the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor appoint a Cadet.  The successful cadet/s are the 

face of the Police/Army/Air and Navy Sea Cadets in Plymouth, and will accompany the Lord Mayor and 

Deputy Lord Mayor on a number of official duties throughout the year playing a key role in important 

occasions and Civic Events including the Lord Mayor’s Choosing Ceremony, Armed Forces Week and 

the Remembrance Sunday service. 

 

Becoming the Lord Mayor’s Cadet is an amazing opportunity for any young person to gain experience 

in “Civic Life” and will be an excellent role model to junior cadets allowing individuals to develop their 

interpersonal skills. 

 

Recruitment Process 

 

1. Cadet units are invited to submit their nominees 

2. The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor designate are invited to meet with the Lord 

Mayor’s PA to shortlist applicants and invite them for interview. 

3. The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor form part of the interview panel alongside a 

member of the Civic Support Team. 

4. The successful Cadet/s are notified and officially appointed at the Lord Mayor’s choosing 

ceremony.  
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Appendix 12 – Tips for newly elected Lord Mayors 
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 Preamble 

 

The purpose of this Civic Handbook is to inform the Lord Mayor what to expect during his/her 

year in office and to inform councillors, members of the public, voluntary groups, businesses and 

other organisations about the role of the Lord Mayor. 

 

 
1.  The Lord Mayoralty 

 
1.1  History 

 

In Britain, the civic office of mayor brings with it over 800 years of tradition and loyalty to the 

crown and a direct link to the monarch through parliament. The office of mayor was first 

introduced by the Normans in the eleventh century, and the word itself derives from the Latin 

‘magnus’, meaning ‘great’. The first English mayor was the lord mayor of the City of London who 

took office in 1189.  From 1835, the title of mayor was given to the head of each municipal 

council, or ‘corporation’, in England, with the post holder being seen as the ‘first citizen’ who 

spoke for the whole town or city and gave it an identity. The role of a mayor is covered by 

Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1972, which states that all local authorities must appoint 

a chairman. The only authorities who can use the alternative term ‘mayor’ are those which have 

been granted a Royal Charter and given the status of borough or city. 

 
1.2  Plymouth’s Lord Mayor 

On 6 May 1935, King George V granted the dignity of Lord Mayor to the City of Plymouth: 

 ‘The King, on the recommendation of the Home Secretary, has been graciously pleased to 

command that in commemoration of his Majesty’s Silver Jubilee, the Chief Magistrate, now and 

for the time being, of the City of Plymouth, shall bear the style and title Lord Mayor.’ 

 
1.3    Candidates for Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor 

Candidates for the positions of Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor must be members of the 

City Council (sections 3(1), 5(1) and 5(2) of the Local Government Act 1972).  

In Plymouth, it is traditional for the positions of Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor to alternate 

annually between the Conservative group and the Labour group (the two main political groups 

making up the council), irrespective of the overall political control of the council.  If a third, or 

other, main political group(s) arise, alternative arrangements may be discussed and agreed at the 

appropriate time. 
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1.4  Election of Lord Mayor 

Each year the council appoints a Lord Mayor Selection Committee (composed of six members of 

the council) to receive a nomination for a suitable person to fill the position of Lord Mayor for 

the following year. The nomination, if accepted, is submitted to the full council for endorsement. 

It is the practice in Plymouth for the Lord Mayor to nominate his/her Deputy Lord Mayor who, 

traditionally, is a member of the same political group as the Lord Mayor. 

The election of the Lord Mayor takes place officially at the Annual General Meeting of the council 

which is held in the Guildhall, Plymouth, on the third Friday in May each year. Attendance at the 

ceremony is normally by invitation but, as this is a public meeting, members of the public may also 

attend (tickets are available from the Lord Mayor’s office). 

 

1.5  Elliot Terrace 

Number 3 Elliot Terrace, The Hoe, was erected in the later part of the 19th century by John 

Pethick, a leading Victorian property developer and was acquired in 1908 by Waldorf Astor who 

had come to Plymouth as a Unionist Parliamentary Candidate. 

Successful in the second of the General Elections of 1910, Waldorf Astor was again returned in 

1918 but, following the death of his father Viscount Astor, he was forced to surrender his seat in 

the House of Commons. 

In the resulting by-election, his wife, Nancy, agreed to stand and in 1919 became MP for 

Plymouth Sutton. 

Nancy Astor made history as the first woman MP to take her seat in the House of Commons. 

Waldorf Astor, like Sir Francis Drake before him, was appointed Mayor without being a member 

of the Council and held the Office between 1939 and 1944 during the war years. He was 

instrumental in bringing together the people to formulate the rebuilding of Plymouth leading to 

the production in 1943 of the 'Plan for Plymouth'. 

Waldorf Astor died in 1952, Nancy in 1964.  Before her death she gave 3 Elliot Terrace to the 

City of Plymouth and the house has become known as the Lord Mayor’s residence.  It is used for 

civic and other hospitality, and by visiting dignitaries and circuit judges. 

Also, the council seeks to use 3 Elliot Terrace to promote the city’s priorities.   

Guided tours 

Visitors can explore the elegant rooms of the former Astor family home and view its valuable 

historic memorabilia. The house is filled with artefacts, antiques and photographs from the 

Astors’ time and a guided tour provides in-depth information about the house and the lives and 

history of its previous owners. 
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The tours are led by a Lord Mayor’s Mace Bearer and include refreshments served in the drawing 

room. 

 

The house is only opened for specific purposes, so guided tours must be booked two weeks in 

advance of the preferred date.  A minimum of ten visitors and a maximum of fifteen are 

permitted.  

 

The tours are free for children under ten years of age, £3 for children aged ten to sixteen and 

£5.25 for adults. 

 

For more information or to make a booking contact the Lord Mayor’s Secretary by calling 

304858 or emailing lordmayor@plymouth.gov.uk 

 

(The Lord Mayor may offer a guided tour to a local community or voluntary group and the costs 

will be borne by the official hospitality fund.) 
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2 The Office of Lord Mayor 

 

2.1 Introduction 

 
This Civic Handbook will assist the Lord Mayor and the Deputy Lord Mayor to undertake their 

duties and will also help members of the public, councillors, council officers, voluntary groups, 

businesses and other organisations to understand how the Lord Mayoralty functions. 

 

Any queries arising should be addressed to the Civic Support Coordinator, who is available to 

assist the Lord Mayor and/or Deputy and advise of requirements at particular events and 

engagements. 

 

2.2 The role of the Lord Mayor 

The Lord Mayor is the official representative of the Crown in the city.  In accordance with the 

Local Government Act 1972, the Lord Mayor shall have precedence in the Plymouth city area, 

but not so as to ‘prejudicially affect Her Majesty’s Royal Prerogative’. In practice, this means 

that the Lord Mayor is accorded the status of the city’s first citizen, only giving way in the 

presence of the Sovereign or his/her representative (i.e. Her Majesty’s Lord-Lieutenant for the 

county). 

As the First Citizen of the city, the Lord Mayor represents not only the city but also the people 

of Plymouth.  The Lord Mayor supports local people, organisations and businesses (in 

accordance with the criteria for civic engagements – see Appendix A) by launching, attending 

and hosting functions on behalf of the city council.  All invitations for the Lord Mayor to attend 

an event must be sent to the Lord Mayor's office (see section 5). 

The Lord Mayor undertakes all civic and ceremonial duties on behalf of the city, including 

attendance at civic services, Remembrance Day services, royal visits, Freedom of the City 

events, military home coming parades, Lord Mayor Choosing events (May), Lord Mayor's Day 

parade (May), the Fishing Feast (July) and the Lord Mayor's Christmas carol service and 

children’s Christmas Carol services at the Minster Church of St Andrew. 

The title of Lord Mayor is used, whether the incumbent is male or female. 

The Lord Mayor chairs meetings of the full council.  In the absence of the Lord Mayor, the 

Deputy Lord Mayor will chair a meeting of the full council. (The chair may have a second or 

‘casting’ vote in the event of an equality of votes, even if they did not vote in the first instance.) 

During the year in office, the Lord Mayor traditionally takes no active part in the political affairs 

of the council.  (See also paragraph 4) 

The Lord Mayor will abide by the council’s code of conduct for members.   
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2.3 The role of the Deputy Lord Mayor 

 

With the exception of instances where the Lord Mayor and the Deputy Lord Mayor are 

required to be in attendance at the same time, e.g. major ceremonies, civic church services, 

etc., the Lord Mayor and the Deputy Lord Mayor will not normally attend simultaneous 

engagements which require more than one car to be in use at any one time. 

 

The Deputy Lord Mayor cannot accept any direct invitation (other than in the circumstances 

mentioned above), on the principle that all invitations should be sent to the Lord Mayor in the 

first instance.  

 

During periods of major special events, simultaneous engagements will be allowed provided 

that any additional transport or staffing costs can be met from the existing budget. 

The Deputy Lord Mayor will abide by the council’s code of conduct for members. 

 

2.4 The role of the Lady Mayoress, Consort or Escort 

 

This is a title unknown in law and the office of Lady Mayoress has no legal standing.  There is 

no legal obligation to select a Lady Mayoress, Consort or Escort but all Lord Mayors generally 

do, for support. 

 

If the Lord Mayor is female: 

 

 a male partner will be known as Consort (the Lord Mayor’s husband) or Escort (an 

unmarried partner, relative or friend) 

 a female partner will be known as the Lady Mayoress 

 

If the Lord Mayor is male: 

 

 a female partner will be known as the Lady Mayoress. 

 a male partner will be known as Escort. 

 

 

2.5 Civic Support Staff 

 

Responsibility for the Lord Mayor’s Parlour and the Lord Mayoral support staff lies with the 

Oversight and Governance Manager through the Civic Support Coordinator, either of whom 

should be informed immediately by the Lord Mayor or the Deputy Lord Mayor in the event of 

any difficulties arising involving support staff. 

 

The Civic Support Manager has day to day responsibility for the support staff and the Mace 

Bearers work to a rota prepared on the basis of the agreed three week diary of engagements.  

Should the Lord Mayor want support staff to be available at other times, early engagement 

must be sought from the Civic Support Manager and requests will be considered if within 

budget. 
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Despite the nature of the engagements and the time that the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord 

Mayor spend in the company of employees, it should be remembered that, on all occasions, 

staff will refer to the Lord Mayor, Deputy Lord Mayor and their partner/consort by their titles. 

 

2.6 Civic Diary 
 

The three week diary of civic engagements is normally issued, by the Lord Mayor’s Secretary, 

on the Friday prior to the start of the diary.  Additional invitations received after publication of 

the civic diary are normally refused. 
 

Should the Lord Mayor become aware of a late request directly, this must be discussed with 

the Lord Mayor's Secretary before any commitment is given because of the implications this 

may have upon the work rota and availability of the support staff. 

 
Where the Lord Mayor has requested that s/he attends an engagement at late notice, full 

details of the engagement should be received before final acceptance so as to ensure that the 

Lord Mayor’s Secretary and the Mace Bearer are fully aware of the arrangements. 

 

Most engagements are confirmed some considerable time before the actual date, and situations 

do arise when a subsequent invitation is received for what might be considered a more 

prestigious function.  The Lord Mayor’s Secretary will consult with the Civic Support Manager 

who will, if it is in the interests of the City Council and if the Deputy Lord Mayor can represent 

the Lord Mayor at the previously accepted event, authorise attendance at the subsequent 

engagement. 

 

2.7 Engagements 

 

It is essential that every invitation is referred to the Lord Mayors Secretary for action. Often, 

the Lord Mayor will be approached in person, by letter, over the phone, by representatives of a 

charity, or an organisation asking him/her to attend a function. The Lord Mayor’s Secretary can 

advise on the availability of the Lord Mayor, inform the organiser of proper procedures and 

send out the appropriate form to be completed. This prevents the possibility of a clash of 

functions and helps greatly to plan the civic year.  

 

If the Lord Mayor's Secretary is in any doubt on the question of whether or not an invitation 

should be accepted, the Civic Support Coordinator and/or the Oversight and Governance 

Manager will be consulted. 

 

Engagements will be accepted if they fall within the agreed guidelines – see Appendix A. 

 

It is not appropriate for the Lord Mayor to accept invitations sent solely for commercial or 

political purposes.  Moreover, there are certain other invitations which it is perfectly 

appropriate for the Lord Mayor to decline in favour of the Deputy Lord Mayor.  If there is any 

doubt, the Lord Mayor will refer to the Civic Support Coordinator and/or the Oversight and 
Governance Manager for guidance. 

 

The Deputy Lord Mayor cannot accept any invitation (other than in the circumstances 

mentioned above) on the principle that all invitations should be sent to the Lord Mayor in the 

first instance.  If the Deputy Lord Mayor has a special interest, then this should be drawn to the 
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attention of the Lord Mayor. Similarly, if the Lord Mayor feels that a particular function is more 

appropriate to the Deputy Lord Mayor, the Deputy's availability will be confirmed in order for 

the invitation to be redirected.  The Lord Mayor and the Deputy Lord Mayor will not, other 

than in exceptional circumstances, undertake engagements which require more than one car to 

be in use at any time. 

 

In the event of neither the Lord Mayor nor the Deputy Lord Mayor being available, the Lord 

Mayor’s Parlour will consider whether the Leader, a cabinet member, the immediate past Lord 

Mayor or other former Lord Mayors can attend before declining the invitation. 

 

The Lord Mayor should attend punctually, and be ready to take his/her place at the appointed 

time, wearing chains and robes as appropriate. Failure to do so means that everybody at the 

function is affected.  

 

There is no commitment on the part of the Lord Mayor, by virtue of acceptance of an 

invitation, to stay until the end of the function in question.  Indeed, on many occasions it is 

desirable for the Lord Mayor to leave before the end, for two principal reasons, namely - 

 

a) The Lord Mayor should have regard to the fact that the host may well have other 

guests requiring his/her attention, and 

 

b) protocol demands that, at more formal receptions in particular, guests should not 

begin to leave before the Lord Mayor has departed, and at other functions guests 

frequently feel unable to leave before the departure of the Lord Mayor. 
 

Where possible, invitations from the Lord Mayor’s Parlour should stipulate the end time for 

engagements so as to allow guests to pre-book transport. This is particularly useful for guests 

attending a function at 3 Elliott Terrace for the first time and will also assist guests to know the 

approximate time they can leave engagements without worrying about offending the Lord 

Mayor. 

 

It should be noted that it is neither necessary nor desirable for the Lady Mayoress to 

accompany the Lord Mayor on all occasions.  Each case should be treated on its merits and the 

Lord Mayor's Secretary will advise as necessary. The Lady Mayoress/Lord Mayor’s 

consort/escort does not represent the Lord Mayor if the latter is unavailable. 

 

An engagement, once accepted, should not be cancelled unless there is an emergency or for 

exceptional reasons.   All engagements are important, no matter how small and organisers 

often put in a lot of effort to make their events successful.  The Lord Mayor’s role in 

promoting their activity is vital.  It is not acceptable for the Lord Mayor to change his/her mind 

if a later invitation is more to their liking. 

 

 

2.8 Informal approaches during year in office 

 

It is very likely that, during the Lord Mayor's year of office, and by virtue of the office, informal 

approaches will be made in regard to matters such as the Freedom of the City, Honours lists 

etc. 
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In all such instances, the Lord Mayor must exercise caution, and take care that no 

commitments or undertakings are given on behalf of the council. In such cases, an assurance 

must be given that the representations will be forwarded to the relevant authority. 

 

Neither should the Lord Mayor commit the council by issuing invitations to foreign visitors, or 

delegations, to Plymouth without prior reference to the Civic Support Coordinator.   

Similar situations can arise affecting the Deputy Lord Mayor, who should also follow the above 

advice. 

 

2.9 Lord Mayor Briefings 

 

In addition to opportunities for discussion which may arise during the course of normal day-to-

day activities in the Lord Mayor’s Parlour, the Civic Support Coordinator or the Lord Mayor’s 

Secretary will arrange for regular meetings with the Lord Mayor to discuss invitations and diary 

commitments.  The Lord Mayor’s Secretary will be responsible for obtaining information about 

the requirements for each engagement from the organiser. 

 

In the case of events organised by the council, Strategic Directors and/or Service Directors 

must notify the Lord Mayor's Secretary at least three weeks prior to an engagement and 

provide a draft of any speeches/remarks they wish the Lord Mayor to make at the event.  It 

may also be necessary for Strategic Directors/Service Directors to brief the Lord Mayor in 

person prior to the event.  A Strategic Director/Service Director will accompany the Lord 

Mayor at the engagement. 

 
It is recognised that, occasionally, events are organised at short notice - in such circumstances 

the Strategic or Service Director/Heads of Service should liaise with the Civic Support 

Coordinator to agree the timetable for the provision of information. 

 

More specific briefings are provided by the Civic Support Coordinator for major civic events 

such as Lord Mayor’s Choosing and Remembrance Sunday.  

 

 

2.10 Accommodation 

 

2.10.1 The Council House 

 

Any request made to the Lord Mayor for the use of accommodation within the Council House 

should be referred to the Civic Support Coordinator to authorise in accordance with Council 

policies. 

 

In order to maintain the visual appearance of the Lord Mayor's Parlour and the offices 

generally, any desire to display any gift, painting or plaque etc. must be first referred to the 

Civic Support Coordinator. 

 

2.10.2 3 Elliot Terrace 

 

3 Elliot Terrace may be used by the Lord Mayor and the Deputy Lord Mayor for hospitality 

purposes as an alternative venue to the Parlour, subject to its availability. 
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Whilst the Lord Mayor is given preference for the use of the house, it should be noted that an 

agreement exists with the Lord Chancellor's Office granting exclusive use to visiting Judges for 

periods each year.   

 

In recognition of the demands placed upon the Lord Mayor, the Lord Mayor may use 3 Elliot 

Terrace for up to six weekends (two nights) per year on a full board basis, subject to 

availability. The cost of these weekends is met from the Official Hospitality Fund. 

 

However, if the Lord Mayor wishes other members of the family, or friends, to join them on 

these occasions, the costs arising are the personal responsibility of the Lord Mayor through the 

Personal Allowance, at a true cost (to be reviewed each year).  

 

When the Lord Mayor requires the use of 3 Elliot Terrace for such a weekend the Lord 

Mayor's Secretary will make the necessary arrangements. 

 

The City Council’s No Smoking Policy applies to all parts of 3 Elliot Terrace, including the 

balcony. 

 

2.11 Lord Mayoral Allowance, Hospitality Budget and Special Functions 

 

The approved budget provides for: 

  

1) The Lord Mayor's and Deputy Lord Mayor's personal allowances 

2)  The Official Hospitality Fund 
3) Special Functions 

 

2.11.1 Personal Allowances 

 

Personal Allowances are for expenses which arise as a result of holding the office and 

undertaking the duties. 

 

The Personal Allowances are normally paid by monthly instalment on the first of each month, 

starting on 1 June.  It is possible, however, for an advance payment to be made following the 

meeting of the council at which the nomination is confirmed, with subsequent monthly 

payments adjusted accordingly, except in an election year when no payments will be made prior to 

the date of the election if the nominated Lord Mayor or Deputy Lord Mayor are standing for re-

election.   

 

The Lord Mayor and the Deputy Lord Mayor are advised to keep records for the purposes of 

HM Revenue and Customs and to provide a quarterly statement setting out expenditure 

incurred through the personal allowances.  The Civic Support Coordinator can be asked for 

further advice. 

 

The personal allowance should be used to meet the costs of all subscriptions and donations to 

appeals, exhibitions, clubs and institutions incurred on official duties (for example raffle 

tickets/sponsorship/church collections/other collections), together with the costs arising from 

the invitation of any personal guests, family or friends to civic functions, together with the cost 

of any private events, e.g. luncheons and dinners.  When appropriate, direct deductions from 

the monthly allowances will be made by the Service Director for Finance subject to the Lord 
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Mayor or Deputy Lord Mayor being advised in advance. 

 

2.11.2 The Official Hospitality Fund 

 

The Official Hospitality Fund will meet the costs of the following: 

 

a) official luncheons, dinner and functions 

b) all travel and hotel expenses associated with official business away from the city (on 

very rare and exceptional occasions) 

 

Guest lists for official functions are drawn up in consultation with the Lord Mayor and the 

cabinet member with responsibility for the Lord Mayor’s office and agreed by the Civic Support 

Coordinator.  Guest lists may include the Lord Mayor, Lady Mayoress, Deputy Lord Mayor, 

Deputy Lady Mayoress, the Leaders of the two main political groups (or representatives), the 

Chief Executive (or representative), any relevant Chief Officers together with, if appropriate, 

representatives from each of the political groups (to reflect the political balance of the council). 

Any table plans for these functions are drawn up by the Lord Mayor’s Secretary. 

 

The Lord Mayor may, either personally or on advice from an officer, take the initiative in 

proposing what functions should be held and financed from the Official Hospitality Fund.  The 

Civic Support Manager should be consulted prior to any arrangements being made and the 

function should be for a purpose associated with the activities or priorities of the City Council.  

If doubt arises as to the nature, form or size of a proposed function, the Civic Support Manager 

will consult with the Cabinet portfolio holder with responsibility for the Lord Mayor’s office.  
 

The official hospitality budget is very limited and the Lord Mayor should be wary of promising 

hospitality to any group or organisation (including other council departments) without first 

discussing the possibility with the Civic Support Coordinator.  

 

2.11.4 Special Functions 

 

The major ceremonial events include the election of the Lord Mayor, the Remembrance 

Sunday service on the Hoe, the Lord Mayor’s Carol Service and the Fishing Feast and these are 

treated as commitments against the Special Functions budget.  Other commitments within this 

budget are the Lord Mayor’s Day and homecoming/ Freedom parades. 
 

 

2.11.4 Private Lord Mayoral Luncheons/Dinner Parties 

 

In the event of the Lord Mayor wishing to hold a private function, with a guest list of his/her 

own choosing, either in the Parlour or at 3 Elliot Terrace, advice should be sought from the 

Civic Support Coordinator prior to any arrangements being made. 

 

In such cases, the Lord Mayor is not required to extend the courtesy of invitations to the 

Leader, Leader of the Opposition or the Chief Executive but s/he is responsible for meeting all 

of the costs of the function (including staffing/security costs) from the personal allowance.  The 

Lord Mayor will not wear the chains of office and a Mace Bearer will not be on duty  

 

Similar arrangements also apply to the Deputy Lord Mayor, who should first consult the Lord 
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Mayor. 

 

2.11.5 Budget Monitoring 

 

The monitoring of the Official Hospitality Fund and the Special Functions Budget is the 

responsibility of the Civic Support Coordinator. All payments from these budgets are 

authorised by the Civic Support Coordinator or the Oversight and Governance Manager 

subject to compliance with the Financial Regulations of the council. 

 

2.12 The Lord Mayor’s Charity 

 

It is the practice (but not obligatory) for the Lord Mayor to nominate one or more charities to 

receive funds generated during their year in office.  While the Lord Mayor is free to choose the 

beneficiaries, it is expected that these will be city based initiatives or organisations.  The charity 

should already be established and registered with the Charity Commission.  Due to the cost, 

the Lord Mayor is not advised to set up his/her own charity and the council will not be 

responsible for any such costs. 

 

The focus of the civic support staff is on the council’s civic programme and Lord Mayoral 

support rather than upon the Lord Mayor’s charities and the civic office does not have the staff 

resources to act as fundraisers.  However, assistance can be given in other ways: 

 

 by adding the details of the charity/charities to civic engagement forms  

 by adding details on civic Christmas cards/emails ie. Spare a thought at Christmas for … 

 banking any funds received and paying bills (either from funds already raised or the 

council will  be reimbursed once funds have been raised)  

 report financial statements to the Lord Mayor’s Charity Committee (see below) 

 balance the account at the end of each Lord Mayor’s year 

 approve the content and wording of all tickets, posters, menus etc.  

 

Before the Lord Mayor chooses a charity(ies), s/he may wish to set up a Charity Committee 

for the year (a local charity may already have enough volunteers to run the Charity Committee 

for the year). 

 

It is the Lord Mayor’s responsibility to convene his or her Charity Committee at the start the 

Lord Mayoral year – preferably, the committee members will have been identified earlier, once 

the Lord Mayor-Elect is identified in January/February. 

 

The Charity Committee will: 

 

 discuss ideas for a programme of events for the forthcoming year 

 check the availability of the Lord Mayor 

 be responsible for ensuring that sufficient people are available to run any event 

including actively promoting the event and selling tickets, buying the provisions 

required, making refreshments on the day, running stalls and so on 

 find sufficient tombola/raffle prizes for events  

 

The number of representatives who attend the committee meetings should be kept to a 
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minimum and other help called upon when needed. At least one member of the committee 

should, ideally, have some experience in fund-raising.  

  

Having chosen a charity, the Lord Mayor will then call the inaugural meeting of the Charity 

Committee and elect a Chair (which could be the Deputy Lord Mayor) and a Secretary (the 

council’s civic support staff are not available to fulfill these roles). 

 

If a major event is planned such as, for example, a Lord Mayor’s Ball or a Banquet, this should 

be referred to the Civic Office which has expertise at planning large scale events.  A member of 

staff may advise the Charity Committee for such an event.  The member of staff will assist in an 

advisory capacity only and will not be expected to undertake any of the tasks required to 

organise the event. 

 

It is normal for the Lord Mayor to report to Council at the Annual Meeting the results of the 

charity appeal during the year and make a presentation to the charity/charities just prior to the 

end of the term of office.  

 

2.13 Catering  

 

Civic catering is provided by outside caterers and such companies, in line with corporate 

policy, must be registered on the sell2plymouth website.  The selection of caterers will comply 

with the council’s procurement rules as set out in the constitution. Suggested menus for official 

functions are provided by the caterers and the Lord Mayor is consulted. It should be noted that 

the level of hospitality may vary from function to function and the Civic Support Coordinator 
will advise on the appropriate standard. 

 

2.14 Official calls on the Lord Mayor in the Parlour 
 

These fall into two main categories, as follows - 

 

a) Official calls involving Government Ministers, visiting Heads from abroad, Civic 

Heads, etc.  Whenever possible, the Lord Mayor should be supported by the Chief 

Executive (or representative) and, where appropriate, also by the Leader and 

Leader of the Opposition of the City Council (or their representatives). 
 

  It should, however, be noted that not every visit to the council by a government 

member etc, will involve the Lord Mayor 

 

b) Other official calls.  Such calls do not normally require any attendance, save where 

the Lord Mayor requests. 

 

2.15 Visits outside the city 
 

Invitations to events and engagements held outside of the city of Plymouth will not normally be 
accepted, unless there is a specific and overriding factor. 

 

2.16 Attendance at funerals 
 

The Lord Mayor should make every endeavour to attend 'official' funerals accompanied by the 
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Chief Executive (or representative). 

 

Funerals of all Freemen, Honorary Aldermen, former Lord Mayors and Deputy Lord Mayors, 

serving Members of the City Council and former senior or long-serving Members of the City 

Council will be notified as a matter of course to all Members of the City Council, Aldermen, 

Strategic Directors, etc. 

 

2.17 Royal Visits 

 

On an official royal visit, the order of presentation by the Lord Lieutenant to the royal visitor 

will normally be: 

 

Lord Lieutenant's spouse 

High Sheriff and spouse 

Lord Mayor and Lady Mayoress  

Chief Executive and spouse 

Member of Parliament and spouse 

Chief Constable and spouse 

Leader of the Council 

 

After these presentations, the Lord Lieutenant will present the principal organiser of the event 

to which the visit is being made and other necessary presentations may be deputed to the 

organiser. 

 
Her Majesty the Queen has ruled that these arrangements should apply also to official visits 

made by members of the royal family styled His or Her Royal Highness and their spouses. 

 

In cases of doubt, the civic support staff will consult the Lord Lieutenant’s office for guidance. 

 

The Civic Support Coordinator will advise on any arrangements from time to time agreed with 

the Lord Lieutenant. 
 

All invitations to the Lord Lieutenant to attend any functions must be carefully considered and 

discussed with the Civic Support Coordinator before being issued.  It should be borne in mind 
that, even if it is not the specific intention of such an invitation, the Lord Lieutenant must be 

treated as the principal guest. 

 

2.18 Salute taking, March-pasts, etc. 
 

It is, from time to time, necessary for the Lord Mayor to take the salute, or to be in attendance 

when a Senior Service Officer is performing such a function. 

 

If colours are being paraded, it is normal for the salute to be held whilst the colours pass. 

 
On other occasions, if only chains or collarettes are being worn salutes should be taken in a 

similar manner. 

 

When wearing the robes and hat, the Mayor should remove the hat when: 
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• Acknowledging salutes 

• During the playing of the National Anthem 

• In the presence of a member of the Royal Family 

• During March Pasts, the Mayor should remove and replace the hat 

• As each section passes the salute 

• When the Colours pass 

 • On an Inspection when the Mayor passes the Colours 

 

On all occasions, however, advice will be sought from the organisers of the event if the 

duration of the salute is not obvious from the information immediately available. 

 

2.19 Lord Mayoral transport 

 

Arriving or departing in a chauffeur driven car is a particularly visible use of public funds and is 

susceptible to comment. It is, therefore, essential that the car is used properly at all times and 

is never used for private purposes, but for purposes associated with the public duties of the 

Lord Mayoralty and which can be justified to the public.   

 

The Mace Bearers are responsible for transporting the Lord Mayor in the civic car for official 

duties. Every effort is made to make maximum use of the vehicle so, as far as is possible, the 

car is also used for transporting the Deputy Lord Mayor upon official business - although the 

Lord Mayor’s use takes precedence and alternative transport is occasionally necessary for the 

Deputy Lord Mayor. The car is not normally used by the Lord Mayor or Deputy Lord Mayor’s 

consorts, except when associated with accompanying the Lord Mayor or Deputy on official 
business.  

 

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor will normally travel to the Council House using their 

own or other transport and will meet the Mace Bearer at the Council House.  If the official 

engagement is elsewhere, the Mace Bearer will collect the Lord Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor 

from their home if it is expedient to do so i.e. the Lord Mayor’s address is on the way to the 

official engagement.  The civic flag is flown on the civic car only when the Lord Mayor is a 

passenger in the car. 

 

If the Lord Mayor is meeting someone informally in the Council House and neither the robes 

nor the chains of office are required, the Mace Bearer will not be on duty. 

 

Wherever possible, the Lord Mayoral party travels together in order to avoid the need for 

several separate journeys to and from events.  

 

As the civic car is a business vehicle, it is against the law to smoke in the car and seat belts 

must be worn. 

   

There are no hard and fast rules about the seating arrangements.  However, it is recommended 

that the Lord Mayor sits behind the passenger seat as this enables him/her to step straight onto 

the pavement once the door has been opened by the Mace Bearer. 

 

2.20 Clothing 

 

The civic support staff will offer advice for each civic engagement if it is not clear from the 
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invitation; however the following is suggested as a guide. 

 

The Chains of Office are heavy and must be correctly positioned on clothing. The Lord Mayor, 

Lady Mayoress, Deputy Lord Mayor and Deputy Lady Mayoress will need some ‘loops’ 

(beckets) sewn into any jackets that may be worn to avoid damage to clothing. 

 

Male  

 

Tradition used to favour morning dress; however, more recently, a lounge suit, usually black, 

dark grey or navy, is the most acceptable attire. 

 

Dinner jackets are usually worn for important dinners. 

 

A good quality dark overcoat and/or raincoat for inclement weather are advisable.  

Female  

The general advice is to dress “up” rather than ”down” i.e. wear a smart suit, skirt or trouser, 

rather than casual dress. Civic occasions should be regarded as similar to a wedding with a suit 

or jacket and dress, or other traditional outfit.  

 

For evening wear a cocktail dress is advisable, this can be knee length however long dresses are 

occasionally worn.  

 

It used to be traditional for ladies to wear a hat for church services; however this is now a 

matter of personal choice. 
  

Due to the chains of office, ‘off the shoulder’ evening wear is not advisable. It is not customary 

for the Lord Mayor/Lady Mayoress to wear any necklaces with the chain of office.  

 

Payment for clothing may come out of the Lord Mayor’s and Deputy Lord Mayor’s personal 

allowances and all receipts should be kept for tax purposes. 

 

2.21 Dress Guidance 
 

In attending events, ceremonies and services, the Lord Mayor should take into consideration 
diversity and the customs, traditions and religious representation of others. 

 

2.21.1 Chain of Office/Collarettes 
 

Chain of Office may be worn on the following occasions: 

 

a) at all meetings of the city council 

b) all engagements within the Parlour/Council House/civic buildings (including Elliot 

Terrace) 

b) dinner/luncheon engagements outside the civic buildings 
c) major ceremonial occasions, i.e. royal visits, degree conferment ceremonies, etc. 

irrespective of whether full robes are to be worn 

d) other functions when accompanied by a Mace Bearer 
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For the Lord Mayor’s safety and that of the chain it is advisable, particularly if the Lord Mayor is 

outside, that s/he does not stray from the Mace Bearer.  Should the Mace Bearer feel that the 
Lord Mayor is at risk s/he will take immediate action – the Lord Mayor should be advised by 

the Mace Bearer. 

 

The Civic Support Coordinator will advise the Lord Mayor with regard to those occasions 

when the Collarette of Office is the appropriate insignia to wear instead of the chains. 

 

The same guidelines apply to the Deputy Lord Mayor when representing the Lord Mayor at 

functions.  When accompanying the Lord Mayor, the Deputy Lord Mayor should wear a 

collarette apart from on major civic/ceremonial occasions when it is appropriate for the 

Deputy Lord Mayor to wear chains also.  In such circumstances, the same obviously applies to 

the Deputy Lady Mayoress. 

 

It is not appropriate to wear any floral decorations, other than a poppy, whilst wearing the 

Chains of Office. The Lord Mayor, on occasion, may be offered a buttonhole, lapel badge or 

ribbon whilst attending a function. It may be acceptable to wear it until the end of that 

engagement and remove it before attending the next one.  

 

If the Deputy Lord Mayor (with the Deputy Lady Mayoress) is hosting a function in the absence 

of the Lord Mayor, the Lady Mayoress/Lord Mayor’s Consort is not expected to be present, 

but if s/he is, s/he must be regarded as being present in an unofficial capacity. 

 

The Lord Mayor should not wear the Chain of Office outside the city boundary without the 

express permission of the council being visited. The Lord Mayor’s Secretary will seek that 

permission. 

 

The Civic Support Coordinator will advise the Lord Mayor and the Deputy Lord Mayor with 

regards to insurance and security when wearing civic regalia. 

 

With regard to visits overseas, the council has previously considered the practice concerning 

the wearing of Chains of Office by the Lord Mayor or the Deputy abroad, and has agreed that 
this will not be permitted and the appropriate collarettes should be taken instead.  (Overseas 

visits will only be undertaken under very rare and exceptional circumstances). 

 

2.21.2 Ceremonial Robes 
 

The Lord Mayor wears the black and gold robes only on major ceremonial occasions such as 

Lord Mayor Choosing, Freedom events, Honorary Alderman ceremonies, royal visits, Fishing 

Feast, Civic Church Services, major military occasions, degree conferment ceremonies, etc. 

 

It is a tradition that the red robe is worn at the annual Lord Mayor's Carol Service at the 
Minster Church of St Andrew and when presiding over meetings of the City Council.  The 

Civic Support Coordinator will advise when the red robe should be worn at lesser civic 

functions.  The red robes may be worn for display purposes when undertaking school or 

similar visits, should the Lord Mayor wish. 
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It should be noted that the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor may not eat or drink (with the 

exception of ceremonial toasts and water) whilst robed to avoid damage to the material. 

 

2.21.3 Dress/Medals/Badges, etc. 

 

Lord Mayoral/city council functions 
 

The normal dress for receptions is lounge suit unless, of course, the reception precedes a 

dinner or similar function where other dress requirements are stipulated. 

 

Functions held within the Lord Mayor’s Parlour, Dining Room or at 3 Elliot Terrace are subject 

to the Lord Mayor's personal wishes regarding dress. 
 

Other functions 
 

In accepting engagements elsewhere, the Lord Mayor should conform to the dress 

requirements set out in the invitation. 
 

Medals 

 

Miniature medals are worn on full evening dress or dinner jackets only when the invitation 

states that decorations may be worn.  For city council functions, it has been the practice to 

request such decorations only when the occasion has a military 'flavour'. 

 

It is not normal for medals to be worn on civic robes, except for Remembrance Day when full 

medals (not miniatures) should be worn on the left breast of the robes. 
 

 

Commemorative badges 
 

At the Annual Lord Mayor Choosing Ceremony, the retiring Lord Mayor is traditionally 

presented with a badge (on blue ribbon) commemorating the year of office. 
 

This badge may be worn at: 

 

a) ceremonial meetings of the city council when the Lord Mayor is robed 

b) ceremonies or processions when the Lord Mayor is robed 

c) civic dinners, receptions or other social functions of a civic nature within the city 

d) any other civic function when requested by the Lord Mayor 

e) civic functions in another local authority's area at the express invitation of the 

Mayor or Chairman of that authority 

 

The above provisions apply also to the badges worn by Honorary Freemen and Honorary 

Aldermen, although in cases where more than one badge is held by an individual, only one of 

these should be worn at any one time. 
 

2.21.4  Astor Diamonds 
 

The Astor Diamonds were given to the city by Lady Nancy Astor and comprise a necklace, 
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bracelet and earrings.   

 

The jewellery used to be occasionally worn by the Lady Mayoress but the jewellery is now too 

fragile and is no longer worn.  

 

2.22 Gifts 

 

2.22.1 Giving 

 

The practice in regard to the making of gifts can vary widely.  It is however, established that 

official gifts are presented by the Lord Mayor on 'twinning' visits, on major ambassadorial visits, 

to senior military figures on retirement/leaving office and to senior council officers on 

retirement/leaving the council. 

 

A range of other gifts is held in stock and the staff will advise the Lord Mayor as to the 

availability and suitability of particular items as occasions arise.  It should be noted that gifts are 

charged to the Official Hospitality Fund and that costs must be contained within available 

budgets.  

 

Significant gifts for specific anniversaries or other major events are determined by the Civic 

Support Coordinator. 

 

 

2.22.2 Receiving 
 

The Lord Mayor should treat with extreme caution any offer of a gift, favour or hospitality. The 

person or organisation making the offer may be doing, or seeking to do, business with the 

council or may be applying to the council for planning permission or some other kind of 

decision.  

 

The Lord Mayor is personally responsible for all decisions connected with the acceptance or 

offer of gifts or hospitality and for avoiding the risk of damage to public confidence in local 

government. A good guide is that gifts of more than a nominal value should be accepted on 

behalf of the council and not retained personally.  Generally, minor tokens of goodwill or 

flowers can be accepted as personal gifts.  

 

The code of conduct states: “A member must within 28 days of receiving any gift or hospitality 

over the value of £25, provide written notification to the Authority's Monitoring Officer of the 

existence and nature of that gift or hospitality.”  Advice on gifts and hospitality can be obtained 

from the Monitoring Officer.  

 

In most cases the problem does not arise as the intention is perfectly obvious, but every effort 

will be made before the presentation to ascertain the intention of the donor of the gift. 

 

The Lord Mayor must inform the Lord Mayor's Secretary of all gifts received and a list will be 

kept in the Lord Mayor’s office.   

 

The Lord Mayor is advised to send a letter of thanks for each gift.  The office has a stock of 

gold edged cards which display the city crest – a handwritten note of thanks, introducing a 
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personal element and a specific comment about the engagement is always welcomed by the 

person/organisation responsible for the gift. 

 

2.23 Speeches 

 

The civic support staff do not write the Lord Mayor's speeches.  However, the staff may assist 

the Lord Mayor with his/her research by using an internet search engine or by demonstrating 

how such information may be found. 

 

On occasion, it will be appropriate for Strategic Directors, Service Directors or the council's 

corporate communications team to assist in this regard and to advise as to media liaison in the 

council's interests. 

 

2.24 Verbal and Written Protocols 

The correct style for addressing the Lord Mayor in writing is The Right Worshipful the Lord 

Mayor of Plymouth, Councillor (first name) (surname). When starting a letter, the phrase ’My dear 

Lord Mayor’ should be used.  

The Deputy Lord Mayor, though entitled to expect the same dignity as the Lord Mayor when 

undertaking official duties on his/her behalf, is not accorded the title The Right Worshipful.  

Verbally, in formal situations, the style is My Lord Mayor though in less formal circumstances it is 

quite correct to use simply Lord Mayor and Lady Mayoress. Similarly, Deputy Lord Mayor is the 

correct oral style for the Deputy Lord Mayor. 

 

2.25 New initiatives 

 

Any new initiatives proposed by either the Lord Mayor or the Deputy Lord Mayor must be the 

subject of prior discussion with the Civic Support Coordinator. 

 

2.26 Media 

 

Requests for statements from or interviews with the Lord Mayor, Lady Mayoress, Deputy Lord 

Mayor or Deputy Lady Mayoress will normally be progressed via the council’s corporate 

communications team.   

 

2.27 Patronages/Presidencies 

 

The Lord Mayor is currently patron, president or has honorary membership of the following 

organisations: 

 

President 

 

Plymouth and District Association for Girls Welfare 

Plymouth Pisces 

City of Plymouth Children Fund 
Plymouth Dog Training Club 
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Parkinson’s UK Plymouth & District Branch 

City of Plymouth Amateur Swimming Association 

Plymouth Clarion Choir 

Seafarers UK 

 
Patron 

 

Royal Naval Association – Plymouth 

Plymouth District Scouts 

Scoot-A-Long 

City of Plymouth Festival 

Friends of St. Andrew’s 

RAF & Allied Air Forces Monument Service Committee 

 
Honorary Membership 

 

Royal Plymouth Corinthian Yacht Club 

Rotary Club of Plymouth 

Old Plymouth Society 

 

2.28 Training 

 

Once the Civic Support Coordinator is aware of the nominations for Lord Mayor and Deputy 

Lord Mayor for the subsequent civic year, a series of meetings, training and briefing sessions 

will be arranged.  Invitations to some of the meetings will be extended to the Lady Mayoress 

and Deputy Lady Mayoress when appropriate.  Briefing/training sessions may include the 

following topics: media; protocol; writing speeches; public speaking; and civic handbook 

contents. 

 

Preparation Checklist and Initial Actions for Lord Mayor Designate 

 

The Lord Mayor designate should agree the following as soon as possible after the Lord 

Mayor’s Selection Committee submits their nomination to full council:  

 

 Choose a Lady Mayoress or Lord Mayor’s Consort/Escort 

 Choose a Deputy Lord Mayor 

 Appoint a chaplain (an honorary position and usually a Minister from a church or 

other religious institution located in the Lord Mayor’s ward) 

 Choose a charity or charities to be supported during the year and set up a Charity 

Committee 

 Provide the Lord Mayor’s Secretary with biographical notes (for display on the 

website and for media interviews/enquiries) 

 Advise the Lord Mayor’s Secretary of any dates of unavailability 

 Familiarise yourself with the protocols for accepting invitations and conduct at 

engagements (see Appendix A) 

 

See also the Local Leadership Academy member workbook, ‘Joining the chain gang – Preparing 

for the role of civic mayor’.  This is available on-line at: www.idea.gov.uk 
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3 Chairing meetings of full Council 

 

3.1 Introduction 

 

Chairing Council meetings is one of the few legal duties that the Lord Mayor performs. The 

Lord Mayor’s secretary will ensure that dates of all Council meetings are in the diary. If 

necessary, training in chairing Council meetings will be undertaken with the Lord Mayor at the 

earliest opportunity.  

 

3.2 Preparation for Council Meetings 

 

The Lord Mayor will meet with the Monitoring Officer and Oversight and Governance 

Manager prior to each Council meeting in order to be briefed on agenda items and other 

important business.  

 

3.3 Chairing Council Meetings (from the Constitution and Plymouth Members’ Skills 

Framework)  

 

The following extract is taken from the Council’s Constitution, Article 5, ‘Lord Mayor and 

Chair of the Council’: 

 

The Lord Mayor and, in his or her absence, the Deputy Lord Mayor, chairs Council meetings. 

In chairing Council the Lord Mayor will: 
 

 promote the purposes of the constitution 

 interpret the constitution 

 get the business done efficiently but pay attention to the rights of all councillors and 

the interests of local people 

 make Council a place for discussing the concerns of local people 

 encourage the public to take part in the Council’s activities 
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4 Political neutrality 

 

There is in Plymouth a long-standing convention, observed by all political groups, that the Lord 

Mayor will not participate in any party political activity and that the office holder will in all 

respects be politically neutral at all times throughout the term.  The Lord Mayor should, 

therefore, take steps to ensure that political neutrality is maintained to avoid situations and to 

refrain from comments which might reasonably be construed as indicating support for or 

opposition to any political party.  However, the exception to this is when the Lord Mayor is 

standing for election as a councillor – s/he may participate in campaigning not as the Lord 

Mayor but as an individual. 

 

The Lord Mayor will be entitled to receive information affecting the ward for which s/he is 

elected in common with other ward representatives, but should avoid open involvement in any 

matters which may be regarded as politically controversial.  Electors from the ward who 

approach the Lord Mayor for assistance should be referred to ward (or party) colleagues for 

assistance where necessary. 

 

It is accepted that the retiring Lord Mayor is entitled to attend his/her political group’s AGM 

for the following year. 

 

The Lord Mayor, whilst legally entitled to vote during a Council meeting, has traditionally 

abstained from voting (on all matters other than non-contentious items where there may be 

agreement as to the desirability of a unanimous vote).  (However, the legal position is that the 
Lord Mayor may vote and may also have a second or casting vote when an equal number of 

votes have been cast.) 

 

Political neutrality is also expected from the Deputy Lord Mayor, although the Deputy Lord 

Mayor may, by convention, exercise the right to vote in Council meetings.  The Deputy Lord 

Mayor is not normally expected to speak on contentious matters during council debate, 

although in exceptional circumstances where the Deputy Lord Mayor has particular knowledge 

of a matter or on a ward matter, a speech may be made. 

 

The Deputy Lord Mayor should avoid being involved in political controversy in the same way 

as the Lord Mayor, during the term of office. 

 

Special rules apply for 25 working days prior to the polling day, i.e. the day the election is 

formally called. This is known as the pre-election period. The council’s powers, facilities and 

resources cannot be used for electoral campaigning or political purposes.  The resources and 

facilities of the council may be used only in connection with or in support of council business. 

 

At all times, regardless of an election, there is a prohibition of political publicity.  The council’s 

generated and funded publicity must be, and must be seen to be, politically neutral.  Anything 

that could reasonably be regarded as giving a political candidate or their supporters or party an 

advantage in the election is not politically neutral.   

 

The objective of this guidance is to prevent the council, as a corporate body, influencing, 

through its own publicity, support for any particular candidate or political party. 
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5 Contact information 

 

To invite the Lord Mayor to an engagement or an event, or to discuss any matter relating to 

the Lord Mayoralty, please contact: 

 

The Lord Mayor’s Secretary 

The Council House 

Plymouth City Council 

PLYMOUTH 

PL1 2AA 

 

T: 01752 304858 

E: lordmayor@plymouth.gov.uk 

 

 

For background information about the Lord Mayoralty visit the council’s website: 

 

plymouth.gov.uk/lordmayoralty 

 

If you would like to invite the Lord Mayor to a function, you can complete an on-line request 

form.  Please note that at least three weeks notice for a request must be given. 

councilanddemocracy/lordmayoralty/lordmayorrequestform.htm 
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Appendix A 

 
Lord Mayor’s events and engagements  

 
Plymouth City Council seeks to deliver value for money for its citizens, promote the council’s 

objectives and support the local community and businesses. 

 

Events the Lord Mayor will normally attend: 

 

 Council initiatives/events that support the council’s/the city’s priorities 

 Community events – events organised by local people and attended by local people.  This 

includes improving the representation and participation of minority groups 

 Military events – Armed Forces Week, Atlantic day Blitz service,  memorial/remembrance 

services etc 

 Council meetings, Lord Mayor Choosing events, events relating to Freemen/Aldermen of the 

city, Citizenship Ceremonies, Remembrance Sunday, Fishing Feast, Armed Forces week, home 

coming parades 

 Religious ceremonies and events of all denominations 

 Twinning etc 

 Traditional events i.e. Thanksgiving, Queen’s Anniversaries, Scott 100 

 100th birthday celebrations and visits 

 

Events the Lord Mayor will not normally attend: 

 

 Purely commercial/business engagements 

 Charity events, unless they support the city’s/council’s priorities 

 Social events, which may include performances by theatre/ drama groups; ward members/other 

councillors’/ events; family occasions; dinners and dances  

 Events held outside the city of Plymouth, unless there is a specific and overriding factor 

 

These are the criteria.  However, the council will be flexible and will take a common sense 

approach to all invitations received by the Lord Mayor. 

 

In addition to the above, the Lord Mayor may choose to attend, on one occasion each year, an event of 

his/her choice.  The event will not necessarily accord with the agreed criteria for Lord Mayoral visits 

but it will not be in conflict with the council’s or the city’s priorities.  The event will not be outside the 

county of Devon.  This is to recognise the demands placed upon the Lord Mayor during the civic year 

of office.  The Lord Mayor may also choose to be supported by a Mace Bearer at one of his/her charity 

events each year. 
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2018 CIVIC 

HANDBOOK 

2024 CIVIC HANDBOOK – UPDATED CONTENT 

SECTION SECTION PAGE REVISED CONTENT 

Contents Contents 2-3 Updated contents table including new 

sections and list of appendices 

Preamble N/A N/A Removed from new Civic Handbook 

1.1 and 1.2 History and 

Plymouth Lord Mayor  

Appendix 1 27 Moved to Appendix 1 - History 

1.3 Candidates for Lord 

Mayor/Deputy Lord 

Mayor 

Appendix 2 29 Moved to Appendix 2 – this includes: 

Removal of how the role traditionally 

alternates annually between the 

Conservative and Labour groups (two 

main political groups), to allow for the 

change in political landscape. 

Includes how a Lord Mayor is elected at 

the Lord Mayor Selection Committee, 

including the nomination process and 

that neither the Lord Mayor or Deputy 

Lord Mayor may serve in the cabinet or 

act as Leader of a political party. 

 

1.4 Election of Lord 

Mayor 

1.5 Elliot Terrace 5.13 

Accommodation and 

Appendix 1 

13 and 

27 

Moved to Accommodation section, 

includes Lord Mayoral use of Elliot 

Terrace. 

History of Elliot Terrace moved to 

Appendix 1 

2 Office of Lord Mayor  

2.1 Introduction 

 

2. Role of Lord 

Mayor  

 

4 - 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Includes history of Plymouth Lord 

Mayor title. 

Constitutional and Civic roles are 

defined. 

Includes guidance on chairing council 
meetings. 
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2.2 Role of Lord Mayor 

2.3 Role of Deputy 

Lord Mayor 

2.1 Constitutional 

Role 

2.2 Civic Role 

Appendix 3 and 4 

30 - 31 Introduction of Role Profiles for Lord 

Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor.  

Appendix 3 - The Role of the Lord 

Mayor 

Appendix 4 - The Role of the Deputy 

Lord Mayor. 

 

2.4 Role of Lady 

Mayoress and Consort 

3 Role of Lady 

Mayoress and 

Consort 

6 Removal of word ‘escort’ 

2.5 Civic Support Staff 4 Support for Lord 

Mayor 

Appendix 6  

7 and 

34 

 

Outlines support for Lord Mayor for 

both Civic and Constitutional roles.  

Roles and responsibilities of the staff in 

the Civic Office. 

Appendix 6 – Civic Office support staff 

includes names and contact details. 

 

2.6 Civic Diary and 2.7 

Engagements  

5.1 Civic Diary  and 

5.2 Engagements 

8 - 9 Outlines how engagements are 

considered and how they are prioritised. 

Advises protocol where Lord Mayor 

and Deputy Lord Mayor attend 

simultaneous events. 

Removal of Leader/Cabinet Member to 

attend events where neither Lord 

Mayor nor Deputy Lord Mayor cannot 

attend.  Inclusion of offer to previous 

Lord Mayor.   

2.8 Informal 

Approaches  

5.3 Informal 

Approaches 

9 Content unchanged but moved to 

different section of Handbook. 

2.9 Lord Mayor 

Briefings 

5.4 Lord Mayor 

Briefings  

9 Content unchanged but moved to 

different section of Handbook. 

2.10 Accommodation 5.13 

Accommodation – 

Council House and 

Elliot Terrace 

13 - 14 Includes how accommodation is 

managed and booked. 

Includes how Lord Mayor can book 

overnight stay at Elliot Terrace and 

frequency during their term. 

New section on catering with 

preference on in-house catering to save 

on costs, and how hygiene and allergens 

can be managed safely. 

2.11 Lord Mayoral 

Allowance, Hospitality 

Budget and Special 

7.1 Budget 

Monitoring an and 

7.2 Lord Mayor’s 

20 - 21 

 

Includes updated special function list. 
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Functions and 2.11.1 

Personal Allowances 

Special Function 

Budget 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Includes how budget is monitored and 

by whom, how personal allowances 

(SAR) are paid and what they cover 

2.11.2 Official 

Hospitality Fund,  

2.11.3 Special Functions 

and 

2.11.4 Dinner Parties  

Appendix 9 and  

Appendix 10 

37  

38 

Included within Appendix 9 – Civic 

Budget (example for 2024-25) and 

Appendix 10 – Councillor Allowances 

(2024-25) which include current 

allowances (SRA). 

2.12 Lord Mayor 

Charity  

8 The Lord Mayor’s 

Charity 

22 - 23 This section includes a more in depth 

section on the Lord Mayors Charity 

Committee, more flexibility around the 

dinner the support that will be provided 

by the Civic Office and how the 

accounts are managed. 

2.13 Catering 5.14 Catering 14 Now includes updated information and 

flexibility around in-house catering. 

2.14 Official calls on 

the Lord Mayor 

5.8 Official calls on 

the Lord Mayor 

11 Content unchanged but moved to 

different section of Handbook. 

2.15 Visits outside of 

the City 

5.5 Visits Outside of 

the City, 5.10 Travel 

and the Civic Car 

and Appendix 10 

10, 12 

and 38 

Section updated to advise visits outside 

of the City will be considered on merit. 

Travel section includes how Lord 

Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor claim 

mileage if travelling outside of City 

boundary without Macebearer and Civic 

car. 

Appendix 10 – Councillor Allowances 

including Travel Expenses 

2.16 Attendance at 

funeral 

5.6 Attendance at 

funeral 

10 Content unchanged but moved to 

different section of Handbook. 

2.17 Royal visits 5.7 Royal visits 10 Order of presentation updated with 

removal of word ‘spouse’ and change 

from Her Majesty the Queen to His 

Majesty the King. 

2.18 Salute taking, 

March pasts etc 

5.9 Salute taking, 

March-pasts and 

Parade Inspection 

11 This section has been updated using 

NACO guidance to include more clarity 

around protocol and the role of the 

Lord Mayor when inspecting parade and 

when and how to take the salute.   

2.19 Lord Mayoral 

Transport 

5.10 Travel and the 

Civic Car, 5.11 

Royal Garden Party 

and Electric Pool 

cars 

12 New section for Travel and Civic car, 

includes guidance on use of the Civic 

car, flag flying protocol for the car, 

other transport options for the Lord 

Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor and 

what can be claimed as travel expenses. 

Page 191



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CIVIC HANDBOOK Page 4 of 6 

OFFICIAL 

Clear guidance on how travel and 

accommodation is administered for the 

Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor to 

attend the Royal Garden Party. 

New section on use of electric pool 

cars.  

Also includes reference to revised 

Councillor parking policy. 

2.20 Clothing and 2.21 

Dress Guidance 

6 Chains, Robes, 

Clothing and 

Ceremonial Badges 

and 6.1 Clothing 

15 - 16 Content updated for both male and 

female Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord 

Mayors 

2.21.1 Chains of Office 6.2 Chain of 

Office/Collarettes, 

6.3 Insurance and 

Appendix 8 

16 – 17 

and 36 

Inclusion that Macebearer needs to stay 

close to the Lord Mayor when they are 

wearing the chains. 

Clarity that the Deputy Lord Mayor can 

wear chains at the same time as the 

Lord Mayor when the Lord Mayor 

grants permission (and not just at Civic 

events). 

New section which includes guidance 

should the Lord Mayor or Deputy Lord 

Mayor wish to take the chains home and 

safeguarding and security measures. 

Inclusion of Appendix 8 – Regalia 

Insurance form.  

2.21.2 Ceremonial 

Robes 

6.4 Ceremonial 

Robes 

18 Content unchanged but moved to 

different section of Handbook. 

2.21.3 

Dress/Medals/Badges 

6.5 

Dress/Medals/Badges 

18 - 19 Content unchanged but moved to 

different section of Handbook. 

Other Local Authorities were contacted 

to confirm where more than one 

commemorative badge is held, normal 

practice is to wear only one. 

2.21.4 Astor Diamonds Appendix 1 27 - 28 Moved to Appendix 1 – History.  
Incudes removal of wearing the Astor 

Diamonds as they are now too fragile. 

2.22 Gifts 7.4 Gifts 21 Moved to new section of the Handbook 

under Budget, Allowances and Gifts.  

£25 level confirmed as still being 
correct.  

2.23 Speeches 9.3 Speeches 24  Now included in Induction and Training 

section of the Handbook. This sections 

describes a more robust and detailed 

training and induction for both the Lord 
Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor for both 

Civic and Ceremonial roles.  
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2.24 Verbal and 

Written protocols and 

2.25 New Initiatives 

N/A N/A Removal from Handbook.  Advice will 

be provided within induction process. 

2.26 Media 9.4 Media and 9.5 

Social Media 

25 Now included in Induction and Training 

section of the Handbook. 

No change to Media section. 

Inclusion of new section on Social 

Media. Advice to follow Councillor 

Code of Conduct.   

Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor 

will be provided with guidance from the 

Civic Office and Council 

Communications team. 

2.27 

Patronages/Presidencies 

N/A N/A This has been removed from the 

Handbook as they are out of date.  This 

will be included within Lord Mayor 

Induction as these can change annually. 

2.28 Training 9 Induction and 

Training  

23 - 25 Introduction of new Induction and 

Training section. Now included in 

Induction and Training section of the 

Handbook. This sections describes a 

more robust and detailed training and 

induction programme for both the Lord 

Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor for both 

Civic and Ceremonial roles. 

3 Chairing of meetings 

of Full Council 

2.1and 9.1 

Constitutional Role  

5 and 

23 

Includes detailed expectation of Lord 

Mayor and Deputy role during council 

meetings - their role, responsibilities, 

powers and duties. 

Detail of new Induction and Training 
programme in Section 9, including chair 

training with Head of Governance and 

Monitoring Officer. 

4 Political Neutrality 11 Political 

Neutrality 

26 Content revised, is now clear and 

concise.   

Includes clear guidance for when Lord 

Mayor/Deputy are standing for election.   
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New Handbook Content: 

 

SECTION PAGE NEW CONTENT 

Appendix 5 32 – 33 Example of Civic Events Calendar 

Appendix 6 34 Civic Office Support Staff – names and contact 

details  

Appendix 7 35 Lord Mayor events and engagements.  List 

revised to include Holocaust Memorial Day and 

Remembrance Festival. 

Removal of Fishing Feast and Lord Mayor’s Day. 

Appendix 11 39 Lord Mayor/Deputy Lord Mayor cadet.  Details 

information and selection process. 

Appendix 12 40 Top Tips for newly elected Civic Mayors from 

LGA. 
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Minute No. Resolution 

 
 

Date Due & Progress 

 

Minute 42 

 
Risk Management 

Monitoring Report 

November 2023 
 

28 November 2023 

A SharePoint page would be created for members of the Committee, to 

see risk management information in near real time.  

Date Due: January 2024 

 
Officer Responsible: Ross Jago 

 

Progress: Request formally made 1 
December 2023. Chased 26 March 2024, 23 

April 2024, 12 July 2024. 

Minute 59 

 
External Audit – 

Audit Findings 

Report 2020/21 
 

12 March 2024 

There would be an independent review into the pension transaction from 

October 2019 and as soon as there was information on when the review 
was to take place, and what its scope would be, David Northey (Service 

Director for Finance) would let members of the Committee know, as well 

as any other relevant Councillors. 

Date Due: Ongoing. 

 
Officer Responsible: David Northey 

 

Progress: Formal request sent 13 March 
2024. Update provided to the Committee at 

the 23 July 2024 and 10 September 2024 

meetings. Further updates to be provided 
when possible.  

Minute 60 

 
Whistleblowing 

Policy 

 
12 March 2024 

Ross Jago (Head of Governance, Performance and Risk) agreed to provide 

members with an explanation as to why Councillors, agency workers and 
contractors were exempt from the Whistleblowing Policy. 

Date Due: 27 March 2024 

 
Officer Responsible: Ross Jago 

 

Progress: Formal request sent 13 March 
2024. Chased 26 March 2024, 23 April 2024, 

12 July 2024, 12 August 2024, 4 December 

2024, 3 January 2025 and 3 March 2025. 
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Minute 60 

 
Whistleblowing 

Policy 
 

12 March 2024 

It was suggested that Section 3.4 be considered for re-wording, as it put 

too much pressure on people to put their name to a whistleblowing 

report. 

 

Date Due: 27 March 2024 

 
Officer Responsible: Ross Jago 

 
Progress: Formal request sent 13 March 

2024. Chased 26 March 2024, 23 April 2024, 

12 July 2024, 12 August 2024, 4 December 
2024, 3 January 2025 and 3 March 2025. 

Minute 60 

 
Whistleblowing 

Policy 

 
12 March 2024 

 

Section 2.2 did not include inappropriate behaviour, so Ross Jago (Head of 

Governance, Performance and Risk) agreed to provide information to 

members on how this would be dealt with through existing HR policies, 

or if it needed to be included in the Whistleblowing Policy. 

 

Date Due: 27 March 2024 

 
Officer Responsible: Ross Jago 

 

Progress: Formal request sent 13 March 
2024. Chased 26 March 2024, 23 April 2024, 

12 July 2024, 12 August 2024, 4 December 

2024, 3 January 2025 and 3 March 2025. 

Minute 60 

 

Whistleblowing 
Policy 

 

12 March 2024 
 

It was suggested that Section 6.1 a should be changed to ‘any Councillor’. Date Due: 27 March 2024 

 

Officer Responsible: Ross Jago 
 

Progress: Formal request sent 13 March 

2024. Chased 26 March 2024, 23 April 2024, 
12 July 2024, 12 August 2024, 4 December 

2024, 3 January 2025 and 3 March 2025. 

Minute 60 
 

Whistleblowing 

Policy 
 

12 March 2024 

 

It was suggested that ‘MP’s’ be included in Section 6.1. Date Due: 27 March 2024 
 

Officer Responsible: Ross Jago 

 
Progress: Formal request sent 13 March 

2024. Chased 26 March 2024, 23 April 2024, 

12 July 2024, 12 August 2024, 4 December 
2024, 3 January 2025 and 3 March 2025. 
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Minute 60 

 
Whistleblowing 

Policy 
 

12 March 2024 

Ross Jago (Head of Governance, Performance and Risk) agreed to provide 

information to the Committee on process if the Service Director was the 

subject of a Whistleblowing issue.  

Date Due: 27 March 2024 

 
Officer Responsible: Ross Jago 

 
Progress: Formal request sent 13 March 

2024. Chased 26 March 2024, 23 April 2024, 

12 July 2024, 12 August 2024, 4 December 
2024, 3 January 2025 and 3 March 2025. 

Minute 19 

Recommendation 2 
 

Constitutional 

Update 
 

23 July 2024 

Review the efficiency and effectiveness of these changes at an Audit and 

Governance Committee meeting in March 2025. 

Date Due: 11 March 2025 

 
Officer Responsible: Ross Jago 

 

Progress: Added to the work programme 24 
July 2024 for the 11 March 2024 meeting. 

Minute 23a & 23l 
 

Annual 

Information 

Governance 

Statement 

 

23 July 2024 

The Annual Information Governance Statement report was to be split 

into Part 1 and Part II. Furthermore, it would include benchmarking 

figures, if obtained, on numbers of requests. 

Date Due: July 2025 
 

Officer Responsible: John Finch 

 

Progress: Requested for the July 2025 

meeting. 

Minute 46 
 

Treasury 

Management 
Strategy 2025/26 

 

12 November 2024 

The Committee agreed to recommend the Treasury Management 
Strategy 2025/26 to City Council for approval.  

 

Date Due: March 2025 
 

Officer Responsible: Wendy Eldridge/Ross 

Jago 

 

Progress: Due on agenda for Feb 2025.  

Minute 47 

 

The Committee agreed to recommend the Capital Financing Strategy to 

City Council for approval. 

Date Due: March 2025 
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Capital Financing 

Strategy 2025/26 
 

12 November 2024 

Officer Responsible: Wendy Eldridge/Ross 

Jago 

 

Progress: Due on agenda for Feb 2025.  

Minute 81 

 

Updated Capital 
Financing Strategy 

2025/26 

 
18 February 2025 

A session on how risk was managed specific to the capital programme 

would be added to the work programme for April 2025. 

Date Due: 21 February 2025 

 

Officer Responsible: Hannah Chandler-

Whiting 

 

Progress: Added to work programme 19 

February 2025.  

Minute 82 

 

Adult Social Care 
Debt Management 

 

18 February 2025 

An updated report on progress made would come to the Audit and 

Committee in 12 months’ time with detail on the narrative of writing off 

debt as a last resort. 

Date Due: February 2026 

 

Officer Responsible: Louise Clapton 
 

Progress: Added to the work programme 19 

February 2025.  

Minute 82 

 
Adult Social Care 

Debt Management 

 
18 February 2025 

 

The current debt figure would be shared with members of the 

Committee. 
 

Date Due: 3 March 2025 

 
Officer Responsible: Louise Clapton/David 

Northey  

 
Progress: Formal request made 25 February 

2025. Shared via email 26 February 2025.  
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Audit and Governance Committee 
Work Programme 2024/25 

 

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to change at short 
notice. The information in this work programme is intended to be of strategic relevance. 

 

For general enquiries relating to the Council’s Committees, including this Committee’s 

work programme, please contact Hannah Chandler-Whiting (Democratic Advisor) on 

01752 305155. 

 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Reason for 

Consideration 

Lead Officer 

 

23 July 2024 

 

 

 

 

Role of an Audit Member  
Standing Item 

(Verbal Report)  
Paul Dossett  

External Audit Report – Progress 

Report/Plan 2023/24  
  Paul Dossett  

External Audit Report – 2020/21 

Audit findings report 
 Paul Dossett 

Management Response to GT 2024 

Actions including a revised 

Management Review and Action 

Plan addressing the CIPFA Financial 

Management Code 

 David Northey 

Update on Capitalisation (Verbal Report) David Northey 

Statement of Accounts 2019/20 

Accounts and 2020/21 Accounts  
 Carolyn Haynes 

Draft Statement of Accounts 

2023/24  
  Carolyn Haynes 

Contract Standing Orders    
Holly Golden/Liz 

Bryant/Alison Critchfield  

Procurement Strategy  Holly Golden 

Treasury Management Outturn 

Report 2023/24  
  Wendy Eldridge  

Internal Audit Actions Review    Louise Clapton  

Internal Audit End of Year Report  Annual Report  Louise Clapton  

Internal Audit Strategy and Charter 

2024/25  
Annual Report  Louise Clapton  

Annual Information Governance 

Statement  
Annual Report  John Finch  

Counter Fraud Annual Report  Annual Report  Ken Johnson  

Annual Governance Statement    Ross Jago  

Constitutional Update    Ross Jago  

Risk Management Monitoring 

Report 
  Ross Jago 

Electoral Cycle Consultation 

Council Motion 

on Notice from 

24/06/24 

Elinor Firth 

 

Update on External Audit 

Recommendations 

Standing Item 

(Verbal Update) 
David Northey 
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10 

September 

2024 

 

Capitalisation Direction Update  David Northey 

Internal Audit Progress Report  Louise Clapton 

Committee Self-Assessment  David Northey/Ross Jago 

Health, Safety and Wellbeing 

Annual Report 2023/24 
Annual Report Kirstie Spencer 

Family of Companies  Liz Bryant 

 

12 

November 

2024 

 

Plymouth City Council Audit Plan 

2023/24 
 Jackson Murray 

Interim Auditor’s Annual Report  Jackson Murray 

Counter Fraud Half Year Report  Half Year Report Ken Johnson 

Internal Audit Actions report  Louise Clapton 

Internal Half Year Report Half Year Report Louise Clapton 

Capital Finance Strategy Annual Report Wendy Eldridge 

Treasury Management Strategy Annual Report Wendy Eldridge 

Treasury Management Mid-Year 

Review 
Annual Report Wendy Eldridge 

Risk Management Monitoring 

Report 
 Ross Jago 

Performance and Accountability 

Framework 

Moved from 

September to 

November on 28 

Aug 2024. 

Ross Jago 

Committee Self-Assessment 
Added by officers 

30 August 2024. 
David Northey/Ross Jago 

Electoral Cycle Consultation  

Liz Bryant/Caroline 

Marr/Andrew Binding/Ellie 

Firth 

 

11 

December 

2024 

(Additional 

Meeting) 

Approval of Statement of Accounts 

2021/22 and 2022/23 
 

Carolyn Haynes/Paul 

Dossett 

 

 

 

14 January 

2025 

External Auditor Update  Jackson Murray 

Capitalisation Direction Update Verbal Update David Northey 

Update on External Audit 

Recommendations   
Standing Item David Northey 

Treasury Management Board 

Update 
Verbal Update Wendy Eldridge 

Adult Social Care Debt 

Management 2024/25 

Requested at the 

November 2024 

meeting 
Devon Audit Partnership 

Procurement Readiness Action 

Plan 
 Holly Golden 

Committee Self-Assessment 

Added during 10 

September 2024 

meeting 

Ross Jago 
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18 February 

2025 

(Additional 

Meeting) 

Update on External Audit 

Recommendations   
Standing Item David Northey 

Capitalisation Direction Update Verbal Update David Northey 

Treasury Management Strategy  Wendy Eldridge 

Capital Management Strategy  Wendy Eldridge 

External Audit – Audit Findings 

Report 2023/24 
 Jackson Murray 

Approval of Statement of Accounts 

2023/24 
 Carolyn Haynes 

Adult Social Care Debt 

Management  

Identified for 

further 

consideration at 

the January 2025 

meeting 

Devon Audit 

Partnership/David 

Northey/Gary Walbridge 

Civic Protocol  
Glenda Favor-

Ankersen/Maddie Halifax 

 

11 March 

2025 

Capitalisation Direction Update Standing Item David Northey 

Internal Audit Strategy and Charter 

2025/26 
Annual Report Louise Clapton 

Internal Audit Plan 2025/26 Annual Report Louise Clapton 

Treasury Management Practices 

Principles and Schedules 2025/26 
Annual Item Wendy Eldridge 

Review of efficiency and 

effectiveness of Constitutional 

Updates 

Identified for 

consideration at 

the July 2024 

meeting. 

Ross Jago 

Civic Protocol 

Deferred from 18 

February 2025 

meeting 

Glenda Favor-

Ankersen/Maddie Halifax 

 

01 

April 2025 

Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy Annual Report Ken Johnson 

Whistleblowing Policy Annual Review TBC 

Procurement Strategy 
Update every 6 

months 
Holly Golden 

External Audit Progress Report Regular Item Jackson Murray 

Update on External Audit 

Recommendations   
Standing Item David Northey 

Capitalisation Direction Update Standing Item David Northey 

Pre-Election Period Guidance 

Identified for 

consideration at 

the July 2024 

meeting. 

Liz Bryant 

Data to Intelligence Strategy 

Review Identified 

for consideration 

at the November 

2024 meeting 

(moved from 

March 2025 on 

Ruth Harrell/John Finch 
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advice of report 

author) 

Cost Risk Management of 

Capital Programme 

Identified for 

consideration at 

the February 2025 

meeting. 

Ollie Woodhams 

Notice of Referendum 

(Information Statement) 

Added in February 

2025 on request 

of officer 

Andrew Binding 

Audit and Governance Annual 

Report (to include Committee Self-

Assessment) 

Annual Report 

(moved from 

March 2025 on 

report author 

advice) 

Ross Jago 

Risk Management Monitoring 

Report 

Annual Report 

(moved from 

March 2025 on 

report author 

advice) 

Ross Jago 

Items to be scheduled for 2024/25 

2024/25    

Items to be scheduled for 2025/26 

2025/26 Regulatory Regimes 

Identified for 

consideration at 

the March 2024 

meeting.  

Ross Jago 

2025/26 

(After June 

2025) 

IFRS16 – Low Value Leases 

Identified for 

consideration at 

the January 2025 

meeting. 

Carolyn Haynes 

February 

2026 

Update on Adult Social Care Debt 

Management 

Identified for 

consideration at 

the February 2025 

meeting. 

Louise Clapton 
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